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-- Upon comrencing at 2:00 p.m

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. (Good afternoon,
M. Lacaze. As | nentioned, ny nane is Anthony
| mbesi. 1'mhere with ny coll eague, M. Boghosi an,
from-- counsel for the Commssion. So I'll start
by reading into the record the paraneters of
today's interview and then we can begin.

So the purpose of today's interviewis
to obtain your evidence under oath or solemm
decl aration for use at the Conm ssion's public
hearings. This will be a collaborative interview
such that ny co-counsel, M. Boghosian, nay
I ntervene to ask certain questions. If tine
permts, your counsel may also ask foll ow up
guestions at the end of this interview

This interview is being transcribed,
and the Comm ssion intends to enter this transcript
I nto evidence at the Conmm ssion's public hearings,
either at the hearings or by way of a procedural
order before the hearings commence.

The transcript will be posted to the
Conmmi ssion's public website, along with any
corrections nade to it, after it is entered into
evi dence.

The transcript, along wth any
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corrections later made to it, will be shared with
the Conm ssion's participants and their counsel on
a confidential basis before being entered into
evidence. You wll be given the opportunity to
review your transcript and correct any typos or
other errors before the transcript is shared with
the participants or entered into evidence. Any
non-typographi cal corrections nade will be appended
to the transcript.

Pursuant to Section 33(6) of the Public
I nquiries Act (2009): (As read)

"Awtness at an inquiry shall

be deened to have objected to answer

any question asked of himor her

upon the ground that his or her

answer may tend to incrimnate the

witness or may tend to establish his

or her liability to civil

proceedi ngs at the instance of the

Crown or of any person, and no

answer given by a witness at any

i nquiry shall be used or be

recei vabl e in evidence agai nst him

or her in any trial or other

proceedi ngs agai nst himor her
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thereafter taking place, other than

a prosecution for perjury in giving

such evi dence."
As required by Section 33(7) of that act, you are
her eby advi sed that you have the right to object to
answer any question under Section 5 of the Canada
Evi dence Act.

So with that out of the way, perhaps
"Il just get you to begin. |If you could describe
for us your involvenent in Stage 1 of Otawa's LRT.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Ckay. So | was working
at that tinme for Alstom | started -- | was
wor king as the project director here in Mntreal,
on the nmetro subway consortiumw th Bonbardi er at
that time. And in Septenber 2016, | joined Otawa
to take the role of the project director for the
LRV in Gtawa. | spent nostly 2 years and a half
until October 2018 on this project. So -- and |
was in charge of this project at that tine.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And |'m sorry,
did you say that -- was your role based in Otawa,
or did you split your tine between Mntreal and
atawa?

ARNAUD LACAZE: | split ny tinme -- ny

tinme was split between Otawa and Montreal. | -- |
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kept to be based here in Mntreal, but | spent, at
that tinme, 4 to -- depends. Approximately 4 days a
week in Otawa.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. Thank you. And
| -- 1 don't have a CV or a résuneé for you, but
perhaps | could get you to take us through your
prior experience.

Do | understand that you're an

engi neer ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. | did an
engi neering school in France. |It's an aeronautic
school. So |I received ny degree in 1988 in France.
| start -- | start in an -- in an engi neering
conpany doing 2 years working -- working for
Alstom | started as an engineer for -- for this

conpany, and in 2001, | was hired by Alstom and |
start ny career at Alstom | -- | spent -- I'd
wor k on several project as an engi neer nmanager or
techni cal nmanager. And then when | canme here in
Canada in 2007, | start to be a project and
program -- program manager in -- in different
subjects for -- for Alstom | spent this tine in
Alstom and | left in October 2018.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And do | understand

now you're with VIA Rail ?
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ARNAUD LACAZE: And now, | ama VP at
VIA Rail, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. So if you could
just take us through, just at a fairly high |evel,
then, after you cane to Canada with Al stom what
was the nature of your experience with Al stonf? |
think you nentioned a few of roles that you held,
but could you just explain the roles you had with
rolling stock with Alstomin Canada in your | ast
few projects.

ARNAUD LACAZE: | start -- | start ny
career at Belfort. So Belfort is acity in France
that specializes inrolling stock. So I start -- |
start in 1988 in ny career directly with rolling
stock. So | worked on several -- several
| oconotive, several train projects with -- with
themduring that tinme, as a system engi neer, and
after that as a technical nmanager on this -- on
this train.

And followng that, | wanted to have
nore expertise in sone systens, so | noved to
anot her -- another conpany -- the sane conpany, but
another city. The city is Lyon, in France. And
this city is specialized in electronic parts, so |

spent -- | spent several years in what we call the
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command and control of the train, the electronic
system and -- and software. So | spent tine -- |
spent several -- several years in this -- in this
area. Sane thing in different international,

I nternational projects.

And finally, when | noved here in
Montreal because we -- at that tinme, Al stom bought
a sister conpany here, the sister conpany from --
fromLyon, so they ask ne to nove here in Mntreal
to help with startup to becone an Al st om conpany.
So | spent -- | spent 3 years, | guess, or 3 or
4 years in this conpany doing the sane thing,
el ectronic and software for -- for systens all
around the worl d.

And | wanted to go back to rolling
stock at a certain point, after -- after receiving
this kind of expertise. And so | start -- | cane
back here in Montreal with the netro, with the Azur
Metro as a project manager and then as a project
director for the netro.

ANTHONY IMBESI: And in terns of the --

you' d nentioned that you had sone experience

doing -- dealing with the electronics and the
software. |Is that in respect of the rolling stock,
or is that in -- as | understand, Al stom has
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signalling division as well?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It's -- it's mainly
rolling stock.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Onh, okay.

ARNAUD LACAZE: The division -- the
di vision, when | was in Lyon, it was all what we
call wayside or CBTC or ATC system we call it the
ERTMS in Europe. And yes, | did sone -- | did
sone projects on the -- on this subject, but mainly
al ways focussed on rolling stock. It was the
main -- if you want, the main Iine or the -- yes,
my main notivation has al ways been rolling stock,
so. ..

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. And when you've
worked on rolling stock in other projects and
particularly the last few that you had nenti oned,
did any of those involve integrating the rolling
stock with a -- a communications -- a train control
systemthat wasn't an Al stom proprietary systenf

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes. On the -- on
t he subway here, Ansaldo is -- Ansaldo is the
provi der of the system

ANTHONY | MBESI : W0, sorry?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Ansaldo. So | used

to -- but it's sonewhat common to -- to not al ways
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have the systemof the rolling stock conpany, |
woul d say, integrated. So sonetines, it was full
Al stom -- Al stomsystens. And sonetines, |ike
here, the subway in Mntreal, for exanple, rolling
stock was a m x of Bonbardier and Alstom and this
time was a third one, so Ansal do.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. And then during
t hose projects, then, would you have had had
I nvol venent in the integration conponents of --

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: -- the signalling
systenf? Yes?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, because even if
It's a-- it's athird conpany, the rolling
stock -- the rolling stock is -- is -- is part of
the integration. W were part of the integration
because we had direct contracts with -- with this
conpany. | don't knowif you're -- it's -- it was
a direct link between Al stom and Ansal do, for
exanple. It was not -- it was not through
Bonbardi er, for exanple. The -- the STM so the --
t he conpany of Mntreal use Ansal do because the
whol e system was Ansal do, but the contract was
under the Alstomresponsibility. It was -- it was

not sonething -- sone -- it was not for a third
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conpany franmewor K.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And, sorry, so
just so -- just so | understand that, then, was it
Al stomthat had a contract directly with STM or
was your contract with Ansal do, and who then had a
contract with STM?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No. We had a direct
contract with -- through the consortiumw th STM
but the contract wth Ansal do was directly between

Al st om and Ansal do.

ANTHONY | MBESI: | see. GCkay. And so
t hat --

ARNAUD LACAZE: Ansaldo -- Ansal do had
no -- had no contact with STM

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So they were a
subcontractor to you on that, to Al stom on that
pr oj ect ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes. And we used
t hi s conpany because the conpany was al ready
providing the -- the systemto -- to the existing
train for STM

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so in your

experience on these past projects, is it typical

that these are the arrangenents, that Alstomis the

one who enters into the contract with the train
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control supplier?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Have you ever worked
on a project other than Otawa where that wasn't
t he case?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. And so turning
then to your role with Gtawa's LRT project, you'd
nmenti oned you were a project director from
Sept enber 2016 to COctober 2018. Could you just
explain for nme what your role was as project
director. What were your responsibilities, at a
hi gh | evel ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: H gh level. | -- 1|
wll reuse a typical -- a typical acronymfrom
Alstomis -- the project director is responsible of

the QCD: the quality, the cost, and the del ays, if

any. So we need -- we are here to -- to nake
working all the teamtogether, to be able -- to be
sure at the end to have the -- to have a project

with a good level of quality, on tine, and under
t he budget -- and under the budget that we -- that
we have at the beginning of the project.

So the main role is that, is to -- to

be able to always be inside this triangle of --
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find a good bal ance between all of them and be able
to mtigate all the issues, to nake the people
wor king all together, according to our contract.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. And so when you
were the project director for this project, were
you the -- you were the | eader of Alstomin respect
of this project?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yeah. Yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And who was in
the position of project director imediately before
you? WAs that Nadia Zaari?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. It was Nadi a,
yes.

ANTHONY I MBESI: Okay. So I'd like to
first start by speaking to you about the Ctadis
Spirit in particular. The Ctadis Spirit, was that
the first Ctadis Spirit was on the Gtawa LRT
Stage 17

ARNAUD LACAZE: It was the first --
yes. Citadis Spirit was the first in North
Anerica, yes. It's -- this LRV exists in Europe
and in other countries, and -- but it was the first
tinme that we depl oyed, at that tine, what we called
the Spirit, the Ctadis Spirit in North Anerica,

yes.

neesonsreporting.com
416.413.7755



Ottawa Light Rail Commission

Arnaud Lacaze on 5/20/2022 14
1 ANTHONY IMBESI: So is -- is there a
2| Citadis Spirit nodel that exists el sewhere outside
3| of North Anerica?
4 ARNAUD LACAZE: | would say it's
S| adaptation. |It's -- the base exists, but it has
6| been adapted to -- to the reality of the North
7| America -- Anerican nmarket, for -- for sure.
8 ANTHONY | MBESI: So -- but the -- just
91 so | understand, the LRVs that do exist, the
10| Ctadis LRVs in Europe, for exanple, are any of
111 themcalled the Citadis Spirit, or is the Spirit
12| what the nodified versionis called in North
13| Anerica?
14 ARNAUD LACAZE: If | remenber well --
151 and honestly, | don't renenber exactly, but I
16 | think -- | think the Spirit is the nanme of the
171 North America. Because the Spirit -- if | remenber
18| well, it's a mx of what we called the -- the
191 trammay in Europe and what we call a tramtrain.
20| So the tramtrain is a trammay, able to go at
21 | higher speed is a tramnvay, if you want to be able
22| to do a larger distance, like -- like -- like VIA
23| Rail in Otawa. So the Citadis, if | renenber
241 well, is a mx of these two -- of these two
25 | systens.

neesonsreporting.com
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ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And sorry, if
you could just explain that for nme again. So
you've got the tramon the one side - which is,
you' ve just explained, that's the one that's
typically designed to go greater differences?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, the tram-- what we
call the tramor trammay is the rolling stock
nostly dedicated to be in town, downtown.

ANTHONY I MBESI: | see.

ARNAUD LACAZE: W take the exanple of
Paris, for exanple. 1In Paris, we have tramay
I nsi de, and as soon as the trammay needs to go
outside Paris, because it's a larger distances, we
did sone nodification of this trammvay. And we

don't call them anyway tramvay - we call themtram

train.
ANTHONY I MBESI: Tramtrain. Ckay.
ARNAUD LACAZE: It's not a tram it's
not a train. |It's a mx. Because -- because you
have specific bogies, you are -- to be able to

accelerate quickly and to stop also quickly. So

it's a--it's a mx.
So the Ctadis is a mx of these -- of
these two systens, | would say, and that's why it's

specifically developed for the -- for the North
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Ameri can markets.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And so are the
European Ctadis nodels, are -- are those what you
would call tramtrains as well?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI : Ckay.

ARNAUD LACAZE: From what | renenber,
honestly, maybe -- nmaybe the guy from A stom-- the
I nternational guy from Al stom would be better than
me. But fromwhat | renmenber, we are nore like a
tramtrain -- tramtrain.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Yeah, no, and |'m just
asking just to the best of your know edge.

And so in ternms, then, of nodifications
that were nade to the Ctadis to bring it to this
project and to North Anmerica, do you have an
understanding as to what the extent of sone of
t hose nodifications woul d be?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It would be -- when |
cane, it was already done. The design was
nostly -- nostly -- nostly conpleted at that tine.
The nodification was nmainly a link to the -- what
we call the winterization, so to adapt the project
to the winter condition of -- of Canada.

And after that, it was mainly -- due to

neesonsreporting.com
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1| the Canadian -- Canadi an content, it was al so
2| sone -- sone |local supplier that we devel oped to be
3| able to -- to be able to -- to have this -- this
4| Canadi an content accessi bl e.
5 ANTHONY I MBESI: And so in terns of
61 what | understand to be a few nodifications that
7| may have been made, was there a different bogie
8| design for the Citadis Spirit as conpared to the
9| other Citadis nodel s?
10 ARNAUD LACAZE: No. It's -- the bogie
111 is -- the bogieis -- was -- was an exi sting bogie
12| from-- fromEurope. So it was a transfer -- these
13| bogies already exist, and it was nade at Le Creusot
141 in France, so we -- we had no nodification on -- on
151 this bogie.
16 ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. So for the
171 bogie, then --
18 ARNAUD LACAZE: W did a transfer -- we
19| did a transfer of production fromFrance to --
20 to -- to here, to Sorel-Tracy in Quebec.
21 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And so woul d
22| the only difference for the bogie, then, be the
23 | suppliers who supplied the conponents?
24 ARNAUD LACAZE: From what | remenber,
25

yes. It was mainly the suppliers that effectively
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would try to develop the local supplier in-- in
Canada but also in North Anerica, to be able after
that to reach the American market.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So was the
decision to -- were there other supply chains that
Al stomcreated for this project that differed from
past projects?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. W create --
because it's a -- it's a newer product, and it's a
new -- it's a new contract, we devel oped a

dedi cated supply chain for this project. For sone

of the parts, we were able to reuse -- because sone
of the parts are very -- are very dedicated, so
we -- we had no choice to reuse what exists in

Eur ope, for exanple, and for the other one, we
devel oped -- we devel oped a new supply chain here
in North Anmerica.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. And did |
under st and you saying as well that Al stom was
I nterested in devel opi ng new supply chains in North
Amrerica --

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: -- for future
proj ects?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, for sure.
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ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. In terns of the
existing -- and | call it the existing, but the
G tadis nodel that was present in Europe before
this project, were those 100 percent |ow fl oor
vehicles as wel | ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: 100 percent? | don't

know. But yes, nost -- it's -- it's clearly --
clearly -- the floor is sonething -- that's why --
since Alstomwas -- or is, | don't know, but -- the

nunber one in this kind of trammay because Al stom
devel oped, clearly, these products, and | don't
recall Bonbardier or Sienmens able to have a | ow
floor or a |low fl oor product, anyway, so --

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So that's a
typi cal --

ARNAUD LACAZE: 90 -- maybe 90. |
don't knowif it's 100 percent, but nost of -- nost
of the Gtadis product or nost of the tramay
are -- are low floor, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So that's an
existing feature of Alstoms LRVs.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes. Alstom
devel oped that at the beginning of year 20, 20
or -- 2000, and yes, it's clearly a -- it's clearly

a specific product for -- fromAl stom yes.

neesonsreporting.com
416.413.7755



Ottawa Light Rail Commission
Arnaud Lacaze on 5/20/2022

20

1

2

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

ANTHONY | MBESI: And you had nenti oned
sone Wi nterization as well when | had asked you
about nodifications. Wat would have to have been
nodi fied to address wi nterization?

ARNAUD LACAZE: On the train?

ANTHONY | MBESI: On the -- on the
train, yes.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, honestly, as |

recall, the floors -- under the floor, we put
sone -- we put a heated -- heated floor. W put
sone -- a lot of protection on the cables. W
put -- we put sone systemable to -- able to

defreeze quickly -- quickly the w ndows, right,
sone -- yes, this kind of techniques.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So is it fair,
then, that there weren't any sort of fundanental
structural changes or anything to the vehicle?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Structural, no. Onh,
no, no. No, it's clearly -- it's nostly
protection, protection around the existing -- the
exi sting system yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so to your
know edge, have Al stom vehicles ever been
Integrated wwth a Thales train control system

bef or e?
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ARNAUD LACAZE: Before, yes. Yes. It
was not the first tinme for us to work wth Thal es,
yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Do you know of f hand
what projects those woul d have been?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No. No, | don't
have -- | don't -- | don't -- | don't want to give
you a nane where I'm-- where |'mnot 100 percent
sure. But as | said at the beginning, this is
comon, to integrate an external systemlike this -
Thal es, Ansal do, you know, another one.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So given what
you've told ne about that and about Al stonis
vehicles typically being low floor, to your
know edge, has a CBTC system been integrated with a
|l ow floor LRV in the past?

ARNAUD LACAZE: | don't know.

ANTHONY IMBESI: [|I'msorry, did you say
no or you didn't know the answer?

ARNAUD LACAZE: | said | don't know.

ANTHONY | MBESI: You don't know. Ckay.
Thank you. That's fine.

Wuld that -- would integrating a CBTC
systemwith a low floor LRV, would that incorporate

any chall enges or hurdles to be overcone in the
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process?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It's -- normally,
It's -- | would say it's a normal technical
chal l enge. You have to design the interface; you
have to design the product; you have to design the
I nterface; you have to -- you have to validate the
I nterface, and then after that, you have to receive
t he equi pnent validated by your subsupplier or the
third party and do the integration, and after that,
validate that everything is working properly. So
you -- it's a normal technical V process, so when
you do step by step, you do the integration, and
then after that, you go -- you do the other side of
the V cycle and you val i date.

So nornmally it's not -- it's a
techni cal chall enge because it's always a techni cal
chal l enge, but normally it shouldn't -- shouldn't
be so hard. Is it nore difficult than the LRV than
on the other one? Honestly, no. It's -- as soon
as you have the space, you have defined the space
to put -- to put the equipnent, you have an
agreenent with this conpany. After that, you have
to do -- to do -- to do the job.

The main chall enge, once again, is to

do the rail integration of the systemand to
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11 clearly -- you have to -- if -- if Alstomwas, for
2| exanple, the -- in direct contact with Thal es for
3| this project, clearly we -- clearly, as |
4| mentioned, we would have put soneone dedicated wth
5| the integration because it's -- it's only a matter
6| of integration. So you have to have soneone or a
7| team dedicated to the integration, dedicated to the
8 | communication with the supplier, and after that,
9| this teamwi |l be able to integrate that into the
10 | rolling stock.

11 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. Yeah, and |'1]
12} certainly take you through sonme of that integration
I3/ inalittle bit, but first, I'dlike to turn to

14| your -- the tinme when you first started on the

15| project. Could you just explain, to the best of

16 | your recollection, what was the state of the

17| project when you arrived.

18 ARNAUD LACAZE: So when | arrived, |

19| arrived in Septenber 2016. So when | arrive at

20 Otawa, in production, | think Train 7 -- train --
21| yes, Train 7 was in production. Train -- it was
22 | the beginning of the production of Train 7. Train
23| 2 was at the beginning of the serial test - so, if
24 | you want, the production test - and Train 1 was

25

still in Hornell, doing sone test and doi ng sone
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tests with Thales at that tine.

ANTHONY I MBESI: I'msorry, in -- which
LRV was it in Hornell? Ws that LRV 1?

ARNAUD LACAZE: LRV 1, yes, was in
Hornel | doing sone serial test and doi ng sone what
we call static PICO tests wth Thal es.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So LRV 27 was
I n production. LRV --

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no, no. LRV 7.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ch, okay. LRV 7.

That nmakes nore sense to ne. And you indicated
that LRV 2 was at the beginning of serial testing?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. And so when you
arrived and you just explained the status of where
things were, did you understand that to have been
on schedul e? Behind schedul e? Wat was your
under standi ng of how it was as conpared to how it
was originally planned?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, | arrived in
Septenber, but | did -- during the sumrer, | did --
in July and -- and August, | did sone -- sone
neeting with Nadia and OLRTC. So Nadia was the --
the project director before ne, so we did sone

handover, which is sonething classical at Al stom
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So we did sone neeting together at Hornell -- or in
Otawa and in Montreal to do sonme handover.

And so | understood at that tine that
we just had signed a couple of nonths ago a new --
a new baseline with OLRTC in terns of the -- in
terms of schedule. But when | cane in in
Septenber, | realized that effectively we started
to have sone difficulties with the schedule, and we
started to be behind the schedule. So yes, |
started with ny teamfirst to -- to see where was
the difficulties and -- and started to see with
OLRTC what was possible then to be done. Because
OLRT -- we realized also at that tinme that OLRTC
had sone issues to give us access to sone of --
areas at the MSF, for exanple, but also to the test
track, for -- outside -- outside of the MSF to
allow us to do the tests, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so as | understand
It, there had been a schedul e agreed upon sonetine
in the few nonths prior to your arrival, and that
was slightly behind by the tinme that you joined in
the end of sunmmer, early fall?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. W signed --

Al stom signed, at that tinme, the V5 -- Revision V5

of the schedule. | don't recall exactly when. It
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may have been May or -- | don't know. And in
Septenber, yes, | realized wwth ny -- with ny team
that sonme of the activity started to be behind,
yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And what activities
were those in particular? Was it assenbly?

Testi ng?

ARNAUD LACAZE: At that tine, it was
mainly -- mainly the testing. W still didn't have
access to the test track, whereas train set nunber
2 was ready to go outside. And also access to MSF:
W were able to have full access to the production
line, but the -- during the production -- during
t he production process, you need, at a certain
point, to put the LRV in what we call a test area
to do sone water tests, to be -- to be sure that
there is no | eakage inside the vehicles, and we
al so needed to go in a specific area to do sone
serial tests, so be sure that the train is ready,
in ternms of manufacturing, to start and to go
out si de.

And when | arrive at that tine, Al ex
L' Honme, the person in charge of the production in
the site for -- for us, told ne that, yes, we still

didn't have access to that. So | started to try to
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1/ mtigate -- to mtigate sone activities wwth OLRTC
2| to clearly be able to -- first, to continue the
3| production and see what was possible to do.

4 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So | have a

5| question for you about the mtigation in a second,
6| but just so | have it clearly, then, so you had

7| access to the portion of the MSF where you were

8| doing the assenbly; correct?

9 ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.

10 ANTHONY | MBESI: The issue was that you
11| did not have access, full access, a sufficient

12| space in the MSF to do the static testing?

13 ARNAUD LACAZE: To do static testing,

141 weighting, so to put weights in the train, and

15| water test bay, so to do the water -- to do the

16 | water test. And this is --

17 ANTHONY | MBESI: And --

18 ARNAUD LACAZE: -- test track, and

19| after that, because train set 2 was dated to do the
20| test to be able to go outside the MSF, to start the
21| dynamc test on the -- on the main |ine.

22 ANTHONY I MBESI: And I'msorry, did you
23| say LRV 2 was ready to do the --

24 ARNAUD LACAZE: When | arrived, LRV 2
25

was in the test bay, and it was doing sone tests,
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ready to go -- ready to go outside to start the
dynam c test, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And then that's where
you experienced issues wth accessing the test
track.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. It was -- when |
arrive, it was one of the main -- the first main
actions that | made with OLRTC, trying to -- to
find sone way -- to find sone mtigation to be able
to start the test, first to have access to the
entire MSF and qui ckly have access to the test
track to start -- to start the tests, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so at what point,
then, did Alstomget access to the portions of the
MSF that it required to performthe static testing
and the other tests that you had nentioned?

ARNAUD LACAZE: So for the static --
for the static test, when we had access only to
one -- one area instead of four, and we had the --
and ot her functionality was not there. So if |
remenber well, when we had -- we were not only to
have power through the wayside. W had no power
fromthe catenary, which is -- which clearly --
clearly -- we can progress wwth it, but at a

certain point, you cannot do all the tests, for
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sure. And so we were not able to do all the tests,
and we had no access to use those parts.

So we were able to continue the tests,
and this is what | mtigate with OLRTC, sayi ng,
Ckay, let's continue with the test, but we will not
be able to perform 100 percent of the tests. So at
a certain point, we'd have to find an agreenent:
first, to be paid; and secondly, to say, okay, the
train is good enough to go outside to start the
dynam c tests, but this train will have to cone
back anyway because we'll have to conplete the
tests at a certain point. So it was a del ay.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So --

ARNAUD LACAZE: | asked themto
continue to work with -- to -- to allow us to have
full access to the -- to the -- what we call the

LMB, the test area at MSF, to have full access
to -- and "full access" neaning with all the
functionalities to allow us to conplete all the
functional tests.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So your
mtigation plan, then, that you had nentioned, that
was to performall the testing that you could on
the LRVs that were available. And then was it then

assuned that those were going to go out for dynamc
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testing and then conme back to performthe bal ance
of the static testing and the weather testing and
everything, the weight testing?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes. Because |
cannot -- this -- this is the part of triangle that
| nmentioned to you, the Q the C, and the D At a
certain point, | need to -- | cannot stop the
production, and | need to mtigate, but the -- this
kind of mtigation clearly wll have an inpact on
t he schedul e because if you have to -- if we find
an agreenent, so it's fair, but in the neantine, as
we nention, we'll accunul ate del ays because the --
the train will have to be back to conplete the
test. So we are talking about train set 2, but
It's a production |ine, so nunber 3, 4, 5 would
arrive soon.

So at a certain point, okay, mtigate,
| et's continue, but OLRTC al so needed to understand
that this train will have to cone back at a certain
point to conplete -- to conplete their activities.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And do you
recall when you got full or sufficient access to
everything in the MSF that was required to perform
ever yt hi ng?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Full access, | don't
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recall, and I think | left the project wthout
accepting the full access. So during 2 years and a
hal f, I never had what | call full access. But I
was -- | was -- | don't renenber exactly when, but

| was able, maybe m d 2017, to have access at | east

tothe -- to the LMB wth a specific work permt.

Because it was not under the Al stom property. It

was still under COLRTC property. W put in place a
work permt with them to say, okay, we wll -- we
wi || have access -- we want to have access to this

area between this tine and this time to do the
test, and if OLRTC wants to do sone work to
conplete the building, they will have to do that

after or before, or if you do it in the sanme tine

as us, we will have to stop the test.

So we put this -- we put this work
permt and the access with themto -- to be -- to
be able to access to these -- to these specific
ar eas.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So the full
construction wasn't conpleted, but it was
sufficient for your purposes. You just needed a
work permt in order to access that portion because
it was under COLRTC s control ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It was -- yes. And
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because we needed to conplete the -- we need to
conplete the work. For exanple, the catenary was
not functional at the beginning, so we -- we
started all the tests with what we called the
waysi de, and OLRTC, it was mandatory for themto --
to conplete the work to be able -- for us to have
access to the catenary.
ANTHONY | MBESI: And so by May of
2017 -- so leaving aside the issue that you needed
a work permt in order to access it, was there
anything that was still mssing that was preventing
you from-- fromconpleting any of the work?
ARNAUD LACAZE: | don't -- | don't
remenber if it was in May of 2017, honestly, but it

was sonewhere in 2017 that we were able to -- to
start. | -- | remenber that, at a certain tine, we
had access to -- to the catenary. But foll ow ng

that, we had sone issues with the power of the
catenary. |In fact, the -- the power pack, or what

| think they called that is OCS, was not sufficient
in terns of power. So each tine that we started to
test the train, the power was off. So they needed
al so to redesign the OCS station to be able to --
for us to conplete the test.

So yes, at a certain point, we had
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access to the LMB, and we were able to start the
test. But quickly, we -- we realize and we said to
CLRTC, you have an issue with your power because we
are not able to conplete the tests.

ANTHONY I MBESI: And so in talking
about the different tests that were undertaken, the
early tests that are done, the static tests that we
were just tal king about, are those referred to as
val i dation tests?

ARNAUD LACAZE: | don't renenber what
we called that. For nme, it's what | call factory
tests, or production tests. So after -- each
vehicle, after the production, after that
production, we need to go in this area to do this
phase of tests, to be sure that everything is
capabl e, functionality is there.

What | call validation -- and | don't
know if it's the word used by Al stom but what |
call validation is the qualification of a specific
system Typically, you develop the systemin --
during the design phase, and you qualify or you
validate the system You validate it or you
qualify the systemonce. And you do -- you choose
to do that on one, two, maybe three trains, to

qualify, once for all, that the systemis working.
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You don't have to do that every tine.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And woul d t hose be,
| i ke, conponent tests and type tests?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, it's type tests,
yes, typically. And for that -- you -- you need --
yes, at the beginning, you need to have access to
t he LMB because we do in the LMB what we call
static qualification or static type tests, and
qui ckly after that, you need to go outside on
the -- on the track to do type or qualification
dynam c test.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So within the
we'll call the validation or qualification phase,
there is -- there is the type tests. That includes
both static and dynam c type testing?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And then fromthere,
do the LRVs, then, each nove on to static and
dynam c serial testing?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. W have to do --
each train after that, we have to do both a static
and a dynamc test, but it's a very short test
because we consider that the qualification of the
type tests have been done on the -- on one or two

trains, depending on the project. But after that,
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each train will go in the LMB, doing the production
test, static test, and a short dynam c run.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. And so speaking
just then about the validation or qualification
testing, both the serial -- excuse ne, the static
and dynam c conponents, then, is that all to be
conpl eted before serial production begins?

ARNAUD LACAZE: In the -- in an ideal
worl d, yes. Yes.

ANTHONY IMBESI: In Otawa, that is
what was to happen?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, we did -- because
we had sone delays -- for ne, we had sone delays in
the -- in the design phase wwth OLRTC and the Cty.
Al st om accunul at es sone del ays because OLRTC and
the City were not able to define exactly -- exactly
what they wanted, in terns of design and in terns
of functionalities.

But at the end, the commercial | aunch

still remained the sane. So at a certain point,
you are -- your schedule is -- is nore and nore
short, so -- so you need -- you need to take the

ri sk, and you need to do things about it. So
that's what we decided in -- after a discussion

wth OLRTC, of course, is to say, okay, let's start
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11 the -- let's do the qualification and the
2| validation test on LRV 1 and 2, but in the
3| neantine, let's start the production.
4 And you -- you understand the risk
5| to -- to do that is we will have retrofit to be
6| done after that, but at |east you will have
71 95 percent of the train already here. So it's -- |
8| would say it's conmmon risk. You would see that on
9| every rolling stock project. At a certain point,
10 | you need to do things in parallel, and then the
111 mainrisk is the retrofit after that, for sure.
12 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so -- and doi ng
13| themin parallel as occurred in OQtawa, is that
14| fairly typical on other projects, or was this a
15| uni que i nstance?
16 ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no, it's typical.
17| |t's --
18 ANTHONY I MBESI: It's typical?
19 ARNAUD LACAZE: It's typical because
20 jt's -- all the rolling stock project today in the
21| world are very short in terns of -- between the
22 | start of the design phase and the commerci al
23| launch, that you need to do that. You need to do
24 | that.
25

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so speaki ng about
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the retrofits, then, so did the mgjority of
retrofits arise because of the need or the decision
to conduct the validation qualification testing in
parallel with serial production?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No. Not fromny -- not
fromny point of view

ANTHONY I MBESI: |'m sorry, your
i nternet just cut out for -- for ne. |If you could
repeat that.

ARNAUD LACAZE: It's part of -- part
of -- of the retrofit was due to -- tothis -- this
strategy, of course, but a lot of the retrofit was
al so due to -- to the design that was not fully --
fully frozen. And, again, the interface wth
Thal es, for exanple, of the interface with the
radi o change until -- until the last m nute.

So -- so yes, the risk was taken with
OLRTC to -- to get the train, and neaning that we
needed to conplete sone tests. But in the
meantinme, sone interfaces was not yet conpletely
frozen. And typically -- typically, as the Thal es
interface and the radio interfaces was not -- was
not fully frozen -- it was frozen for us, but we
realized at the end that it was not fully frozen,

and it was also a big part of the retrofit that we
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did before -- before | left. Yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So the -- the
retrofits arose for both reasons, then.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And so in
tal ki ng about the retrofits generally -- and I am
going to take you into nore detail with respect to
the interface wth Thal es, but speaking nore
generally, then, when the retrofits were being
dealt with, were those being dealt with at the sane
time as serial production of the LRVs?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. The idea is to --
Is to work with the configuration, so, in fact, you
accunul ate sone return of experience of your train
In tests, for exanple, so you do -- do one or two
tests, you accunul ate a ton of experience in terns
of nodification, inprovenent, or correction. And
follow ng that, you do what we call a CCB, a
control board with the -- the technical guy, your
I ndustrial guy, your teamto define, effectively,
when and starting at which LRV you will start to
i npl enent all this nodification.

And because you cannot run, run, run
wi t hout the nodification, you design a

modi fication, and this batch of nodification are
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cal l ed configuration reviews. And so you define --
okay -- with your industrial guy, for exanple, we
wi Il apply the configuration B starting train
nunber 8 in production, for exanple, neaning that
froml to 7, you will have a dedicated team a
retrofit team and this teamw || apply this

nodi fication directly in the field, so on the
trains that are already outside the production
line. So it's -- we work like this, by batch of
nodi fication, or configuration, if you want.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So you -- you
I npl ement the change on the new LRVs goi ng forward
as they're being produced. And then you have a
dedi cated team performng retrofits on the ones
t hat have al ready been produced that are in need of
that retrofit.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, you -- at that
time, once you have the production and you start to
use the train, you need to have two teans: the
retrofit team and a production team of course,
and a configuration nmanager or configuration team
able to -- to dispatch the work between these two
gr oups.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so is that

sonet hi ng that woul d have been planned for at the
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outset of the project, having a dedicated retrofit
team available to do that in tandemwth
producti on?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. It's sonething --
It's -- it's not the plan at the begi nni ng because
we want to have sonething perfect. But the reality
Is this: You have to build the team at the end,
because you start -- you start to do sone tests,
you start to accunul ate -- accunul ated sone return
of experience, and you don't want to disturb the
production. You don't want to ask the guy in
production to cone on the train that is already
out side the production to do the work -- to do the
j ob.  No.

You want -- you your production team
and your production |ine focussed on the production
of the train, and that's it. So you don't want
themto -- to be disturbed by other things. So you
have -- at the tinme, you have to get this retrofit
team and often the retrofit team becones the
warranty team It's --

ANTHONY | MBESI: Becones the warranty
t eanf

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, and generally this

t eam because they accunul ate also their own
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experience on the train, this team at a certain

point, will becone the warranty team when the
project will be in -- in that phase, so it's a
wn/wn solution for -- for -- for the project.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So then based
off what you're -- what you're saying, then, does
the retrofit work draw any resources away from
production, or are they handl ed separately such
that they're not effected?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no, we -- it's a
dedicated team |It's a separate team So --
clearly, the main idea is not take people fromthe
production line. So no, it's a dedicated team
focussed on -- focussed on the retrofit.

ANTHONY | MBESI: So woul d Al st om
needing to performthis retrofit work, does that
| npact its schedule in any way, then, given that
there's a dedicated team handling that?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It's -- clear that's
for sone retrofit activity, yes, you will inpact
the schedule, and -- and that's why -- that's why
it's -- it's a commpn agreenent with OLRTC or with
t he custoner, saying, Okay, we take the risk to
start the production; we take the risk to do things

In parallel; but be aware that, at a certain point,
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you w Il have to do sone -- we wll have to do sone
retrofit activities.

So according -- and at the begi nning of
the project, it's -- it mght be very difficult to
say it wll have a huge inpact or not on the
schedul e because you don't know -- we don't know
exactly the -- the tine and the energy that you
wi Il have to spend for the retrofit because you
don't know what you don't know. [It's the begi nning
of the tests.

But you nust alert your custoner that
effectively, maybe, you will have to face sone
delay, wll have to find sonme mtigation plan. And
the mtigation plan can be, okay, let's start the
commercial launch with sone functionality that wll
not be 100 percent functional, for exanple. You
know, if it's not linked to sone safety system you
can -- you can have this agreenent with your
cust oner.

It's -- but thisis -- this is where |
said at the beginning that you need to have this --
t his exchange with your custoner, and both nust
understand the risks and nust accept the risk.

ANTHONY I MBESI: And so is -- is that

fairly typical on these projects, to have certain
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itens to be deferred to be dealt with after revenue
| aunch?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes, yeah. It has
al ways been the case, yes.

ANTHONY I MBESI: [It's always the case,
or typically the case?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes. Yes, because
at -- it's normal -- you need to -- you can do all
the tests you want in the -- in the [aboratory on
your | aptop, do sinmulation. You can do everything
you want. The -- the reality is when you are able
to -- to use your trainin the field. This is
where, at the end, you -- you wll |earn nost of
the -- you have the nobst return experience.

Because we are not -- inthis -- in

2020 or now, we are not tal king anynore about the

train alone in the track. It's -- it's a system
now. The trainis -- the trainis clearly
Integrated in the -- in the structural elenent,

W th conmmunication to the wayside, with information

comng from-- fromthe rail, with -- from-- it's
a--it's aclearly an integrated system So
this -- yes. This is where you learn the nost.

ANTHONY IMBESI: And did the need to

performretrofits, both because
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val idation/qualification was done in tandemwth
producti on and al so because of issues that you'd

I ndi cated arose in the interface wwth Thales, did
the requirenent to do those retrofits inpact the
testing and conm ssioning in any way? D d it del ay
the testing and comm ssioning? Did it cause that
to be conpressed? Did it have any inplication?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, yes, it

conpressed -- it conpressed -- | don't -- | don't

remenber that it conpressed the comm ssioning

activities, but it -- it put a lot of pressure on
the team because -- because we wanted to keep -- we
wanted to keep the -- the deadline. So we

I ncrease -- | increase the nunber of -- of people

in ny teamto be able to work on Saturday, Sunday,
and to work in two or three shifts, to be able to
maintain a -- to maintain a -- to nmaintain the --
the dates. Because we still need -- if we need --
If we need 5 days to do the comm ssioni ng, yes, |
Wil try to -- to push the teamto do better, but
if it's 5 days, it's 5 days, so | will not be able
to conpress it any nore.

So the -- the main solution for us, at
that tinme, was to increase the workforce and say,

okay, let's -- let's work on Saturday and Sunday to
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do the -- to do the retrofit, and let's try to work
in two or three shifts to conplete also the
retrofit on sone of the trains.

ANTHONY IMBESI: D d the -- in your
view, did it -- did the necessary anount of testing
and conm ssi oni ng get done despite sone of the
del ays you just nenti oned?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Sorry, can you repeat.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Did you feel that the
necessary anount or the required anount of testing
and comm ssioning was still done despite the del ays
t hat were experienced?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. W -- we -- we
tried to -- to do as nuch as we can, the tests and

the comm ssioning. But at the end, it goes back to

the infrastructure. W were not able to -- to
start -- to start on time. W were not able to do
everything we could -- we wanted at that tine. So

we tried to mtigate as nuch as we can, but, again,

it's -- and as (indiscernible), it's what |I said
to -- to OLRTC. You -- in the contract, we are
supposed to have -- | don't renenber -- 4

kilonmetres of track, for exanple. W have only 2.
And on these 2, we are not able to do the test --

do the test all the day. W are able to do the
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1| test only 6 -- 6 or 8 hours. So at the end -- at
2| the end, it would push -- it would push the end of
3| the validation.
4 M CHAEL VALO M. Inbesi, I'msorry to
S| interrupt. | just want to make sure that you and
6| M. Lacaze are 100 percent clear on what you're
7| each tal king about. You had asked about
8 | conmm ssioning and testing, and | just wanted to
9| ensure you were cl ear about whether you neant
10 | commi ssioning of the overall system or
11} conmm ssioning of the vehicles alone, or maybe bot h.
121 | just want that to be clear because it wasn't.
131 I"mjust not certain, that's all.
14 ANTHONY | MBESI: No, | appreciate that.
151 1" m speaki ng about the vehicles specifically.
16 M CHAEL VALG  Ckay.
17 ANTHONY | MBESI: So in your View,
18 | then -- and just to nmake sure that you are
191 answering what |I'mspecifically asking, so speaking
20 | about the vehicles in particular, you had felt that
211 there was the sufficient anbunt of testing and
22 | commi ssioning perfornmed in respect of those
23 | vehicl es?
24 ARNAUD LACAZE: W th the extension of
25| tinme, yes. Wth -- with the extension of tine, if
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we wanted to keep on schedul e, the schedule that we

had at the begi nning, no. No, because we had -- we
had no access to the full -- to the full -- to the
full line, for exanple. W had no access to -- to
sone parts of -- of the track. W were not able to
do -- to do the test all the day. W were able to
do the tests on the -- during 6 hours instead of

10 hours. W had sone issue -- sonetinme --
sonetinmes -- sonetine we are not able to -- to have
access to the track during 2 -- 2, 3 weeks.

So if you are talking -- maybe it's ny
English, but if you are tal king about the -- the
basel i ne schedule wth what OLRTC was able to give

us, no, clearly we had no tinme because we had

not -- we requested 10 hours to do a test, and
CLRTC gave us, | don't know, 6 hours. So clearly
we had no tine. |If you are tal king about the

extension of tine that we requested, yes, because
we sai d, okay, you give us only 6 hours, which
means that we will need 2 nore nonths, | don't
know, to do -- to do the tests.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Yeah, no, | wasn't
tal king so nmuch about a -- a conparison between
what you were given and what you needed. It was

nore of a sense of, ultimately, what was done, was
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that, in your view, sufficient for the testing that
at | east you experienced? Because | appreciate you
were gone before the project got to RSA

ARNAUD LACAZE: kay. So you nean at
the end, yes. Yes, fromny point of view, at the
end, in ternms of rolling stock, in terns of
traction and so on, it was -- when | left, | think
we had -- we had effectively a good product, able
to start -- able to start -- to start commerci al
| aunch. And when | left the project in -- in
Oct ober 2018, | don't recall how many LRVs we had
at that tinme, but it was nostly 20, and a | ot of
them was used -- already used by -- by OLR -- by
the City to do sone training.

So interns of functionality of the
train, | wll say -- | wll say yes. In terns of
Integration to the infrastructure, when | left, no.
It was clearly not sufficient.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And | won't ask
you about that because | appreciate you won't have
know edge of what happened after you left the
project. But I1'd like to turn back, then. You
were tal king about access to the test track. And
So you indicated that, at a certain point, you

received 4 kilonetres of the track as opposed to
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the entire | ength?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, we -- we asked them
to have 4 kilonetres of track to do what we cal
the qualification - or type tests, if you want,
part of them So we asked -- we asked to have
access to 4 kilonetres, and we had access only to
2. So we were on this 2 kilonmetres of track doing
sone tests with LRV -- LRV 2. So it was -- we --
we had no possibility to have access to nore than
t hat .

And after that, we -- later in the
project, we wanted to have access to the full |ine
because we need to -- we need to have access to
this full line to do what we call the quality ride
test. So we need to -- to validate that the
behavi our of the train is good everywhere. And so
we were not able to do these kinds of tests also
because we -- we had no possibility to go inside
the tunnel in -- in OGtawa. And so we had no
access to the tunnel, and we had no access to the
west -- west side of the track.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And -- okay. So
initially you -- you asked for 4 kilonetres. You
were given 2. At a certain point, did you get

t hose 4 kil onetres?
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1 ARNAUD LACAZE: | don't renenber. Yes,
2| at a certain point, yes, because we -- at a certain
3| point, we were able to do the test -- to do the
4| test -- to the test between -- until the begi nning
5| of the tunnel.
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Sol -- 1 think when | left, maybe a
couple of nonths before | left in 2018, we were
able to -- we were able to have access to these 4
kilonetres long. So 2 years -- | wll say 2 years

after the beginning of the tests, we were able to
access to these 4 kil onetres.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so 2 years after
t he beginning of the tests, when would the tests
have started? |'mtrying to get a -- | want to
make sure |'m understandi ng the range of years.

ARNAUD LACAZE: The test started on the
dynam c track in Novenber of 2016.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So then you're
sayi ng by Novenber of 2018, you woul d have had
access in 4 kilonetres?

ARNAUD LACAZE: In 2018, so it was --

it was in 2017, | guess.
ANTHONY | MBESI: 2017.
ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, that we -- | don't

know exactly when, but at a certain point, yes, we
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11 were able to -- yes, to have access to these -- we
2| were able -- step by step, we were able to -- to go
3| in the tunnel, to go in the wayside -- | don't
4| remenber exactly the date, but it was not at the
5| beginning for sure. Step by step, they -- they --
6| they start to give us -- to give us access,
7| according to the progress in terns of
8 | infrastructure.

9 ANTHONY | MBESI: So what was the

10| inplication, then, of not having access to 4

111 kilonetres? Wat were you not able to do given

12} just 2 kilonetres?

13 ARNAUD LACAZE: So you don't have the
14| possibility to -- to do a lot of full -- full --
151 how can | say that? -- full traction or full speed
16 | pbecause you have this limtation of 2 -- 2

171 kilometres. And after that is the nunber of LRVs
18 | on these -- on the 2 kilonetres of track, because
19| you have LRV 2, so Al stom doi ng sone tests; you

20 | have Thal es doi ng sone dynamc PICO testing on

21| these tracks, and you have the City doi ng sone

22 | training.

23 So at the end, you start to accunul ate
241 nmore and nore train on this 2 kilometre of track,
25

and if you had also the work that they al so needed
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1/ to do on this track toinstall -- toinstall or to
2| correct some -- some issues, yes, at the end, it's
3| starting to be very -- very crowded, let's say.
4 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So it was
5| congested and then the -- your inability to get to
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t he max speed that was required.
ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.
ANTHONY | MBESI: Wre there any ot her

I ssues -- and | know you'd nentioned -- |
believe -- were there power issues with respect to
the track? Were there issues -- so even with the 2

kil onetres that you were given, were there factors
that prevented you from performng your testing on
those kilonetres at any point in tine?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. But the first one
Is -- is the gauge of the track. So the -- the
first tine that we go -- went outside, we -- we
realized that the gauge was not -- was not correct,
SO we -- we stop -- we stop -- we stop that, and we
asked OLRTC to put the correct gauge of -- gauge of
the -- of the track.

Finally, they request us to use a train
to push -- because we've installed a systemthat --
that the train wll push the track and the track

woul d be as -- the correct length or the correct
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1] gauge with -- with the train, so they asked us to
2| dothat. W -- we -- with sonme expert, experience,
3| we think about that, and then okay, finally we
4| accept to do that, to use the train nunber 2 to --
S| to push -- to push the track to the correct gauge.
61 So we did that on the 2 kilonetres, and we asked --
71 we asked OLRTC first to correct this -- this issue
8| on the other -- on the -- on the full line, for
91 everywhere.

10 And so it was our discussion wth them
11| and then finally, a couple of nonths after that,

121 they cane back to us accepting the fact that

13| effectively they will have to change their -- the
14| system because they were -- they were not able to
15| maintain the gauge. After -- after the winter

16 | season or with it, the track was -- was novi ng

171 too -- too fast, and it was due to sone clips -- |
18 | don't know the technical issues, but they had to
19| change the way to maintain the track on the -- on
20 | the ground.

21 So that neant that it was -- honestly,
221 it was very difficult for -- for themto admt

23| that, but, finally, they admitted that they needed
24| to change -- to change that, yes.

25

ANTHONY | MBESI: So just for the
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record, then, gauge is the distance between the two
rails?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, the gauge is the
di stance between -- yes, between the two rails.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so was the gauge
just inconsistent throughout the entire track, or
was it -- was it too narrowin all locations?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It was inconsistent.
Sonetinmes -- you -- it's a very precise -- precise
nmeasurenent. If | renenber well, you need to be
plus 1 and mnus 3 mllinmetres. You have to
respect this -- this range. And we asked OLRT to
give us exactly the -- the gauge on all the track,
to be sure that we had sonet hi ng consi stent because
we realized it was not consistent. Sonetines it
was too narrow, sonetines it was too tight. It was
very unpredictable. So we -- we had this issue at
first with -- with the -- wth the track, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And does that prevent
you frombeing able to utilize the track?

ARNAUD LACAZE: We refused at the
begi nning, yeah. W told themwe don't -- we don't
want to go outside if the range is not correct.

ANTHONY | MBESI: But why would that be?
What's the inplication of having the gauge off in

neesonsreporting.com
416.413.7755



Ottawa Light Rail Commission
Arnaud Lacaze on 5/20/2022 55

1

2

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

the way that it was?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, you can damage --
you can damage t he wheel s.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so in terns of
CLRTC, were you the nmain person of contact between
Al stom and OLRTC during your tinme on the project?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yes. As the
project director, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: So what woul d have
been the nature of your contact with CLRTC? What
is it that you were handling?

ARNAUD LACAZE: \What do you nean by
"the nature"?

ANTHONY | MBESI: Well, were you dealing
with all circunmstances? Like, were you dealing
wi th commercial issues, technical issues,
schedul i ng i ssues?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes, | nean, |
deal -- | don't renenber exactly at that tine what
| was doing with them but yes, | had daily contact
with themin terms of -- in ternms of schedul e,
commerci al issues, of course technical, but |I'm
not -- even if I aman engineer, I'm-- |I'mno nore
a technical guy, so it was mainly ny teamthat was

dealing with them | was nmainly here to be aware
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of the technical situation, support nmy team or
to -- on the explanation, and find a mtigation
plan or find sonme solution with -- with OLRTC,

But ny main target is to keep the
relationship wwth OLRTC or with the custoner, if
you want, and yes, dealing with all these aspects,
schedul e, commercial, technical, with the help, of
course, of -- of the team behind ne.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Who were -- who were
your counterparts at OLRTC? W was it that you
were dealing with?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It was a man at the
beginning. | don't renenber his nane. And after
that, it was Sharon -- Sharon QGakley. Yes, Sharon
Cakl ey. The first man, | don't renenber his nane.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And you touched

ARNAUD LACAZE: It was a contract --
for the contract and project aspect. For the
technical, it was M. Bergeron.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Jacques Bergeron?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Jacques Bergeron, yes.
Yes, for the technical aspect. Because he was a
technical guy but also a project nanager, so | was

dealing with himfor nost -- for general -- general

neesonsreporting.com
416.413.7755



Ottawa Light Rail Commission

Arnaud Lacaze on 5/20/2022 57
1] topics interns of technical. But it was mainly --
21 it was mainly -- the main counterpart was Sharon.

3 ANTHONY | MBESI: Was Dr. Qakl ey?

4 ARNAUD LACAZE: Dr. Qakley, yes.

S ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. And so turning
6| then to Jacques Bergeron, was he the individual

7| that was responsible for systens integration on

8| OLRTC s end?

9 ARNAUD LACAZE: He was -- yes, he

10 | was -- he was responsible of -- he was responsible
11| of the integration, and he hel ped by -- he was

12| helped by a M. Fitzgerald. M. Fitzgerald, who
13| was -- M. Fitzgerald for Thales. M. Bergeron

141 was, | would say, the lead, and after that, he had
15| sonme specific -- specific person dedicated for sone
16 | specific system

17 ANTHONY I MBESI: So M. Fitzgerald, is
18 | that Frank Fitzgeral d?

19 ARNAUD LACAZE: Frank Fitzgerald, yes.

20 | Yeabh.

21 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And so -- and |

22 | know that we've spoken a little bit earlier today

23 | about integration, but could you just describe for

24| me OLRTC s approach to systens integration. How

25

did it approach that facet of the project?
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1 ARNAUD LACAZE: | cannot say. It

21 was -- honestly, I -- | cannot say it was an

3| integration.

4 ANTHONY | MBESI: What do you nean by

5| that?

6 ARNAUD LACAZE: | nean -- | nean, it

71 was a lot of -- it was clearly a |lack of

8| integration. It was -- based -- based on ny

9| experience in the past and al so present experience,
101 it was not -- it was clearly a lack of integration
111 or -- or nmanagenent.

12 When you -- when you do an integration,
131 you -- you take all the responsibility, and you --
141 you namke sure that both parties will conmunicate

15| together. Anything that's -- if it's not the case,
16 | you wll bring this guy in the roomand say, okay,
171 now we'll fix the issue. You don't try to -- you
18| don't try to -- to work with -- with one of -- one
19| of the parties and | eave the other party in the

20 | dark and cone back a couple of nonths or one year
21| after that, saying, okay, by the way, you -- you

22| mssed -- you nmissed sone -- sone things, so -- no.
23| It's not like this.

24 When you do an integration, you --

25

really, the guy or -- here to |ink everybody all
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together. And it's -- honestly, it's key. And |I'm
tal ki ng about ny past experience, but |'malso
tal ki ng about ny current experience doing this

I ntegration. You need to do these things.

(Indiscernible). It's not -- I"'mtalking --
honestly, I'mtalking very free here. |'m not
wor ki ng anynore with Alstom |'mat -- honestly,

OLRTC m ssed this -- this integration, mssed this
link of -- this link between -- between both
conpani es.

ANTHONY I MBESI: And so is that a
failure on OLRTC s part to -- to nanage that
process? Is -- is it an issue of collaboration?
Li ke, what specifically would you have expected to
see happen that didn't happen?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. For -- for ne,

it's the main -- the main subject of this project.
The -- as -- howcan | say that? As a -- as a
custoner, you need -- because at the end, you wl|

use this product, so as a custoner, you need to --
to make everything happen. You need to nake the

| i nk between your supplier. You cannot -- you
cannot say, okay, | will let the supplier do what
they want. No, the supplier has their own

contract, their own objective. The integrator or
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1] the custoner, you are here to -- to make the |ink
2| and be sure that you will receive sonmething at the
3| end that you will be able to use.
4 So you have to do this effort. You
5| have to do the -- to do the -- to do these things
6| happen. And to do that, you have to conmuni cat e,
7| and you have to understand what your Supplier Ais
8 | saying, what your Supplier Bis saying, and try to
9|1 find -- and trying to match and try to -- to be
10| able to mtigate everything.
11 And yes, it's -- it was clearly a --
121 clearly a -- a lack of collaboration on the -- on
13| this project, yes.
14 ANTHONY I MBESI: Did you feel that
15| those at OLRTC had the necessary experience to
16 | performthe job?
17 ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, honestly, | don't
18 | know. | will not judge their past experience or
191 their -- if they -- if they have put at this place,
200 | wll say that it was a choice of their
21 | managenent, so -- the only thing I can say, it's --
22 | that the collaboration was not here. | wll not
23| judge on their -- no, | will not judge on their
24 | capacity or not to do -- to the job. |'mnot here
25| to do that.
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Just a contestation, at the end, the
col | aboration was clearly not here, between us,
bet ween OLRTC, and between the other third party.

ANTHONY | MBESI: The other -- are you
speaking primarily about Thal es?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes, yes, Thales
was the main -- the main contributor, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And so in
terns, then, of dealing with integration, what was
Al stom s understandi ng, then, of what OLRTC s
I ntegration responsibilities were?

ARNAUD LACAZE: You -- you -- as an --

because on this -- in this project, Al stom had no
direct contract with -- wth Thales. So you -- we
cannot go -- we cannot go to Thal es, saying, okay,

you need to do that, that, or that, because we
don't know their contract. W don't know at the
end what they signed in terns of contract and in
terns of requirenent.

So once again, this role of integration
must be done by OLRTC because OLRTC has a contract
with Alstomand has a contract with -- with Thal es.
So we are here to nmake this integration clearly for
good. So they are here to facilitate the

di scussi on and the col |l aborati on bet ween those two
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conpani es, and they are here to take the decision
and say -- because -- okay -- they know what
exactly is the contract between the two, so they
are here to say -- to take the decision and to
freeze, at the end, the interfaces, saying, okay,
Al stom you will receive this kind of equi pnent
from-- from-- fromThales; here is all the

I nterfaces, so build your train according that.
They have to do this kind of job.

They have to also -- so they have to
followus in terns of preparation of the train, to
receive -- to receive this equipnent, and they have
to follow Thales to respect this integration --
these interfaces and to respect the scope of -- of
the work. They have to do -- they have to do these
ki nds of things. And when we have an issue, the
Integrator is here to -- first to mtigate and, at
the end, to take a decision.

ANTHONY I MBESI: So to nmeke deci si ons
to deal with issues that arise during the
I ntegration process?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Exactly, yes. Yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And then --

ARNAUD LACAZE: And an issue can be a

variation order or a technical issue fromus, from
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1/ Alstom but also fromThales. It's a -- in both --
21 it's in both directions. W need to -- we need to
3| understand and to find a -- and to help to find a
4| solution for both -- for -- for Alstomand for --
5| for Thales.
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ANTHONY | MBESI: How woul d you descri be
the working relationship between Al stom and Thal es?
ARNAUD LACAZE: It was -- at the
beginning, it was -- it was collaborative, | would
say, because we -- even if it was delayed -- when
| -- when | arrive on the project, we were able
to -- to start -- we were able to start the static
PICOtest. It was in Septenber or Cctober 2016.
After that, it was clearly a
contract -- a contractual relationship because they
under stand and we understand that we had no
direct -- direct contract or -- together, so it was
a-- it was a -- purely a contractual -- a
contractual relationship. At ny level, | wll say
that. By -- | would say not by chance, but this
IS -- this is sonething natural: The guy on the --
onsite, the technical guy, because we were every
day worki ng together, we were able, at the end, to
find some solution. W were able to try to -- to

mtigate as -- as nmuch as we can sone techni cal
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1] issues.
2 ANTHONY | MBESI: Do you feel there was
3| sufficient informati on sharing between Thal es and
41 Al stonf
S ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no. Cearly, no.
61 No, no. W discovered -- we tried to freeze an
7| interface baseline early in the project, and we
8 | discover -- we discover -- | think it was in My,
91 with LRV 5, it was in April or May 2017 that,
10| finally, the -- the configuration that -- that was
111 frozen in 1 year before was not good anynore.
12 After that, when we start to do sone
13| static PICO test or dynamc PICO tests, we realized
141 that we -- we needed to do a Il ot of nodification
15| inside the system So clearly it was not -- it was
16 | not transparent.
17 And again, I'mnot blamng -- |'m not
18 | bl am ng Thal es because they have sone techni cal
19| issue. It's normal. It's normal to have techni cal
20| jssues. I'm-- I'm-- I"mjust pointing here the
21| fact that the coll aboration and the transparency
22 | was not here.
23 ANTHONY IMBESI: So if it's -- if it's
241 normal to have sone technical issues, then what is
25

It that gives rise to your comment that there
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wasn't enough transparency?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Because it was too
late. It was too late. W -- we should have been
aware of the functionality of the systemearlier in
the project and not discover when you do the test
and when you try to integrate that, finally, the
systemis not what we have -- what we had in the

speci fication.

It's -- it's not a -- it's -- for
Thales, it was not a new product. It was sonething
that already exists. So you can -- as | say, it iIs
normal you have -- it's a technical project.
It's -- we are in the industry. It's normal to

have i ssues, but a | ot of things should have been
raised a lot of nonths before. So -- after that,
It's too late. You -- first, you create
frustration in the team and you create retrofit
activities, and this is what we had at the end of
this -- of this project, a lot of retrofit Iinked
to -- linked to -- to Thal es.

ANTHONY IMBESI: Did the -- does the
fact that Thales and Alstomare conpetitors in the
train control system market, did that inpact the
relationship in any way?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No. No, because
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11 it's -- honestly, no, because we are rolling stock,
2| and we are not -- we are not the -- a systemteam
3| so no.
4 And, again, it's -- it's not sonething
S| new for Alstomto work with -- with third parties,
6| and so we -- we used to -- to -- they used to work
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Wth -- with Bonbardier. At that tine, it was a
conpetitor, but we used to have sone contract wth
Bonmbardi er, sanme thing for -- for Thales and for
ot hers.

ANTHONY IMBESI: So in terns of it --
It sounds like -- as if you're saying that the
desi gn kept evolving to a certain extent from what
you're being provided by Thales. |Is that fair?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so -- so how did
that play out in practice, then? How did Al stom
respond to the evolving design that it was
recei vi ng?

ARNAUD LACAZE: First -- first, we --
we alert OLRTC first that in terms of -- froma
technical point of view, it was clearly not aligned
with the specification that we agreed, and so we --
we wanted to have sone explanation it's -- from

CLRTC about this change and, simlarly, a
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11 confirmation. And if -- because maybe it was an
2 error fromThales. | don't know But as soon as
3| OLRTC confirnmed that, effectively, what we tested
4| affected the new functionality of the new system of
5| Thal es, we request -- we request a variation order,
6| and we -- we requested an extension of tinme also
7| because, at that tine, we knew that it would have a
8 | huge inpact for -- for the schedule, and we are
9| tal king about nore than 300 points of connecti on.
101 It's -- it's a huge, conplex system the ATC
11| system and the interface is -- yeah, definitely,
12| we knew that we had to -- to change a | ot of things
131 in our train.
14 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so are those the
15| retrofit issues that you alluded to earlier in
16 | ternms of the integration with Thal es's systenf
17 ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.
18 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so you had
191 nentioned that the evol ving design wasn't in |ine
20 with the specification that you' d agreed upon wth
21| OLRTC, and are you speaki ng about the contractual
22 | requi rement between Al stom and OLRTC to have a
23| finalized CBTC design early on in the project, or
24| what are you referring to?
25

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, I'mreferring to
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1/ that. It's -- as | nentioned, it's -- it's key,
2| during the design phase, to freeze -- to freeze
3| your interfaces, because you will build your train
4| according to these interfaces. | don't knowif --
S| if a systemrequired -- required to have three
6| inputs, you will -- you will build your train with
7| maybe four inputs because you still need to have a
8| spare, but you will build your train with four wire
9] to -- four, three wire to connect with this system
10 | f you conme back 1 or 2 years l|ater,
11| saying, oh, by the way, it's not three, it's five,
121 now, yes, you -- you have a big issue because you
13| need to -- to rethink your -- your electrical
14| system and rethink your production to add a wre.
15 It's just an exanple, but it's --
16 | that's why you need -- you need to freeze all the
171 interface earlier in the -- in the design phase.
181 And | nentioned this nunber of three or four
19 | because as a rolling stock manufacturer, you know
20| that, during the tests, or you know that during the
21| project you will have to do sone changes, so you --
22 | you put a snmall anount of provision, but when you
23| cone back with a systemthat is conpletely
24| different, it's -- it's -- your -- your systemis
25

no nore able to support that, so you have to
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ret hi nk everyt hi ng.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so during your
tinme at the project, would you have reviewed the
Al stom subcontract with OLRTC?

ARNAUD LACAZE: The -- the what?

The. ..

ANTHONY | MBESI: Wen you were invol ved
in the project, would you have reviewed Al stons
subcontract with COLRTC?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Wth -- ny contract
with OLRTC?

ANTHONY | MBESI :  Yes.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, of course.

ANTHONY | MBESI: You were famliar wth
the contract at the tinme?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yeah, yes. It's --
It's part of the handover that | -- | net with --
with Nadia at that time. W do a handover in terns
of the -- the technical aspects, situation of the
project versus the contract to clearly understand
where we are in the contract. W -- in conformty
to the contract, do we have sone pendi ng wai ver?

Do we have sone risk, difficulties? Do we have
sone variation order? |It's -- it's part of the

package that | am-- that every project manager or
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1] director need to -- need to do with these

2| predecessors, so...

3 ANTHONY I MBESI: So in terns of the

4| specific contractual requirenent that | had

5| mentioned, then, it is nmy understandi ng that the

6| contract required Thales to deliver a finalized

7| CBTC specification by April of 2013. Do you recall

8| that?

9 ARNAUD LACAZE: Oh, | don't recall the
10 | date, honestly, but | recall because it was -- it

11| was part of the subcontract that we were supposed
121 to receive a full -- a full system validated and
13| integrated. Wien | said "integrated,” it's in one
14| piece. After that, what was supposed to be done in
151 2014, honestly, | don't renmenber, but | renenber

16 | that we were supposed to receive this, clearly,

17| yes, because -- because this -- because it was part
18 | of the dilemma that we -- that we had at that tine.
19 ANTHONY I MBESI: And so is it practical
20 in these types of projects to have a finalized CBTC
21| specification within the first 2 or 3 nonths of the
22 | project?

23 ARNAUD LACAZE: In terns of interface,
241 yes. Yes. It's -- but it's like -- it's like with
25

all of our systens. Wen | receive a conpressor --
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11 like, for -- froma supplier, for exanple --
2 ANTHONY | MBESI: A what, |'msorry?
3 ARNAUD LACAZE: | w il take an exanple
4| from anot her system a conpressor or -- yes. So
S| let's take the exanple of a conpressor. Fromthis
6| supplier, I'"mreceiving an equi pnent fully
7|1 integrated, a conpressor, and with this supplier,
8| and earlier in the project, at the beginning of the
9| project, they wll tell me, okay, | will do ny job
10| inside this box, but | need to communicate with
111 your train, |I don't know, two inputs and two
12 | out puts, so prepare your train to connect to ny
13| systemtwo output and two -- two input, and that's
141 it.
15 So this is a deal that we -- we have
16| with all the supplier. O course, as a -- because
171 as an integrator, we'll -- we'll check with them
18 | what we do inside this box to be sure that, in
191 ternms of functionality, it's in conformty with
20| what we want. But in ternms of interface and in
21| terns of production, it's only that. You -- you
22| give me a box, I will plug your box in nmy train,
23| and after that, relay the software and relay the
24| validation, be sure that the conmunication is okay.
25

And this is clearly what we were

neesonsreporting.com
416.413.7755



Ottawa Light Rail Commission
Arnaud Lacaze on 5/20/2022 72

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

expecting from Thales. O course, Thales is a
little bit nore conplicated because it's a safety
system But we said, okay, give us a box; give us,
effectively, what you need in terns of
connectivity;, we'll prepare the train. Wen your
box will arrive, we'll put the box in the train,
connect everything, and we'll start the validation.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so what | -- |I'm
sorry. | didn't nean to cut you off there.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, that's why | said,
yes, you need, absolutely, at the beginning of the
project, to define these interfaces.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so | guess what
|"'mtrying to understand, then, is does Thal es need
anything fromA stomin terns of design
characteristics of the train in order for it to be
able to prepare a finalized CBTC specification?

ARNAUD LACAZE: That's why -- that's
why we did the -- that's why it's mandatory to
do -- to do this neeting, this technical neeting
with themat the beginning. 1t's an exchange with
Thales: | need to install -- | don't know, two
sensors in your -- in your bogie or under the
underfrane. The -- the -- the conpany present to

us their interfaces, the functionality of their
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system and we deal with that to design the

I nterface and say, okay, let's prepare the train
to -- you know, to -- wth a nunber of space, a
nunber of sensors, a nunber of cables, wring and
SO on,

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And so that's
an interaction that would typically happen at the
very start of a -- a project?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. But understand
that we need this information to start the
production. |If we need to -- if we need put two
wire, or if we need to dedicate a specific place or
area in the train for -- for one system we need to
understand that at the beginning, very early on in
t he project.

ANTHONY I MBESI: So we've gone a bit
nore than hal fway here, so perhaps we'll take a
break. |If we could go off the record.

-- RECESS AT 3:36 --

-- UPON RESUM NG AT 3:50 --

ANTHONY | MBESI: So, M. Lacaze, just
followwng a bit nore on where we left off, talking
about integration - and specifically |I'm speaking
about integration with Alstomand Thales - were

there regul ar neetings that were held, hosted by
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OLRTC i nvol ving OLRTC, Alstom and Thal es?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Was there a regqular
meeting? Fromwhat | understood, a regular neeting
was -- until June or July 2016. After that, when |
was here, we -- we did the static PICO test with
themin Septenber or Cctober 2016 at Hornell, and

followng that, we had no regular neeting with

OLRTC. | don't recall specific -- specific
neeting -- or technical neeting, | nean.
We had sone -- sone neetings because --

with OLRTC and Thales, but in terns of organization
of the tests. But in terns of technical neetings,
no, we had no new technical neeting with them and
requests to redo technical neetings when we
realized in -- with LRV 5 in May 2017 that we had
sone i ssues. The systemwas not -- was not the
system-- the systemthat we received and we tested
on LRV 5 was not aligned with the specification, so
we requested OLRT to -- to redo -- to redo sone --
sone technical neeting to redefine an interface --
a new interface specification, if you wll.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So the
technical neetings that were held at a certain
point in the project, those stopped around June,

July of 2017, before you becane involved in the
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proj ect ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes because, in fact,
for us - and for Thales, | guess - the interfaces
was -- were frozen, so we worked and we conpl eted
all the trains based on this interface. W did --
we did the static PICOtest in -- as | nentioned,

I n Septenber or COctober, and after that, we redo --
so when we redo a static PICOtest in -- | think in
May, the followi ng year, on LRV 5. So we didn't
have the -- we didn't have, at that tine, a

dedi cated technical neeting with them because we
were -- we were working with the interface frozen a
coupl e of nonths ago.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. So the -- the
i nterface had been frozen. Was it that there was
no need for those neetings, or was there another
reason that they were no | onger hel d?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Interfaces was -- was
frozen before, so -- right -- | don't -- | don't
know if we -- we had sonme needs, no. W were
working on this -- we were working on this subject,
on the interface, so -- you know, it's -- we had no
specific reason to do -- to do a technical neeting.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay.

ARNAUD LACAZE: The interface was
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11 frozen, you did the test; of course, you -- you saw
2| sone issues, but you knew that Thales will advise a
3| subject, so we had no -- no specific point until --
4| until the next phase, at that tinme, which was the
S| test on LRV 5, of -- of the system
6 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so could you just
7| explain to nme, then -- so | think you had said that
8| was in May of 2017 with respect to LRV 5. Wat was
9| the testing that you were doing, and what was the
10 | issue that you had encountered?

11 ARNAUD LACAZE: In fact, if | renenber
12| well, that contract, Thales needed to train Al stom
13| to do static PICOtest, so if you want a static

14| test on two vehicles, so we -- they did that on LRV
151 1, and the next, in terns of sequence, was Train 5.
16 | So what we did, in fact, at -- at Otawa, we start
171 in May of 2017, we did what was in the contract,

18 | sayi ng, okay, we have a train ready. The trainis
19| prepared with -- according the interface that we --
20| that we design, and so we start to integrated

21| your -- your equiprment, we put your equi pnent
22| inside our train, so let's start. Let's restart
23| the static PICOtest. W'Ill redo it with you, and
241 it will be, like, atraining for us, to do -- to do
25| the -- to do this test, because we were supposed to
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1| do this test wwth -- on each of the vehicles, to
2| validate that the connect -- the connection between
3| the two systens agreed. The idea isn't to validate
4| the systemof Thales. The idea is to validate the
S| interface, that you put a signal in -- | don't
6| know. The systemis on; then you switch off and
7|1 the systemis off, for exanple.
8 ANTHONY | MBESI: And was that the VOBC
9| rack in particular?

10 ARNAUD LACAZE: It was a VOBC rack,

11| yes. The idea is to put in the VOBC and to

121 validate and -- the couple of interface that we

13| define -- we define all together.

14 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay.

15 ARNAUD LACAZE: The idea is to -- it's
16 | |ike this for all the systens. The idea is to

171 validate that the interface integration between the
18| rolling stock and System XYZ - so Thales here - is
19| correct.

20 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay.

21 ARNAUD LACAZE: Because we don't

22| validate the functionality of the system W

23| validate only the interface.

24 ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So Thal es was
25

going to do the sane two and, at the sane tine,
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train Alstomand how to do it, and was Al stomthen
responsi ble for doing --

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.

ANTHONY I MBESI: -- the static PICO
test for the balance of the fleet?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yes. But this is
sonet hing very classic: The rolling stock
i ntegrator is responsible to install the equi pnent
and to relate that the interface i s good.

ANTHONY | MBESI: That's typical in
rolling stock, to do it that way, for the rolling
stock to do it?

ARNAUD LACAZE: That's typical, yes.
You verify that you have a good connectivity
bet ween your train and the system

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so what was the
| ssue, then, that was discovered with LRV 5 in My
20177

ARNAUD LACAZE: At first, we -- we
realized that we didn't -- we didn't receive a full
rack. W received several conponents that we
needed to install, and the -- the deal for us, as
| -- | took the exanple of the conpressor, for
exanple. W receive a full system and the idea

was Thales was to receive a full systemand not to
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1] receive one equi pnent, another one, and do -- and
2| request Alstomto -- to make the integration and to
3| do the connection between the system The VOBCis
4| a system so we don't know the connectivity, and we
5| don't know the link between two el ectronic box, for
6| exanpl e.
7 So it was a surprise to do that, so
8| same thing: | sent a letter to OLRTC sayi ng that
91 it was not the deal, and we don't -- we are not

10 | Thal es, so we don't know the connectivity between
11| the systens, so it was the first -- the first

12| contestati on.

13 The second one, we realized that,

141 finally, we need -- we needed nore connectivity, so
151 we needed nore wire to -- to -- to interface with
16 | us because we were -- we didn't receive a full

171 rack. W received several electronic box, so we

18 | needed to increase the nunber of interfaces, the

19 | nunber of connectivity. And nost of all, we

20 | realized that we need to do sone tests inside --

21| inside the electronic box, which, clearly, is not

22 | possi bl e.

23 ANTHONY I MBESI: |'msorry, inside

24 | what ?

25

ARNAUD LACAZE: Inside the system W
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need to open the systemand to start to validate

I nside the electronic, so it clearly was a no-go
for us. You' re not supposed to open or to do

nmodi fication or to do sone tests inside -- inside a
sub -- the third -- the third supplier system W
need -- we need to provide to the integrator -- so
to the rolling stock integrator, we need to provide
a fully validated, fully functional system The
static PICO tests were not here to validate the
systemor to tune their system The static PICO
test was here to be sure that the systemis able to
communi cate with the train. That's it. And it --
It was also a big issue, and we said to OLRTC t hat
we Wil not do the test if it's -- if it's like

t his.

ANTHONY I MBESI: Ckay. So -- so Al stom
expected to have a fully assenbl ed VOBC rack that
was sufficiently tested and -- and tuned so that it
could be essentially plugged into the rolling stock
for the static PICOtesting to be perforned. |Is
that fair?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. As we do for --
with all -- all vehicles.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so how was t hat

i ssue dealt with? How was it resol ved?
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ARNAUD LACAZE: It took a couple of --
honestly, it took a couple of nonths. First, in
ternms of -- in terns of integration, purely
I ntegration, we -- we redefined wth OLRTC an | CD,
an interface specification, which led to the huge
amount of retrofit that we -- that we had in 2018,
because we needed to -- to add nore wire, to change

the cabling, to change the routing, the routing of

sone cables. So it was -- at first, it was the
main -- the main physical subject, | would say,
because it was no nore a single rack. It was
several racks. So at least to the main -- to this

mai n huge retrofit.

And concerning the tests, we refused to
do the tests. W accept to do sone tests, but --
sone tests linked to the newinterface, in fact,
because they changed the interface, but we refused
to do -- to do -- to do all the tests inside their
equi pmrent. And so we said to OLRTC, we will not go
in that way. It's -- it's a safety system W
don't know the system And finally, the deal
wth -- to -- we deal with Thales to do it, and |
know t hat Thal es sent a variation order to CLRTC to
do that.

So, finally, Thales did these static
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PI CO tests, but you will understand that, at the
begi nning, the static PICO test was supposed to
have maybe taken, | don't know, half a day, because
It was just a matter of maybe two or three
connections. At the end, | don't know -- | don't
know, today, what is it. But at the end, we spent
nore than 1 week per train to do the static Pl CO
because we were not tal king anynore about one full

I ntegrated validated system W were talking about
several systens to -- to communicate, all of them
all between them-- between them

So it changed al so the tinme needed per
train to do -- to do -- to do the tests. That's
why | request, again, variation order and an
extension of tinme to OLRTC to explain that, first,
we need to change the configuration of the train,
but we also need nore tine to do the tests, so
which will delay the acceptance of the -- of the
train.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And I'msorry, did you
say that it -- it increased the tine required to do
the -- the test per train fromhalf a day per train
to 1 week per train?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. From what |

remenber -- and maybe -- | mght be -- you know,
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11 you can check that with Yang or -- | don't know,
2| the technical guy for Sienens -- or from Al stom
3| sorry, but fromwhat | renenber, yes, it was half a
4| day, maybe 1 day at the beginning, and at the end,
S| | renmenber to have spent -- to have spent 5 days on
6| this subject, yes. Because we are tal king about |
71 think 11, possibly, test procedures to be done.
8 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so you were -- and
91 you had indicated, then, that that inpacted the

10 | acceptance of the trains.

11 ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yes.

12 ANTHONY | MBESI: And that was the

13 | acceptance of the trains by OLRTC?

14 ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.

15 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so --

16 ARNAUD LACAZE: And that's -- with that
17| additional tinme, you have -- you need to add that

18 | to your schedul e.

19 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so was that the

20 | reason that Ml estone 9 of Al stonis deliverables

211 was revised to account for a provisional acceptance
22| of the vehicles, or was that for another reason?

23 ARNAUD LACAZE: No, it was for another
24 | reason.

25

ANTHONY | MBESI: Gkay. Could you
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explain to nme what the reasoning for that was,
t hen.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Ml estone 9,
yeah, it was a provisional acceptance, but we
realized also, wwth OLRTC, that Thal es needed this
train to do the dynamc PICOtest. So it was
sonething -- sonething -- okay -- we -- we didn't
know that, but at least it's a contract between --
bet ween OLRTC and Thales. But they realized, at a
certain point, that we needed the train to do
the -- to do the dynamc PICO so to do sone tests
after the delivery of the train by Al stom

But in the contract, the contract was
clear: It was qualification from-- qualification
tests, sone mlestone - | don't renenber the nane -
and at the end, an acceptance of the train, which
nmeans that even if the train is ready, | cannot
give this train to OLRTC to do what they want
because this train is still under the
responsi bility of Al stom

So COLRTC cane back to us saying that we
need this train to do -- to do sone tests with
Thales, and | told themthat you can't. To do
that, you -- you need to accept the train, and to

accept the train, you need the 32 trains to be
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1] accepted, so you will not do anything before --
2| before -- | don't know, May 2018, at the end of the
3| contract.
4 And so that's why we -- we arrived
S| to -- at this mddle point, saying, Ckay, let's
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accept this -- let's do a provisional acceptance
train-per-train. So you will receive -- you wll

recei ve a provisional acceptance from OLRTC,

Alstom The train will be now under the
responsibility of -- of OLRTC. You will start the
warranty, and you will be able to use the trainto

do sone activities linked to OLRTC - so training,
so dynamc PICO from Thal es, and so on. So it was
a mechanismput in place to allow OLRTC to do their
activities.

ANTHONY IMBESI: So -- and -- okay. So
to make sure | understand that, then, so this
dynam c testing that -- that Thal es needed to do,

t hat was not accounted for under Al stons
subcontract. There was nothing that provided for
t hat --

ARNAUD LACAZE: No.

ANTHONY | MBESI: -- to your know edge?

ARNAUD LACAZE: That is not sonething

that -- even after -- even after we deliver the
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train, they do their dynamc PICO and -- and
that's it. So it's -- it's sonething under the
scope of work of Al stom

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. And in order to
have the vehicles accepted by OLRTC, they had to
all be accepted at the sane tine initially.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Initially, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI : Ckay.

ARNAUD LACAZE: |If | renenber,
Ml estone 9 was sonething like this, final
acceptance or acceptance of the 32 trains.

ANTHONY I MBESI: So at the tine,
then -- so after you had agreed to this nodified
mlestone, for the trains that did receive
provi si onal acceptance, were those, for all intents
and pur poses, conpleted by Alstom or was there
anything remaining for Alstomto do on those trains

once it got them back =from OLRTC?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no, it was -- it
was -- that's why it's also a provisional
accept ance because, if you renenber -- if you

remenber, at the beginning of our discussion, we
said that sone aspect of the |ight nmaintenance bay,
sone itemof -- the MSF was not conpleted, so we

conti nued the production, but sone of the train
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11 will have cone back inside -- inside Al stom
2] jurisdiction to be conpleted, so it -- it was well
3| known by OLRTC that it's a provisional acceptance.
4 The train is under the control of
5| OLRTC, but these trains still need to conme back to
6| Alstomat a certain point to do the retrofit
7| activity or to conplete what we were not able to do
8| that because this provisional acceptance was made
9| early in the -- inthe -- in the project, early for
10| me, when -- when | arrived. And so | think the
111 first one to be provisionally accepted was train
12| set 5, and so we are tal king maybe -- | don't know,
13 | maybe June, July 2017.
14 So yes, they knew that this train wll
151 have to go back at a certain point to Alstomto be
16 | conpleted: first in terns of a test and in terns of
171 retrofit.
18 ANTHONY | MBESI: So what testing, then,
19| would Al stomthen need to do for those
20 | provisionally accepted vehicl es?
21 ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, for sone of them
22| it was the testing, for exanple.
23 ANTHONY I MBESI: Ch, it was the testing
24| that you weren't able to do because of a |ack of
25

the availability of the MSF?
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ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, exactly. Yeah.
Sonme water test, sonme open point -- because we were
not able to conplete the -- the LMB test, this kind
of -- this kind of subject.

ANTHONY IMBESI: And so in doing it in
terns of the provisional acceptance and the trains
having to cone back to Alstomto finish the testing
and the retrofitting, did that inpact Al stonls
schedul e in any way?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yes, because we
realized soon that we woul d have sonme conflict
because Thal es needs the train to do the dynamc
PICO the Gty needs the train to do their test, |
guess; and we need to get this train back to
conplete the -- to conplete the train.

So -- like | say, at certain points,
you -- you accunul ate sone -- sone del ays, and you
have to -- you have to give priority to one of --
one of the -- of the player. So...

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so before you
had -- before Al stomand OLRTC had agreed to this
provi si onal acceptance franmework, how was it
supposed to work for the Gty of Otawa training
the operators? Wre they to do their training

after CLRTC had done final acceptance of the
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vehi cles, or was that ever contenplated to be done
prior to that period of tine?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Honestly, it was not
sonet hing communi cated to Alstomat that tinme. So
what we under stood based on the contract is,
effectively, you deliver the 32 trains, and
everybody will start what we have to do. So you do
the -- at 9 mlestone -- | don't renenber -- yes, |
think it's Mlestone 9, so we do that. And after
that, the City needs to train the guys. Thales
need to do their tests and nmaybe -- maybe sonet hi ng
else, | don't know, but it was the original -- the
original contract was based on this.

ANTHONY | MBESI: The original contract
was Alstomfinishes it, where it delivers all the
trains and everyone el se does what they need to do
I n respect of testing and training?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Exactly.

ANTHONY | MBESI: GCkay. Did that have
any inpact on the vehicles, doing it that way? You
know, did it |lead to nore extensive retrofit work
after they cane back to Al stonf

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, because -- yes,
because we had sone issues in ternms of -- the train

provi sionally accepted was no nore under the
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managenent of Alstom And so we realize quickly
that doing the dynamc PICO test, Sienens also did
sone changes, again, in the interface. They did
sone changes in the static PICO test.

| f you renenber, the static PICO test
I's under the responsibility of Alstom So if you
change the static PICO test, what does it nmean for
Al ston? Because we did the static PICOtest at a
certain point, so Thales did sone nodification |like
this.

And we -- so we had a lot of issues in
ternms of configuration. W delivered -- we
delivered the train at a certain configuration -
Configuration X, for exanple - and when we received
back the train, we -- we realized that sonetines
the configuration had changed from Thal es, because
It was the main systemused by -- used for the
train, and it was -- it was al so a subject of
di scussion with CLRT because we realized that we
start to change equi pnent inside the train with --
we start to change sonme cabling inside their
system so the configuration changed a | ot.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so just during the
evi dence that you've just given, | just want to

clarify for the record, you had nentioned Sienens
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at one point, but was that a reference to Thal es?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Excuse ne, yes. Excuse
me, yes. So Thales, sorry.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. No, that's
certainly fine.

And so in nmaking those certain changes
that you just had indicated that Thal es nade, did
that require Alstomto redo any of the testing that
it had al ready done previously?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yeah. Yes, yes, for
sure, yes. Yeah. W did, again, sone static PICO
test because the configuration changed, so -- and
we did again sone of the tests, to be sure that the
systemwas still working properly.

ANTHONY | MBESI: So that woul d have had
a further inpact, then, on Al stonis schedul e?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Again, inpact on
the -- on schedule. And, again, we sent letters to
OLRTC to informthemofficially that, first, for
us, it was not possible to change the configuration
| i ke this, because it's a provisional acceptance.

At a certain point, we'll have to do a final
acceptance. And to do a final acceptance, we need
to have a cl ear understanding of the configuration

of -- of the train, in -- configuration and al so
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the serial nunber of each equipnent and the
revi sion of each equi pnent.

So we sent thema letter for that,
and -- to stop, in fact, to do this change of if
you do sone change, inform-- informus, inform
Alstom And the second point was the
(i ndi scerni ble), again, yes, because we needed --
we needed nore tine to redo sone of the tests.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so turning back,
then, to sonething that | believe you touched on
earlier, was Alstoms work delayed in any way by
deci si onmaki ng on the part of the Cty?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Before | cane, it was
linked -- nostly linked to the design. And when |
was -- when | was here, it was nostly linked to the
radi o and, again, the interface. The interface was
not frozen on the radio, so we -- we start --
agai n, because we needed to -- to start the
production, so we start with the radio that they
were thinking, at that tinme, to use. And finally
t hey changed their m nd, they changed the radio,
and they changed the interfaces of the radio.

And so it's -- it's created, again,
sone retrofits because we needed to change the

I nterface again, the cabling and so on. And we ask
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for that also variation order to OLRTC

ANTHONY I MBESI: And did the fact that
Alstom in this case, didn't have a direct
contractual relationship wwth the ower as you had
you woul d have, for exanple, in the Montreal
project that you were tal king about, did that have
an inpact on the Gty's deliverables of these
design decisions that it had to nake?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Well, for ne, yes.

Yes. Cearly. Because when you have direct
contact, you know the priority, so you wll push
your -- you will push your supplier, because you
know that it's a huge inpact. Going through OLRTC,
| don't know, as a contractor for OLRTC with the
Cty, but I"'mpretty sure that we had a | ot of
other issues with the Cty.

And maybe -- and | say "nmaybe," but
maybe the radio was not a priority for them and
they prefer at that tine -- and this is normal.
|"mnot saying that it's not normal. But in terns
of priority for them it was maybe nore inportant
to focus on other aspects than focus on the radio,
because for them their contract delivers a radio,
It's maybe sonething smaller. But for us, it was

not -- again, it was an interface, so it was not so
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small. That's why sonetines it's obvious better
for us to deal directly with the subsupplier,
especi ally when you have direct inpacts like this.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Because that all ows
you to focus the issues on things that you require
as opposed to having to deal with OLRTC as the
I ntegrator trying to manage those requests?

ARNAUD LACAZE: In fact, they should
have soneone focussing on this -- on this subject,
on this integration.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Oh, OLRTC shoul d have
soneone focussed on this question?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Focussed on this
guestion, yes. On these interfaces clearly wth
us, yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And as we tal ked about
before, you didn't feel that that was there or that
was sufficient?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, for -- without a

person with enough experience, no, it was not

sufficient. It was not sufficient because we -- we
were facing to this issue in the end wth -- again,
It was a huge -- a huge retrofit on this -- on this
subj ect .

ANTHONY IMBESI: So in terns, then,
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of -- of Alstoms scheduling, | know that you had
spoken about the Version 5, V5 schedule that was in
pl ace just prior to your arrival at the project;
correct?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yeah.

ANTHONY I MBESI: And so foll ow ng your
I nvol venent, were you dealing wwth OLRTC i n respect
of -- of scheduling issues?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Oh, yes, yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And --

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, it was -- it was
one of -- yes, it's part of the activity of the
project director to -- toinform-- to informthe

custoner of delays or potential delays, of issues,

how we can mtigate them and when -- if it's not
possible, to -- to clearly tell them okay, we have
an issue; hereis are -- is areschedule, so let's
work together with -- to solve it.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so during your
time on the project, were there schedul e di sputes?
Were there circunstances where, for exanple,
refusals to the extensions where the position of
CLRTC or other issues that led to disputes wth
respect to scheduling?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Every nonth.
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1 ANTHONY I MBESI: |'msorry?
2 ARNAUD LACAZE: Every nonth. Every
3| nmonth, they -- they never recognize -- they never
4| recogni zed at all that -- the fact that we were
5| facing sone issues. And, again, sone issues |linked
6 to Alstom And | will be honest, we -- we were
7| facing sone issues, but we were also facing sone
8| issues with other subsupplier. So if -- if you do
91 inventory of all these issues, every nonth, we -- |
10 | advi sed themthat we had sonme issues that we
11| needed -- we needed to have access to the track,
12| for exanple; we needed to have a -- to have access
13| to sone parts of the LMB, that we needed sone
141 information, and yes, they always refused to
151 di scuss about any inpact or any delays. So...
16 ANTHONY | MBESI: And so in terns of the
171 delay, so you had just nentioned that there were
18 | sone issues with sone of your sub-subsuppliers. |
191 take it that there were delays in obtaining parts
20| and materials and things of that nature?
21 ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yeah.
22 ANTHONY | MBESI: So those -- those
23 | woul d have been delays that were Al stoms
24 | responsibility, then; right?
25

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes, yeah.
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ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. And then you're
also telling ne that, through everything you were
telling ne today, you were also facing del ays that
Al stom bel i eved were the responsibility of OLRTC?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes.

ANTHONY I MBESI: And that in dealing
with OLRTC and t hese ongoi ng schedul i ng
di scussi ons, you were never granted any further

extensi ons beyond that finalized V5 schedul e?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, | -- | -- | suggest
themof -- | don't renenber, V7, V9 schedul e, but
based on the reality of -- on -- of the project,

and the reality is delays from Al stom and del ays
from OLRTC or Thales or -- or the other one.

W were -- | did -- we did what we are
supposed to do, so to explain to our custoner, This
Is the situation of the project; this is where we
can mtigate; this is what we can do, and sonetines
this is where we wll not be able to -- to
mtigate. So at the end, we will have X weeks,
nont hs of del ay.

So this is what we did every nonth with
them Sonetines dedicated neeting -- | requested a
dedi cating neeting on the schedule with themto

informthemof the situation and to also -- to al so
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receive fromthem-- try to receive fromthem al so
the reality of the infrastructure, because you
cannot have 32 trains in March of 2018 if the
I nfrastructure is not here, so it nmake no sense.

So that's why you need this
col l aboration. You need this discussion. O
course you will have sonme contractual --
contractual dispute, okay, at a certain point, but
at |l east you need to have this transparency and
col | aborati on when -- with your suppliers, you need
to clearly indicate all the input of the equation
if you -- if you want to have sonething realistic.
O herwi se, you wll continue to push the date,
sayi ng, okay, you need to keep that date, but if
you cannot -- if your supplier is not able to reach
t hese dates, it nmakes no sense. And at a
certain -- at a certain point, we arrived at this
contradiction with them

ANTHONY | MBESI: Sorry, a contradiction
I n when you were tal ki ng about del ayed
I nfrastructure?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Contradiction, yes.
Contradi ction where we knew that the infrastructure
was not here, it was not ready, and the fact that

they still wanted to -- to have all the 32
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trains -- | don't renmenber. | think it was in
February or March 2018, around these dates. Around
the original -- the V5 schedule. So...

ANTHONY | MBESI: And was there a
certain point, then, when A stom would have cone to
understand that the original revenue service
availability date of May of 2018 wouldn't be net?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. Yes.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And how did that
factor into the discussions with OLRTC on

schedul i ng?

ARNAUD LACAZE: It was -- it was a
start for us. It's -- we are -- we are -- in the
| ndustry, we know the busi ness, so we know -- we

know what i s needed to make infrastructure, to make

a system train operational. So at a certain
point, we tried -- it's -- it was our custoner
al so, so you cannot -- you cannot go like this in

front of them but we tried to make themreali ze
that we knew -- we knew the reality of the
si tuation.

ANTHONY | MBESI: During your tinme on
the project, did you or anyone at Al stom have any
know edge about any schedul i ng extensions that were

granted to Thal es?
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ARNAUD LACAZE: To Thal es, no, no, no.
ANTHONY IMBESI: So I'd just like to
turn back to speaking about the MSF, the
mai nt enance and storage facility in particul ar.
Leaving aside the issues with access that we'd
al ready tal ked about, how did you view the
suitability of the MSF for the assenbly of LRVs?
ARNAUD LACAZE: Suitability, you nean

effective -- the -- the fact that it was well --
well-built for -- for that?
ANTHONY | MBESI: Well, | guess what I'm

driving at is, so leaving aside all the issues with
the fact that you didn't have access to certain
areas that you say were necessary, was it a

sui tabl e place to be assenbling LRVs, and how does
It conpare to Alstonis other facilities?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no, no, it was --
honestly, | was inpressed when | arrived in
Septenber to -- of this facility. It -- it was --
| don't like to use this termnology, but it's --
because it's a software term nol ogy, the agility,
but it was very well think [sic] in terns of flow,
In terns of production.

Wth -- with the tine, with ny

I ndustrial manager, we -- the flow of production
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was good except to do the water test, we needed to
go outside the production line and to go back.
Because the water test was outside the production
line, so it was -- it was a way of thinking of

| nprovenent for future -- a future contract, for
exanple, to rethink the localization of the water

bay, the water test in the production |ine.

O herwise, it's -- honestly, it's a --
It's a very good -- very good footprint. It's --
everything is -- is well organized, and it's

sufficient. So...

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay.

ARNAUD LACAZE: Except this inprovenent
that -- | don't know what they did with the new
contract, but yes, it was sonething that we were
t hi nki ng.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Was there sufficient
space or capacity at the MSF to perform both the
retrofit work and the serial production?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, no, no, no.

It's -- in ternms of -- in ternms of flow of
production, it was good. If you have to add -- if
you have to add a retrofit line, it was -- it was
not fit to have -- to have the retrofit line. So
yes, it was -- it was very -- it was very difficult
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to find -- to find a place to be able to do
retrofit. That's why we ask OLRTC to use the
storage bay outside to effectively park sone of the
trains here, to be able to do sone retrofit.

So we received the authorization of
OLRTC to use one or two line - | don't renenber -
and went -- a scaffold, we put sone infrastructure
outside, to be able to do the retrofit outside --
out si de the production |line inside.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so with the MSF
and the project being in Gtawa, did Al stom have
any staffing challenges? Was it difficult to -- to
obtain the sufficient nunber of enployees or
sufficient nunber of qualified enpl oyees for the
pr oj ect ?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, we had -- we had
people comng fromdifferent -- different sites all
over the world in terns of expertise. And |ocally,
we -- we were -- we worked with a conpany -- |
don't renmenber the nane of this conpany, but this
conpany was able to provide us -- we had a contract
with them and they were able to provide nmanpower
to us in terns of production, in terns of quality
and testing. So no, it -- it has never been an

I ssue in terns of staffing.
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ANTHONY | MBESI: And in terns of the
Canadi an content requirenents or the vehicles which
you touched on at the start of the interview today,
did those requirenents pose any challenges to
Al st onf

ARNAUD LACAZE: It's at -- yes. It's

mainly -- | would say mainly at the beginning,
mai nly, | guess, before | cane on this project
because, at that tine, you were -- it was nmandatory

to build -- to build our supply chain and to build

our new supplier, but we had a -- we had a team a
sourcing teamand an industrial teamto build -- to
build -- to build this local frane with us, so...

ANTHONY | MBESI: So did you feel that

t hose --

ARNAUD LACAZE: When | was here, it was
not sonething -- it was behind ne. It was nost --
during ny tinme, it was nost -- sone production
| ssues, but it's -- | wuld say it's normal. It's
normal. Normal that -- it's not because the

conpany was in Canada, if you understand what |
nean. It's -- it was nore -- it was nore a
production issue of naybe sone of the supplier.

The way -- the fact to develop a local supplier, it

was -- It was before ne.
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ANTHONY | MBESI: Ckay. So you didn't
see any real inpacts, then, on the project as a
result of the Canadi an content requirenent?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, because -- when |
arrived, the footprint was already here, so all the
supplier was -- were already identified, and -- and
they -- they started the production when | arrived.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so when you |l eft
the -- the project, then, in or around Cctober of
2018, what was the status of the retrofit canpaign
t hat was ongoi ng?

ARNAUD LACAZE: The retrofit, |ike, was
ongoing. W -- | renenber, at that tine, we had --
we had a daily standup neeting with OLRTC, Thal es,
everybody. W have -- every day at 4, we had sone
standup neeting to explain the situation, but also
to explain the -- the global situation of the
proj ect.

And after that, we had weekly detail ed
neeting in terns of schedule wth OLRTC. So we
devel oped effectively -- train by train, we
devel oped all of the retrofit activities to be
performed with a detailed schedule, and we
follow -- we follow that on a regular basis with

CLRTC. And then we had an agreenent in terns of
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time frame, in terns of inplenentation, and in
ternms of priority.

Because, once again, the train was --
nost of the train were already provisionally
accepted, and so these trains were used by Thal es
or they were used by the CGty, so we had a schedul e
with OLRTC, saying, Ckay, we can use this train, |
don't know, 2 days this week to do the retrofit.

So we planned everything |like this.

ANTHONY I MBESI: And so in ternms of the
agreenent that you just nentioned for the tineline
and the priority to performsone of this work, at
the tinme that you left, was Al stom on schedul e as
agreed upon?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Honestly, | think so,
yes. | -- | didn't -- | didn't renmenber a big new
negotiation on this one.

ANTHONY | MBESI:  And - -

ARNAUD LACAZE: Honestly, | don't
remenber. | remenber that we -- we set sone
priorities; we set the schedule. | don't -- |
don't renenber any big issues.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And then in terns of
the testing and comm ssioning of the system overall

and the LRVs, what was the status of that when you
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left in October of 20187

ARNAUD LACAZE: For ne, it was -- we
say just the beginning because when | left, | think
we had access just a couple of nonths or weeks
before to the full main line, to the full line. So
yes, during -- during ny period, we were able to do
sonme tests on the 2 kilonetres of tracks. W were
able, step by step, to have access to the tunnel,
for exanpl e.

But, really, | think when | left it was
only the beginning of the test on the full |ine,
wth the full Thal es system operational, with the
full system operational in terns of catenary, in
terms of radios, so it was really the begi nning
of -- | would say the full integrated system at
that tinme. So...

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. So by Cctober
'18, then, the full integration of everything
comng together on the full line, that was sort of
j ust begi nni ng?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. From ny point of

view, it was really the beginning. Before that, it

was sone sporadic validation -- again, |I'mtalKking
here -- |'mnot tal king anynore about the rolling
stock alone. I1'mtalking about the full system
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rolling stock and everything around the rolling
st ock.

Before that, we were able to do sone
touch point, but yes, at -- fromwhat | renenber,
at that tinme, in fall 2018, it was really the
begi nni ng of, okay, let's validate now the full
system

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. And so as part
of the Conm ssion's mandate, we are tasked with
I nvestigating the comercial and techni cal
circunstances that led to the breakdowns and
derail ments that ultimtely occurred on the system

Besi des everything that we've gone over
today, is there anything else that you feel we
haven't touched upon that's relevant to that
mandat e?

ARNAUD LACAZE: No, | think -- | think
|'ve -- | think we spoke about everything | did
during nmy mandate at that tine, yeah.

ANTHONY | MBESI: And so also as part of
the Comm ssioner's role, he's tasked wth making
recommendations in furtherance of that mandate. |Is
there anything that cones to mnd in terns of
recommendati ons that you woul d propose in terns of

addressing these types of situations?
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ARNAUD LACAZE: The derailnent, you
mean, or?

ANTHONY | MBESI:  Yeah, the
ci rcunstances that led to the breakdowns and
derail nents. |Is there anything that cones to m nd
In terns of recommendati ons on how to change things
or to do anythi ng goi ng forward?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Honestly, no. |

don't -- | -- and honestly, | don't know this --
this subject. I'mnot -- I"'mnot living in OQtawa,
so... | cannot -- | cannot speak about that or

gi ve any reconmmendation on this subject, honestly.

ANTHONY | MBESI: kay. Thank you.

Ms. Boghasi an, did you have any
foll owup questions for -- for M. Lacaze?

TARA BOGHOSI AN: | don't.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Okay. M. Valo, did
you have any questions for M. Lacaze?

M CHAEL VALO | have just one -- one
question, if | could.

M. Lacaze, you were explaining earlier
to M. I|Inbesi the consequences of changes to, for
exanpl e, the P25 radi o or Thal es changes t hat
required -- | think you had said an addition of a

cabl e or changes to cabling in the vehicles. [|'m
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wondering if you could just explain, for the
record, what that involves. What's the work

I nvol ved, the extent of the work involved in nmaking
a change to the cabling in the cars?

ARNAUD LACAZE: Yes. |In fact, when you
have these kind of -- of changes, you need to --
first, to bring, again, your technical teamto
rethink -- to see, effectively, what Thal es's new
interface is. So the technical teamneed to
reestablish, to rethink about the interfaces, to
under stand, effectively, what are the new
I nterfaces first.

Following that -- so we need to have an
agreenent with the subsupplier about these new
I nterfaces, freeze these new interfaces, and
following that go back to the industrial team and
to the production teamto clearly understand how
t hese changes would be able to be inplenented in
terns of production and in terns of the sequence in
t he producti on.

So you woul d understand that it's --
it's like a new product, in fact, that you have to
restart. You have to -- you have to redo this V
cycle that I was explaining at the begi nning. You

need to redo the design, the inplenentation of this
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design, and revalidate this design. So you need to
redo this V cycle.

And when it's at the beginning of the
project, we do understand that, okay, it's not a
bi g deal, but when you have a production line, we
have everybody focussing on the suppliers, the
production, and so on, it's a huge inpact.

| f you need to add sone cable, for
exanple, it neans you need to add sone connectors,
so you have to change your bill of material. You
have to reestablish a new purchase order. You have
to find sone supplier. So it's a huge -- it's
huge, huge new project or new tasks that you have
to do, or to redo nost of the tine.

M CHAEL VALO Ckay. Thank you,
M. Lacaze. | appreciate that. No other
guesti ons.

ANTHONY | MBESI: Gkay. Thank vyou,
M. Lacaze. W can go off record.
-- Concluded at 4:40 p. m
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REPORTER S CERTI FI CATE

|, JOANNE A. LAWRENCE, Regi stered
Pr of essi onal Reporter, certify;

That the foregoing proceedi ngs were
taken before ne at the tinme and place therein set
forth, at which tinme the witness was put under oath
by me;

That the testinony of the w tness
and all objections nade at the tinme of the
exam nati on were recorded stenographically by ne
and were thereafter transcribed;

That the foregoing is a true and

correct transcript of ny shorthand notes so taken.

Dated this 9th day of June, 2022.

Lo doee

NEESONS, A VERI TEXT COMPANY
PER. JOANNE LAWRENCE, RPR, CSR
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 01  -- Upon commencing at 2:00 p.m.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Good afternoon,

 03  Mr. Lacaze.  As I mentioned, my name is Anthony

 04  Imbesi.  I'm here with my colleague, Ms. Boghosian,

 05  from -- counsel for the Commission.  So I'll start

 06  by reading into the record the parameters of

 07  today's interview and then we can begin.

 08              So the purpose of today's interview is

 09  to obtain your evidence under oath or solemn

 10  declaration for use at the Commission's public

 11  hearings.  This will be a collaborative interview

 12  such that my co-counsel, Ms. Boghosian, may

 13  intervene to ask certain questions.  If time

 14  permits, your counsel may also ask follow-up

 15  questions at the end of this interview.

 16              This interview is being transcribed,

 17  and the Commission intends to enter this transcript

 18  into evidence at the Commission's public hearings,

 19  either at the hearings or by way of a procedural

 20  order before the hearings commence.

 21              The transcript will be posted to the

 22  Commission's public website, along with any

 23  corrections made to it, after it is entered into

 24  evidence.

 25              The transcript, along with any
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 01  corrections later made to it, will be shared with

 02  the Commission's participants and their counsel on

 03  a confidential basis before being entered into

 04  evidence.  You will be given the opportunity to

 05  review your transcript and correct any typos or

 06  other errors before the transcript is shared with

 07  the participants or entered into evidence.  Any

 08  non-typographical corrections made will be appended

 09  to the transcript.

 10              Pursuant to Section 33(6) of the Public

 11  Inquiries Act (2009):  (As read)

 12                   "A witness at an inquiry shall

 13              be deemed to have objected to answer

 14              any question asked of him or her

 15              upon the ground that his or her

 16              answer may tend to incriminate the

 17              witness or may tend to establish his

 18              or her liability to civil

 19              proceedings at the instance of the

 20              Crown or of any person, and no

 21              answer given by a witness at any

 22              inquiry shall be used or be

 23              receivable in evidence against him

 24              or her in any trial or other

 25              proceedings against him or her
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 01              thereafter taking place, other than

 02              a prosecution for perjury in giving

 03              such evidence."

 04  As required by Section 33(7) of that act, you are

 05  hereby advised that you have the right to object to

 06  answer any question under Section 5 of the Canada

 07  Evidence Act.

 08              So with that out of the way, perhaps

 09  I'll just get you to begin.  If you could describe

 10  for us your involvement in Stage 1 of Ottawa's LRT.

 11              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Okay.  So I was working

 12  at that time for Alstom.  I started -- I was

 13  working as the project director here in Montreal,

 14  on the metro subway consortium with Bombardier at

 15  that time.  And in September 2016, I joined Ottawa

 16  to take the role of the project director for the

 17  LRV in Ottawa.  I spent mostly 2 years and a half

 18  until October 2018 on this project.  So -- and I

 19  was in charge of this project at that time.

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And I'm sorry,

 21  did you say that -- was your role based in Ottawa,

 22  or did you split your time between Montreal and

 23  Ottawa?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I split my time -- my

 25  time was split between Ottawa and Montreal.  I -- I
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 01  kept to be based here in Montreal, but I spent, at

 02  that time, 4 to -- depends.  Approximately 4 days a

 03  week in Ottawa.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Thank you.  And

 05  I -- I don't have a CV or a résumé for you, but

 06  perhaps I could get you to take us through your

 07  prior experience.

 08              Do I understand that you're an

 09  engineer?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  I did an

 11  engineering school in France.  It's an aeronautic

 12  school.  So I received my degree in 1988 in France.

 13  I start -- I start in an -- in an engineering

 14  company doing 2 years working -- working for

 15  Alstom.  I started as an engineer for -- for this

 16  company, and in 2001, I was hired by Alstom, and I

 17  start my career at Alstom.  I -- I spent -- I'd

 18  work on several project as an engineer manager or

 19  technical manager.  And then when I came here in

 20  Canada in 2007, I start to be a project and

 21  program -- program manager in -- in different

 22  subjects for -- for Alstom.  I spent this time in

 23  Alstom, and I left in October 2018.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And do I understand

 25  now you're with VIA Rail?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  And now, I am a VP at

 02  VIA Rail, yes.

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So if you could

 04  just take us through, just at a fairly high level,

 05  then, after you came to Canada with Alstom, what

 06  was the nature of your experience with Alstom?  I

 07  think you mentioned a few of roles that you held,

 08  but could you just explain the roles you had with

 09  rolling stock with Alstom in Canada in your last

 10  few projects.

 11              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I start -- I start my

 12  career at Belfort.  So Belfort is a city in France

 13  that specializes in rolling stock.  So I start -- I

 14  start in 1988 in my career directly with rolling

 15  stock.  So I worked on several -- several

 16  locomotive, several train projects with -- with

 17  them during that time, as a system engineer, and

 18  after that as a technical manager on this -- on

 19  this train.

 20              And following that, I wanted to have

 21  more expertise in some systems, so I moved to

 22  another -- another company -- the same company, but

 23  another city.  The city is Lyon, in France.  And

 24  this city is specialized in electronic parts, so I

 25  spent -- I spent several years in what we call the
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 01  command and control of the train, the electronic

 02  system and -- and software.  So I spent time -- I

 03  spent several -- several years in this -- in this

 04  area.  Same thing in different international,

 05  international projects.

 06              And finally, when I moved here in

 07  Montreal because we -- at that time, Alstom bought

 08  a sister company here, the sister company from --

 09  from Lyon, so they ask me to move here in Montreal

 10  to help with startup to become an Alstom company.

 11  So I spent -- I spent 3 years, I guess, or 3 or

 12  4 years in this company doing the same thing,

 13  electronic and software for -- for systems all

 14  around the world.

 15              And I wanted to go back to rolling

 16  stock at a certain point, after -- after receiving

 17  this kind of expertise.  And so I start -- I came

 18  back here in Montreal with the metro, with the Azur

 19  Metro as a project manager and then as a project

 20  director for the metro.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And in terms of the --

 22  you'd mentioned that you had some experience

 23  doing -- dealing with the electronics and the

 24  software.  Is that in respect of the rolling stock,

 25  or is that in -- as I understand, Alstom has
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 01  signalling division as well?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's -- it's mainly

 03  rolling stock.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Oh, okay.

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The division -- the

 06  division, when I was in Lyon, it was all what we

 07  call wayside or CBTC or ATC system, we call it the

 08  ERTMS in Europe.  And yes, I did some -- I did

 09  some projects on the -- on this subject, but mainly

 10  always focussed on rolling stock.  It was the

 11  main -- if you want, the main line or the -- yes,

 12  my main motivation has always been rolling stock,

 13  so...

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And when you've

 15  worked on rolling stock in other projects and

 16  particularly the last few that you had mentioned,

 17  did any of those involve integrating the rolling

 18  stock with a -- a communications -- a train control

 19  system that wasn't an Alstom proprietary system?

 20              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.  On the -- on

 21  the subway here, Ansaldo is -- Ansaldo is the

 22  provider of the system.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Who, sorry?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Ansaldo.  So I used

 25  to -- but it's somewhat common to -- to not always
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 01  have the system of the rolling stock company, I

 02  would say, integrated.  So sometimes, it was full

 03  Alstom -- Alstom systems.  And sometimes, like

 04  here, the subway in Montreal, for example, rolling

 05  stock was a mix of Bombardier and Alstom, and this

 06  time was a third one, so Ansaldo.

 07              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And then during

 08  those projects, then, would you have had had

 09  involvement in the integration components of --

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  -- the signalling

 12  system?  Yes?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, because even if

 14  it's a -- it's a third company, the rolling

 15  stock -- the rolling stock is -- is -- is part of

 16  the integration.  We were part of the integration

 17  because we had direct contracts with -- with this

 18  company.  I don't know if you're -- it's -- it was

 19  a direct link between Alstom and Ansaldo, for

 20  example.  It was not -- it was not through

 21  Bombardier, for example.  The -- the STM, so the --

 22  the company of Montreal use Ansaldo because the

 23  whole system was Ansaldo, but the contract was

 24  under the Alstom responsibility.  It was -- it was

 25  not something -- some -- it was not for a third
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 01  company framework.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And, sorry, so

 03  just so -- just so I understand that, then, was it

 04  Alstom that had a contract directly with STM, or

 05  was your contract with Ansaldo, and who then had a

 06  contract with STM?

 07              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.  We had a direct

 08  contract with -- through the consortium with STM,

 09  but the contract with Ansaldo was directly between

 10  Alstom and Ansaldo.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I see.  Okay.  And so

 12  that --

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Ansaldo -- Ansaldo had

 14  no -- had no contact with STM.

 15              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So they were a

 16  subcontractor to you on that, to Alstom on that

 17  project?

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.  And we used

 19  this company because the company was already

 20  providing the -- the system to -- to the existing

 21  train for STM.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in your

 23  experience on these past projects, is it typical

 24  that these are the arrangements, that Alstom is the

 25  one who enters into the contract with the train
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 01  control supplier?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yeah.

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Have you ever worked

 04  on a project other than Ottawa where that wasn't

 05  the case?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.

 07              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so turning

 08  then to your role with Ottawa's LRT project, you'd

 09  mentioned you were a project director from

 10  September 2016 to October 2018.  Could you just

 11  explain for me what your role was as project

 12  director.  What were your responsibilities, at a

 13  high level?

 14              ARNAUD LACAZE:  High level.  I -- I

 15  will reuse a typical -- a typical acronym from

 16  Alstom is -- the project director is responsible of

 17  the QCD: the quality, the cost, and the delays, if

 18  any.  So we need -- we are here to -- to make

 19  working all the team together, to be able -- to be

 20  sure at the end to have the -- to have a project

 21  with a good level of quality, on time, and under

 22  the budget -- and under the budget that we -- that

 23  we have at the beginning of the project.

 24              So the main role is that, is to -- to

 25  be able to always be inside this triangle of --
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 01  find a good balance between all of them and be able

 02  to mitigate all the issues, to make the people

 03  working all together, according to our contract.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so when you

 05  were the project director for this project, were

 06  you the -- you were the leader of Alstom in respect

 07  of this project?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yeah.  Yes.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And who was in

 10  the position of project director immediately before

 11  you?  Was that Nadia Zaari?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  It was Nadia,

 13  yes.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So I'd like to

 15  first start by speaking to you about the Citadis

 16  Spirit in particular.  The Citadis Spirit, was that

 17  the first Citadis Spirit was on the Ottawa LRT

 18  Stage 1?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was the first --

 20  yes.  Citadis Spirit was the first in North

 21  America, yes.  It's -- this LRV exists in Europe

 22  and in other countries, and -- but it was the first

 23  time that we deployed, at that time, what we called

 24  the Spirit, the Citadis Spirit in North America,

 25  yes.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So is -- is there a

 02  Citadis Spirit model that exists elsewhere outside

 03  of North America?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I would say it's

 05  adaptation.  It's -- the base exists, but it has

 06  been adapted to -- to the reality of the North

 07  America -- American market, for -- for sure.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So -- but the -- just

 09  so I understand, the LRVs that do exist, the

 10  Citadis LRVs in Europe, for example, are any of

 11  them called the Citadis Spirit, or is the Spirit

 12  what the modified version is called in North

 13  America?

 14              ARNAUD LACAZE:  If I remember well --

 15  and honestly, I don't remember exactly, but I

 16  think -- I think the Spirit is the name of the

 17  North America.  Because the Spirit -- if I remember

 18  well, it's a mix of what we called the -- the

 19  tramway in Europe and what we call a tram train.

 20  So the tram train is a tramway, able to go at

 21  higher speed is a tramway, if you want to be able

 22  to do a larger distance, like -- like -- like VIA

 23  Rail in Ottawa.  So the Citadis, if I remember

 24  well, is a mix of these two -- of these two

 25  systems.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And sorry, if

 02  you could just explain that for me again.  So

 03  you've got the tram on the one side - which is,

 04  you've just explained, that's the one that's

 05  typically designed to go greater differences?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, the tram -- what we

 07  call the tram or tramway is the rolling stock

 08  mostly dedicated to be in town, downtown.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I see.

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  We take the example of

 11  Paris, for example.  In Paris, we have tramway

 12  inside, and as soon as the tramway needs to go

 13  outside Paris, because it's a larger distances, we

 14  did some modification of this tramway.  And we

 15  don't call them anyway tramway - we call them tram

 16  train.

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Tram train.  Okay.

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's not a tram; it's

 19  not a train.  It's a mix.  Because -- because you

 20  have specific bogies, you are -- to be able to

 21  accelerate quickly and to stop also quickly.  So

 22  it's a -- it's a mix.

 23              So the Citadis is a mix of these -- of

 24  these two systems, I would say, and that's why it's

 25  specifically developed for the -- for the North
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 01  American markets.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so are the

 03  European Citadis models, are -- are those what you

 04  would call tram trains as well?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.

 07              ARNAUD LACAZE:  From what I remember,

 08  honestly, maybe -- maybe the guy from Alstom -- the

 09  international guy from Alstom would be better than

 10  me.  But from what I remember, we are more like a

 11  tram train -- tram train.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Yeah, no, and I'm just

 13  asking just to the best of your knowledge.

 14              And so in terms, then, of modifications

 15  that were made to the Citadis to bring it to this

 16  project and to North America, do you have an

 17  understanding as to what the extent of some of

 18  those modifications would be?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It would be -- when I

 20  came, it was already done.  The design was

 21  mostly -- mostly -- mostly completed at that time.

 22  The modification was mainly a link to the -- what

 23  we call the winterization, so to adapt the project

 24  to the winter condition of -- of Canada.

 25              And after that, it was mainly -- due to
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 01  the Canadian -- Canadian content, it was also

 02  some -- some local supplier that we developed to be

 03  able to -- to be able to -- to have this -- this

 04  Canadian content accessible.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in terms of

 06  what I understand to be a few modifications that

 07  may have been made, was there a different bogie

 08  design for the Citadis Spirit as compared to the

 09  other Citadis models?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.  It's -- the bogie

 11  is -- the bogie is -- was -- was an existing bogie

 12  from -- from Europe.  So it was a transfer -- these

 13  bogies already exist, and it was made at Le Creusot

 14  in France, so we -- we had no modification on -- on

 15  this bogie.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So for the

 17  bogie, then --

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  We did a transfer -- we

 19  did a transfer of production from France to --

 20  to -- to here, to Sorel-Tracy in Quebec.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so would

 22  the only difference for the bogie, then, be the

 23  suppliers who supplied the components?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  From what I remember,

 25  yes.  It was mainly the suppliers that effectively
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 01  would try to develop the local supplier in -- in

 02  Canada but also in North America, to be able after

 03  that to reach the American market.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So was the

 05  decision to -- were there other supply chains that

 06  Alstom created for this project that differed from

 07  past projects?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  We create --

 09  because it's a -- it's a newer product, and it's a

 10  new -- it's a new contract, we developed a

 11  dedicated supply chain for this project.  For some

 12  of the parts, we were able to reuse -- because some

 13  of the parts are very -- are very dedicated, so

 14  we -- we had no choice to reuse what exists in

 15  Europe, for example, and for the other one, we

 16  developed -- we developed a new supply chain here

 17  in North America.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And did I

 19  understand you saying as well that Alstom was

 20  interested in developing new supply chains in North

 21  America --

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  -- for future

 24  projects?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, for sure.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  In terms of the

 02  existing -- and I call it the existing, but the

 03  Citadis model that was present in Europe before

 04  this project, were those 100 percent low floor

 05  vehicles as well?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  100 percent?  I don't

 07  know.  But yes, most -- it's -- it's clearly --

 08  clearly -- the floor is something -- that's why --

 09  since Alstom was -- or is, I don't know, but -- the

 10  number one in this kind of tramway because Alstom

 11  developed, clearly, these products, and I don't

 12  recall Bombardier or Siemens able to have a low

 13  floor or a low floor product, anyway, so --

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So that's a

 15  typical --

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  90 -- maybe 90.  I

 17  don't know if it's 100 percent, but most of -- most

 18  of the Citadis product or most of the tramway

 19  are -- are low floor, yes.

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So that's an

 21  existing feature of Alstom's LRVs.

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.  Alstom

 23  developed that at the beginning of year 20, 20

 24  or -- 2000, and yes, it's clearly a -- it's clearly

 25  a specific product for -- from Alstom, yes.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And you had mentioned

 02  some winterization as well when I had asked you

 03  about modifications.  What would have to have been

 04  modified to address winterization?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  On the train?

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  On the -- on the

 07  train, yes.

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, honestly, as I

 09  recall, the floors -- under the floor, we put

 10  some -- we put a heated -- heated floor.  We put

 11  some -- a lot of protection on the cables.  We

 12  put -- we put some system able to -- able to

 13  defreeze quickly -- quickly the windows, right,

 14  some -- yes, this kind of techniques.

 15              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So is it fair,

 16  then, that there weren't any sort of fundamental

 17  structural changes or anything to the vehicle?

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Structural, no.  Oh,

 19  no, no.  No, it's clearly -- it's mostly

 20  protection, protection around the existing -- the

 21  existing system, yes.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so to your

 23  knowledge, have Alstom vehicles ever been

 24  integrated with a Thales train control system

 25  before?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Before, yes.  Yes.  It

 02  was not the first time for us to work with Thales,

 03  yes.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Do you know offhand

 05  what projects those would have been?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.  No, I don't

 07  have -- I don't -- I don't -- I don't want to give

 08  you a name where I'm -- where I'm not 100 percent

 09  sure.  But as I said at the beginning, this is

 10  common, to integrate an external system like this -

 11  Thales, Ansaldo, you know, another one.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So given what

 13  you've told me about that and about Alstom's

 14  vehicles typically being low floor, to your

 15  knowledge, has a CBTC system been integrated with a

 16  low floor LRV in the past?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I don't know.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I'm sorry, did you say

 19  no or you didn't know the answer?

 20              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I said I don't know.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  You don't know.  Okay.

 22  Thank you.  That's fine.

 23              Would that -- would integrating a CBTC

 24  system with a low floor LRV, would that incorporate

 25  any challenges or hurdles to be overcome in the
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 01  process?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's -- normally,

 03  it's -- I would say it's a normal technical

 04  challenge.  You have to design the interface; you

 05  have to design the product; you have to design the

 06  interface; you have to -- you have to validate the

 07  interface, and then after that, you have to receive

 08  the equipment validated by your subsupplier or the

 09  third party and do the integration, and after that,

 10  validate that everything is working properly.  So

 11  you -- it's a normal technical V process, so when

 12  you do step by step, you do the integration, and

 13  then after that, you go -- you do the other side of

 14  the V cycle and you validate.

 15              So normally it's not -- it's a

 16  technical challenge because it's always a technical

 17  challenge, but normally it shouldn't -- shouldn't

 18  be so hard.  Is it more difficult than the LRV than

 19  on the other one?  Honestly, no.  It's -- as soon

 20  as you have the space, you have defined the space

 21  to put -- to put the equipment, you have an

 22  agreement with this company.  After that, you have

 23  to do -- to do -- to do the job.

 24              The main challenge, once again, is to

 25  do the rail integration of the system and to
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 01  clearly -- you have to -- if -- if Alstom was, for

 02  example, the -- in direct contact with Thales for

 03  this project, clearly we -- clearly, as I

 04  mentioned, we would have put someone dedicated with

 05  the integration because it's -- it's only a matter

 06  of integration.  So you have to have someone or a

 07  team dedicated to the integration, dedicated to the

 08  communication with the supplier, and after that,

 09  this team will be able to integrate that into the

 10  rolling stock.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Yeah, and I'll

 12  certainly take you through some of that integration

 13  in a little bit, but first, I'd like to turn to

 14  your -- the time when you first started on the

 15  project.  Could you just explain, to the best of

 16  your recollection, what was the state of the

 17  project when you arrived.

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  So when I arrived, I

 19  arrived in September 2016.  So when I arrive at

 20  Ottawa, in production, I think Train 7 -- train --

 21  yes, Train 7 was in production.  Train -- it was

 22  the beginning of the production of Train 7.  Train

 23  2 was at the beginning of the serial test - so, if

 24  you want, the production test - and Train 1 was

 25  still in Hornell, doing some test and doing some
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 01  tests with Thales at that time.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I'm sorry, in -- which

 03  LRV was it in Hornell?  Was that LRV 1?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  LRV 1, yes, was in

 05  Hornell doing some serial test and doing some what

 06  we call static PICO tests with Thales.

 07              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So LRV 27 was

 08  in production.  LRV --

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no, no.  LRV 7.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Oh, okay.  LRV 7.

 11  That makes more sense to me.  And you indicated

 12  that LRV 2 was at the beginning of serial testing?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yeah.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so when you

 15  arrived and you just explained the status of where

 16  things were, did you understand that to have been

 17  on schedule?  Behind schedule?  What was your

 18  understanding of how it was as compared to how it

 19  was originally planned?

 20              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, I arrived in

 21  September, but I did -- during the summer, I did --

 22  in July and -- and August, I did some -- some

 23  meeting with Nadia and OLRTC.  So Nadia was the --

 24  the project director before me, so we did some

 25  handover, which is something classical at Alstom.
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 01  So we did some meeting together at Hornell -- or in

 02  Ottawa and in Montreal to do some handover.

 03              And so I understood at that time that

 04  we just had signed a couple of months ago a new --

 05  a new baseline with OLRTC in terms of the -- in

 06  terms of schedule.  But when I came in in

 07  September, I realized that effectively we started

 08  to have some difficulties with the schedule, and we

 09  started to be behind the schedule.  So yes, I

 10  started with my team first to -- to see where was

 11  the difficulties and -- and started to see with

 12  OLRTC what was possible then to be done.  Because

 13  OLRT -- we realized also at that time that OLRTC

 14  had some issues to give us access to some of --

 15  areas at the MSF, for example, but also to the test

 16  track, for -- outside -- outside of the MSF to

 17  allow us to do the tests, yes.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so as I understand

 19  it, there had been a schedule agreed upon sometime

 20  in the few months prior to your arrival, and that

 21  was slightly behind by the time that you joined in

 22  the end of summer, early fall?

 23              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  We signed --

 24  Alstom signed, at that time, the V5 -- Revision V5

 25  of the schedule.  I don't recall exactly when.  It
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 01  may have been May or -- I don't know.  And in

 02  September, yes, I realized with my -- with my team

 03  that some of the activity started to be behind,

 04  yes.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And what activities

 06  were those in particular?  Was it assembly?

 07  Testing?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  At that time, it was

 09  mainly -- mainly the testing.  We still didn't have

 10  access to the test track, whereas train set number

 11  2 was ready to go outside.  And also access to MSF:

 12  We were able to have full access to the production

 13  line, but the -- during the production -- during

 14  the production process, you need, at a certain

 15  point, to put the LRV in what we call a test area

 16  to do some water tests, to be -- to be sure that

 17  there is no leakage inside the vehicles, and we

 18  also needed to go in a specific area to do some

 19  serial tests, so be sure that the train is ready,

 20  in terms of manufacturing, to start and to go

 21  outside.

 22              And when I arrive at that time, Alex

 23  L'Homme, the person in charge of the production in

 24  the site for -- for us, told me that, yes, we still

 25  didn't have access to that.  So I started to try to
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 01  mitigate -- to mitigate some activities with OLRTC

 02  to clearly be able to -- first, to continue the

 03  production and see what was possible to do.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So I have a

 05  question for you about the mitigation in a second,

 06  but just so I have it clearly, then, so you had

 07  access to the portion of the MSF where you were

 08  doing the assembly; correct?

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  The issue was that you

 11  did not have access, full access, a sufficient

 12  space in the MSF to do the static testing?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  To do static testing,

 14  weighting, so to put weights in the train, and

 15  water test bay, so to do the water -- to do the

 16  water test.  And this is --

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And --

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  -- test track, and

 19  after that, because train set 2 was dated to do the

 20  test to be able to go outside the MSF, to start the

 21  dynamic test on the -- on the main line.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And I'm sorry, did you

 23  say LRV 2 was ready to do the --

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  When I arrived, LRV 2

 25  was in the test bay, and it was doing some tests,
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 01  ready to go -- ready to go outside to start the

 02  dynamic test, yes.

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And then that's where

 04  you experienced issues with accessing the test

 05  track.

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  It was -- when I

 07  arrive, it was one of the main -- the first main

 08  actions that I made with OLRTC, trying to -- to

 09  find some way -- to find some mitigation to be able

 10  to start the test, first to have access to the

 11  entire MSF and quickly have access to the test

 12  track to start -- to start the tests, yes.

 13              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so at what point,

 14  then, did Alstom get access to the portions of the

 15  MSF that it required to perform the static testing

 16  and the other tests that you had mentioned?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  So for the static --

 18  for the static test, when we had access only to

 19  one -- one area instead of four, and we had the --

 20  and other functionality was not there.  So if I

 21  remember well, when we had -- we were not only to

 22  have power through the wayside.  We had no power

 23  from the catenary, which is -- which clearly --

 24  clearly -- we can progress with it, but at a

 25  certain point, you cannot do all the tests, for
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 01  sure.  And so we were not able to do all the tests,

 02  and we had no access to use those parts.

 03              So we were able to continue the tests,

 04  and this is what I mitigate with OLRTC, saying,

 05  Okay, let's continue with the test, but we will not

 06  be able to perform 100 percent of the tests.  So at

 07  a certain point, we'd have to find an agreement:

 08  first, to be paid; and secondly, to say, okay, the

 09  train is good enough to go outside to start the

 10  dynamic tests, but this train will have to come

 11  back anyway because we'll have to complete the

 12  tests at a certain point.  So it was a delay.

 13              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So --

 14              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I asked them to

 15  continue to work with -- to -- to allow us to have

 16  full access to the -- to the -- what we call the

 17  LMB, the test area at MSF, to have full access

 18  to -- and "full access" meaning with all the

 19  functionalities to allow us to complete all the

 20  functional tests.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So your

 22  mitigation plan, then, that you had mentioned, that

 23  was to perform all the testing that you could on

 24  the LRVs that were available.  And then was it then

 25  assumed that those were going to go out for dynamic
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 01  testing and then come back to perform the balance

 02  of the static testing and the weather testing and

 03  everything, the weight testing?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.  Because I

 05  cannot -- this -- this is the part of triangle that

 06  I mentioned to you, the Q, the C, and the D.  At a

 07  certain point, I need to -- I cannot stop the

 08  production, and I need to mitigate, but the -- this

 09  kind of mitigation clearly will have an impact on

 10  the schedule because if you have to -- if we find

 11  an agreement, so it's fair, but in the meantime, as

 12  we mention, we'll accumulate delays because the --

 13  the train will have to be back to complete the

 14  test.  So we are talking about train set 2, but

 15  it's a production line, so number 3, 4, 5 would

 16  arrive soon.

 17              So at a certain point, okay, mitigate,

 18  let's continue, but OLRTC also needed to understand

 19  that this train will have to come back at a certain

 20  point to complete -- to complete their activities.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And do you

 22  recall when you got full or sufficient access to

 23  everything in the MSF that was required to perform

 24  everything?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Full access, I don't
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 01  recall, and I think I left the project without

 02  accepting the full access.  So during 2 years and a

 03  half, I never had what I call full access.  But I

 04  was -- I was -- I don't remember exactly when, but

 05  I was able, maybe mid 2017, to have access at least

 06  to the -- to the LMB with a specific work permit.

 07  Because it was not under the Alstom property.  It

 08  was still under OLRTC property.  We put in place a

 09  work permit with them, to say, okay, we will -- we

 10  will have access -- we want to have access to this

 11  area between this time and this time to do the

 12  test, and if OLRTC wants to do some work to

 13  complete the building, they will have to do that

 14  after or before, or if you do it in the same time

 15  as us, we will have to stop the test.

 16              So we put this -- we put this work

 17  permit and the access with them to -- to be -- to

 18  be able to access to these -- to these specific

 19  areas.

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So the full

 21  construction wasn't completed, but it was

 22  sufficient for your purposes.  You just needed a

 23  work permit in order to access that portion because

 24  it was under OLRTC's control?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was -- yes.  And
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 01  because we needed to complete the -- we need to

 02  complete the work.  For example, the catenary was

 03  not functional at the beginning, so we -- we

 04  started all the tests with what we called the

 05  wayside, and OLRTC, it was mandatory for them to --

 06  to complete the work to be able -- for us to have

 07  access to the catenary.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so by May of

 09  2017 -- so leaving aside the issue that you needed

 10  a work permit in order to access it, was there

 11  anything that was still missing that was preventing

 12  you from -- from completing any of the work?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I don't -- I don't

 14  remember if it was in May of 2017, honestly, but it

 15  was somewhere in 2017 that we were able to -- to

 16  start.  I -- I remember that, at a certain time, we

 17  had access to -- to the catenary.  But following

 18  that, we had some issues with the power of the

 19  catenary.  In fact, the -- the power pack, or what

 20  I think they called that is OCS, was not sufficient

 21  in terms of power.  So each time that we started to

 22  test the train, the power was off.  So they needed

 23  also to redesign the OCS station to be able to --

 24  for us to complete the test.

 25              So yes, at a certain point, we had
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 01  access to the LMB, and we were able to start the

 02  test.  But quickly, we -- we realize and we said to

 03  OLRTC, you have an issue with your power because we

 04  are not able to complete the tests.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in talking

 06  about the different tests that were undertaken, the

 07  early tests that are done, the static tests that we

 08  were just talking about, are those referred to as

 09  validation tests?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I don't remember what

 11  we called that.  For me, it's what I call factory

 12  tests, or production tests.  So after -- each

 13  vehicle, after the production, after that

 14  production, we need to go in this area to do this

 15  phase of tests, to be sure that everything is

 16  capable, functionality is there.

 17              What I call validation -- and I don't

 18  know if it's the word used by Alstom, but what I

 19  call validation is the qualification of a specific

 20  system.  Typically, you develop the system in --

 21  during the design phase, and you qualify or you

 22  validate the system.  You validate it or you

 23  qualify the system once.  And you do -- you choose

 24  to do that on one, two, maybe three trains, to

 25  qualify, once for all, that the system is working.
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 01  You don't have to do that every time.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And would those be,

 03  like, component tests and type tests?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, it's type tests,

 05  yes, typically.  And for that -- you -- you need --

 06  yes, at the beginning, you need to have access to

 07  the LMB because we do in the LMB what we call

 08  static qualification or static type tests, and

 09  quickly after that, you need to go outside on

 10  the -- on the track to do type or qualification

 11  dynamic test.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So within the

 13  we'll call the validation or qualification phase,

 14  there is -- there is the type tests.  That includes

 15  both static and dynamic type testing?

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yeah.

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And then from there,

 18  do the LRVs, then, each move on to static and

 19  dynamic serial testing?

 20              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  We have to do --

 21  each train after that, we have to do both a static

 22  and a dynamic test, but it's a very short test

 23  because we consider that the qualification of the

 24  type tests have been done on the -- on one or two

 25  trains, depending on the project.  But after that,
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 01  each train will go in the LMB, doing the production

 02  test, static test, and a short dynamic run.

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so speaking

 04  just then about the validation or qualification

 05  testing, both the serial -- excuse me, the static

 06  and dynamic components, then, is that all to be

 07  completed before serial production begins?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  In the -- in an ideal

 09  world, yes.  Yes.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  In Ottawa, that is

 11  what was to happen?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, we did -- because

 13  we had some delays -- for me, we had some delays in

 14  the -- in the design phase with OLRTC and the City.

 15  Alstom accumulates some delays because OLRTC and

 16  the City were not able to define exactly -- exactly

 17  what they wanted, in terms of design and in terms

 18  of functionalities.

 19              But at the end, the commercial launch

 20  still remained the same.  So at a certain point,

 21  you are -- your schedule is -- is more and more

 22  short, so -- so you need -- you need to take the

 23  risk, and you need to do things about it.  So

 24  that's what we decided in -- after a discussion

 25  with OLRTC, of course, is to say, okay, let's start
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 01  the -- let's do the qualification and the

 02  validation test on LRV 1 and 2, but in the

 03  meantime, let's start the production.

 04              And you -- you understand the risk

 05  to -- to do that is we will have retrofit to be

 06  done after that, but at least you will have

 07  95 percent of the train already here.  So it's -- I

 08  would say it's common risk.  You would see that on

 09  every rolling stock project.  At a certain point,

 10  you need to do things in parallel, and then the

 11  main risk is the retrofit after that, for sure.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so -- and doing

 13  them in parallel as occurred in Ottawa, is that

 14  fairly typical on other projects, or was this a

 15  unique instance?

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no, it's typical.

 17  It's --

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  It's typical?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's typical because

 20  it's -- all the rolling stock project today in the

 21  world are very short in terms of -- between the

 22  start of the design phase and the commercial

 23  launch, that you need to do that.  You need to do

 24  that.

 25              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so speaking about
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 01  the retrofits, then, so did the majority of

 02  retrofits arise because of the need or the decision

 03  to conduct the validation qualification testing in

 04  parallel with serial production?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.  Not from my -- not

 06  from my point of view.

 07              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I'm sorry, your

 08  internet just cut out for -- for me.  If you could

 09  repeat that.

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's part of -- part

 11  of -- of the retrofit was due to -- to this -- this

 12  strategy, of course, but a lot of the retrofit was

 13  also due to -- to the design that was not fully --

 14  fully frozen.  And, again, the interface with

 15  Thales, for example, of the interface with the

 16  radio change until -- until the last minute.

 17              So -- so yes, the risk was taken with

 18  OLRTC to -- to get the train, and meaning that we

 19  needed to complete some tests.  But in the

 20  meantime, some interfaces was not yet completely

 21  frozen.  And typically -- typically, as the Thales

 22  interface and the radio interfaces was not -- was

 23  not fully frozen -- it was frozen for us, but we

 24  realized at the end that it was not fully frozen,

 25  and it was also a big part of the retrofit that we

�0038

 01  did before -- before I left.  Yeah.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So the -- the

 03  retrofits arose for both reasons, then.

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yes.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so in

 06  talking about the retrofits generally -- and I am

 07  going to take you into more detail with respect to

 08  the interface with Thales, but speaking more

 09  generally, then, when the retrofits were being

 10  dealt with, were those being dealt with at the same

 11  time as serial production of the LRVs?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  The idea is to --

 13  is to work with the configuration, so, in fact, you

 14  accumulate some return of experience of your train

 15  in tests, for example, so you do -- do one or two

 16  tests, you accumulate a ton of experience in terms

 17  of modification, improvement, or correction.  And

 18  following that, you do what we call a CCB, a

 19  control board with the -- the technical guy, your

 20  industrial guy, your team to define, effectively,

 21  when and starting at which LRV you will start to

 22  implement all this modification.

 23              And because you cannot run, run, run

 24  without the modification, you design a

 25  modification, and this batch of modification are
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 01  called configuration reviews.  And so you define --

 02  okay -- with your industrial guy, for example, we

 03  will apply the configuration B starting train

 04  number 8 in production, for example, meaning that

 05  from 1 to 7, you will have a dedicated team, a

 06  retrofit team, and this team will apply this

 07  modification directly in the field, so on the

 08  trains that are already outside the production

 09  line.  So it's -- we work like this, by batch of

 10  modification, or configuration, if you want.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So you -- you

 12  implement the change on the new LRVs going forward

 13  as they're being produced.  And then you have a

 14  dedicated team performing retrofits on the ones

 15  that have already been produced that are in need of

 16  that retrofit.

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, you -- at that

 18  time, once you have the production and you start to

 19  use the train, you need to have two teams: the

 20  retrofit team, and a production team, of course,

 21  and a configuration manager or configuration team

 22  able to -- to dispatch the work between these two

 23  groups.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so is that

 25  something that would have been planned for at the
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 01  outset of the project, having a dedicated retrofit

 02  team available to do that in tandem with

 03  production?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  It's something --

 05  it's -- it's not the plan at the beginning because

 06  we want to have something perfect.  But the reality

 07  is this:  You have to build the team at the end,

 08  because you start -- you start to do some tests,

 09  you start to accumulate -- accumulated some return

 10  of experience, and you don't want to disturb the

 11  production.  You don't want to ask the guy in

 12  production to come on the train that is already

 13  outside the production to do the work -- to do the

 14  job.  No.

 15              You want -- you your production team

 16  and your production line focussed on the production

 17  of the train, and that's it.  So you don't want

 18  them to -- to be disturbed by other things.  So you

 19  have -- at the time, you have to get this retrofit

 20  team, and often the retrofit team becomes the

 21  warranty team.  It's --

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Becomes the warranty

 23  team?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, and generally this

 25  team, because they accumulate also their own
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 01  experience on the train, this team, at a certain

 02  point, will become the warranty team when the

 03  project will be in -- in that phase, so it's a

 04  win/win solution for -- for -- for the project.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So then based

 06  off what you're -- what you're saying, then, does

 07  the retrofit work draw any resources away from

 08  production, or are they handled separately such

 09  that they're not effected?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no, we -- it's a

 11  dedicated team.  It's a separate team.  So --

 12  clearly, the main idea is not take people from the

 13  production line.  So no, it's a dedicated team

 14  focussed on -- focussed on the retrofit.

 15              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So would Alstom

 16  needing to perform this retrofit work, does that

 17  impact its schedule in any way, then, given that

 18  there's a dedicated team handling that?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's -- clear that's

 20  for some retrofit activity, yes, you will impact

 21  the schedule, and -- and that's why -- that's why

 22  it's -- it's a common agreement with OLRTC or with

 23  the customer, saying, Okay, we take the risk to

 24  start the production; we take the risk to do things

 25  in parallel; but be aware that, at a certain point,
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 01  you will have to do some -- we will have to do some

 02  retrofit activities.

 03              So according -- and at the beginning of

 04  the project, it's -- it might be very difficult to

 05  say it will have a huge impact or not on the

 06  schedule because you don't know -- we don't know

 07  exactly the -- the time and the energy that you

 08  will have to spend for the retrofit because you

 09  don't know what you don't know.  It's the beginning

 10  of the tests.

 11              But you must alert your customer that

 12  effectively, maybe, you will have to face some

 13  delay, will have to find some mitigation plan.  And

 14  the mitigation plan can be, okay, let's start the

 15  commercial launch with some functionality that will

 16  not be 100 percent functional, for example.  You

 17  know, if it's not linked to some safety system, you

 18  can -- you can have this agreement with your

 19  customer.

 20              It's -- but this is -- this is where I

 21  said at the beginning that you need to have this --

 22  this exchange with your customer, and both must

 23  understand the risks and must accept the risk.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so is -- is that

 25  fairly typical on these projects, to have certain
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 01  items to be deferred to be dealt with after revenue

 02  launch?

 03              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes, yeah.  It has

 04  always been the case, yes.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  It's always the case,

 06  or typically the case?

 07              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.  Yes, because

 08  at -- it's normal -- you need to -- you can do all

 09  the tests you want in the -- in the laboratory on

 10  your laptop, do simulation.  You can do everything

 11  you want.  The -- the reality is when you are able

 12  to -- to use your train in the field.  This is

 13  where, at the end, you -- you will learn most of

 14  the -- you have the most return experience.

 15              Because we are not -- in this -- in

 16  2020 or now, we are not talking anymore about the

 17  train alone in the track.  It's -- it's a system

 18  now.  The train is -- the train is clearly

 19  integrated in the -- in the structural element,

 20  with communication to the wayside, with information

 21  coming from -- from the rail, with -- from -- it's

 22  a -- it's a clearly an integrated system.  So

 23  this -- yes.  This is where you learn the most.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And did the need to

 25  perform retrofits, both because
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 01  validation/qualification was done in tandem with

 02  production and also because of issues that you'd

 03  indicated arose in the interface with Thales, did

 04  the requirement to do those retrofits impact the

 05  testing and commissioning in any way?  Did it delay

 06  the testing and commissioning?  Did it cause that

 07  to be compressed?  Did it have any implication?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, yes, it

 09  compressed -- it compressed -- I don't -- I don't

 10  remember that it compressed the commissioning

 11  activities, but it -- it put a lot of pressure on

 12  the team because -- because we wanted to keep -- we

 13  wanted to keep the -- the deadline.  So we

 14  increase -- I increase the number of -- of people

 15  in my team to be able to work on Saturday, Sunday,

 16  and to work in two or three shifts, to be able to

 17  maintain a -- to maintain a -- to maintain the --

 18  the dates.  Because we still need -- if we need --

 19  if we need 5 days to do the commissioning, yes, I

 20  will try to -- to push the team to do better, but

 21  if it's 5 days, it's 5 days, so I will not be able

 22  to compress it any more.

 23              So the -- the main solution for us, at

 24  that time, was to increase the workforce and say,

 25  okay, let's -- let's work on Saturday and Sunday to
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 01  do the -- to do the retrofit, and let's try to work

 02  in two or three shifts to complete also the

 03  retrofit on some of the trains.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Did the -- in your

 05  view, did it -- did the necessary amount of testing

 06  and commissioning get done despite some of the

 07  delays you just mentioned?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Sorry, can you repeat.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Did you feel that the

 10  necessary amount or the required amount of testing

 11  and commissioning was still done despite the delays

 12  that were experienced?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  We -- we -- we

 14  tried to -- to do as much as we can, the tests and

 15  the commissioning.  But at the end, it goes back to

 16  the infrastructure.  We were not able to -- to

 17  start -- to start on time.  We were not able to do

 18  everything we could -- we wanted at that time.  So

 19  we tried to mitigate as much as we can, but, again,

 20  it's -- and as (indiscernible), it's what I said

 21  to -- to OLRTC:  You -- in the contract, we are

 22  supposed to have -- I don't remember -- 4

 23  kilometres of track, for example.  We have only 2.

 24  And on these 2, we are not able to do the test --

 25  do the test all the day.  We are able to do the
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 01  test only 6 -- 6 or 8 hours.  So at the end -- at

 02  the end, it would push -- it would push the end of

 03  the validation.

 04              MICHAEL VALO:  Mr. Imbesi, I'm sorry to

 05  interrupt.  I just want to make sure that you and

 06  Mr. Lacaze are 100 percent clear on what you're

 07  each talking about.  You had asked about

 08  commissioning and testing, and I just wanted to

 09  ensure you were clear about whether you meant

 10  commissioning of the overall system or

 11  commissioning of the vehicles alone, or maybe both.

 12  I just want that to be clear because it wasn't.

 13  I'm just not certain, that's all.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  No, I appreciate that.

 15  I'm speaking about the vehicles specifically.

 16              MICHAEL VALO:  Okay.

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So in your view,

 18  then -- and just to make sure that you are

 19  answering what I'm specifically asking, so speaking

 20  about the vehicles in particular, you had felt that

 21  there was the sufficient amount of testing and

 22  commissioning performed in respect of those

 23  vehicles?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  With the extension of

 25  time, yes.  With -- with the extension of time, if
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 01  we wanted to keep on schedule, the schedule that we

 02  had at the beginning, no.  No, because we had -- we

 03  had no access to the full -- to the full -- to the

 04  full line, for example.  We had no access to -- to

 05  some parts of -- of the track.  We were not able to

 06  do -- to do the test all the day.  We were able to

 07  do the tests on the -- during 6 hours instead of

 08  10 hours.  We had some issue -- sometime --

 09  sometimes -- sometime we are not able to -- to have

 10  access to the track during 2 -- 2, 3 weeks.

 11              So if you are talking -- maybe it's my

 12  English, but if you are talking about the -- the

 13  baseline schedule with what OLRTC was able to give

 14  us, no, clearly we had no time because we had

 15  not -- we requested 10 hours to do a test, and

 16  OLRTC gave us, I don't know, 6 hours.  So clearly

 17  we had no time.  If you are talking about the

 18  extension of time that we requested, yes, because

 19  we said, okay, you give us only 6 hours, which

 20  means that we will need 2 more months, I don't

 21  know, to do -- to do the tests.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Yeah, no, I wasn't

 23  talking so much about a -- a comparison between

 24  what you were given and what you needed.  It was

 25  more of a sense of, ultimately, what was done, was
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 01  that, in your view, sufficient for the testing that

 02  at least you experienced?  Because I appreciate you

 03  were gone before the project got to RSA.

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Okay.  So you mean at

 05  the end, yes.  Yes, from my point of view, at the

 06  end, in terms of rolling stock, in terms of

 07  traction and so on, it was -- when I left, I think

 08  we had -- we had effectively a good product, able

 09  to start -- able to start -- to start commercial

 10  launch.  And when I left the project in -- in

 11  October 2018, I don't recall how many LRVs we had

 12  at that time, but it was mostly 20, and a lot of

 13  them was used -- already used by -- by OLR -- by

 14  the City to do some training.

 15              So in terms of functionality of the

 16  train, I will say -- I will say yes.  In terms of

 17  integration to the infrastructure, when I left, no.

 18  It was clearly not sufficient.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And I won't ask

 20  you about that because I appreciate you won't have

 21  knowledge of what happened after you left the

 22  project.  But I'd like to turn back, then.  You

 23  were talking about access to the test track.  And

 24  so you indicated that, at a certain point, you

 25  received 4 kilometres of the track as opposed to
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 01  the entire length?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, we -- we asked them

 03  to have 4 kilometres of track to do what we call

 04  the qualification - or type tests, if you want,

 05  part of them.  So we asked -- we asked to have

 06  access to 4 kilometres, and we had access only to

 07  2.  So we were on this 2 kilometres of track doing

 08  some tests with LRV -- LRV 2.  So it was -- we --

 09  we had no possibility to have access to more than

 10  that.

 11              And after that, we -- later in the

 12  project, we wanted to have access to the full line

 13  because we need to -- we need to have access to

 14  this full line to do what we call the quality ride

 15  test.  So we need to -- to validate that the

 16  behaviour of the train is good everywhere.  And so

 17  we were not able to do these kinds of tests also

 18  because we -- we had no possibility to go inside

 19  the tunnel in -- in Ottawa.  And so we had no

 20  access to the tunnel, and we had no access to the

 21  west -- west side of the track.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And -- okay.  So

 23  initially you -- you asked for 4 kilometres.  You

 24  were given 2.  At a certain point, did you get

 25  those 4 kilometres?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I don't remember.  Yes,

 02  at a certain point, yes, because we -- at a certain

 03  point, we were able to do the test -- to do the

 04  test -- to the test between -- until the beginning

 05  of the tunnel.

 06              So I -- I think when I left, maybe a

 07  couple of months before I left in 2018, we were

 08  able to -- we were able to have access to these 4

 09  kilometres long.  So 2 years -- I will say 2 years

 10  after the beginning of the tests, we were able to

 11  access to these 4 kilometres.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so 2 years after

 13  the beginning of the tests, when would the tests

 14  have started?  I'm trying to get a -- I want to

 15  make sure I'm understanding the range of years.

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The test started on the

 17  dynamic track in November of 2016.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So then you're

 19  saying by November of 2018, you would have had

 20  access in 4 kilometres?

 21              ARNAUD LACAZE:  In 2018, so it was --

 22  it was in 2017, I guess.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  2017.

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, that we -- I don't

 25  know exactly when, but at a certain point, yes, we
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 01  were able to -- yes, to have access to these -- we

 02  were able -- step by step, we were able to -- to go

 03  in the tunnel, to go in the wayside -- I don't

 04  remember exactly the date, but it was not at the

 05  beginning for sure.  Step by step, they -- they --

 06  they start to give us -- to give us access,

 07  according to the progress in terms of

 08  infrastructure.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So what was the

 10  implication, then, of not having access to 4

 11  kilometres?  What were you not able to do given

 12  just 2 kilometres?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  So you don't have the

 14  possibility to -- to do a lot of full -- full --

 15  how can I say that? -- full traction or full speed

 16  because you have this limitation of 2 -- 2

 17  kilometres.  And after that is the number of LRVs

 18  on these -- on the 2 kilometres of track, because

 19  you have LRV 2, so Alstom doing some tests; you

 20  have Thales doing some dynamic PICO testing on

 21  these tracks, and you have the City doing some

 22  training.

 23              So at the end, you start to accumulate

 24  more and more train on this 2 kilometre of track,

 25  and if you had also the work that they also needed
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 01  to do on this track to install -- to install or to

 02  correct some -- some issues, yes, at the end, it's

 03  starting to be very -- very crowded, let's say.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So it was

 05  congested and then the -- your inability to get to

 06  the max speed that was required.

 07              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Were there any other

 09  issues -- and I know you'd mentioned -- I

 10  believe -- were there power issues with respect to

 11  the track?  Were there issues -- so even with the 2

 12  kilometres that you were given, were there factors

 13  that prevented you from performing your testing on

 14  those kilometres at any point in time?

 15              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  But the first one

 16  is -- is the gauge of the track.  So the -- the

 17  first time that we go -- went outside, we -- we

 18  realized that the gauge was not -- was not correct,

 19  so we -- we stop -- we stop -- we stop that, and we

 20  asked OLRTC to put the correct gauge of -- gauge of

 21  the -- of the track.

 22              Finally, they request us to use a train

 23  to push -- because we've installed a system that --

 24  that the train will push the track and the track

 25  would be as -- the correct length or the correct
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 01  gauge with -- with the train, so they asked us to

 02  do that.  We -- we -- with some expert, experience,

 03  we think about that, and then okay, finally we

 04  accept to do that, to use the train number 2 to --

 05  to push -- to push the track to the correct gauge.

 06  So we did that on the 2 kilometres, and we asked --

 07  we asked OLRTC first to correct this -- this issue

 08  on the other -- on the -- on the full line, for

 09  everywhere.

 10              And so it was our discussion with them,

 11  and then finally, a couple of months after that,

 12  they came back to us accepting the fact that

 13  effectively they will have to change their -- the

 14  system because they were -- they were not able to

 15  maintain the gauge.  After -- after the winter

 16  season or with it, the track was -- was moving

 17  too -- too fast, and it was due to some clips -- I

 18  don't know the technical issues, but they had to

 19  change the way to maintain the track on the -- on

 20  the ground.

 21              So that meant that it was -- honestly,

 22  it was very difficult for -- for them to admit

 23  that, but, finally, they admitted that they needed

 24  to change -- to change that, yes.

 25              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So just for the
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 01  record, then, gauge is the distance between the two

 02  rails?

 03              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, the gauge is the

 04  distance between -- yes, between the two rails.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so was the gauge

 06  just inconsistent throughout the entire track, or

 07  was it -- was it too narrow in all locations?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was inconsistent.

 09  Sometimes -- you -- it's a very precise -- precise

 10  measurement.  If I remember well, you need to be

 11  plus 1 and minus 3 millimetres.  You have to

 12  respect this -- this range.  And we asked OLRT to

 13  give us exactly the -- the gauge on all the track,

 14  to be sure that we had something consistent because

 15  we realized it was not consistent.  Sometimes it

 16  was too narrow, sometimes it was too tight.  It was

 17  very unpredictable.  So we -- we had this issue at

 18  first with -- with the -- with the track, yes.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And does that prevent

 20  you from being able to utilize the track?

 21              ARNAUD LACAZE:  We refused at the

 22  beginning, yeah.  We told them we don't -- we don't

 23  want to go outside if the range is not correct.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  But why would that be?

 25  What's the implication of having the gauge off in
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 01  the way that it was?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, you can damage --

 03  you can damage the wheels.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in terms of

 05  OLRTC, were you the main person of contact between

 06  Alstom and OLRTC during your time on the project?

 07              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yes.  As the

 08  project director, yes.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So what would have

 10  been the nature of your contact with OLRTC?  What

 11  is it that you were handling?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  What do you mean by

 13  "the nature"?

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Well, were you dealing

 15  with all circumstances?  Like, were you dealing

 16  with commercial issues, technical issues,

 17  scheduling issues?

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes, I mean, I

 19  deal -- I don't remember exactly at that time what

 20  I was doing with them, but yes, I had daily contact

 21  with them in terms of -- in terms of schedule,

 22  commercial issues, of course technical, but I'm

 23  not -- even if I am an engineer, I'm -- I'm no more

 24  a technical guy, so it was mainly my team that was

 25  dealing with them.  I was mainly here to be aware
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 01  of the technical situation, support my team or

 02  to -- on the explanation, and find a mitigation

 03  plan or find some solution with -- with OLRTC.

 04              But my main target is to keep the

 05  relationship with OLRTC or with the customer, if

 06  you want, and yes, dealing with all these aspects,

 07  schedule, commercial, technical, with the help, of

 08  course, of -- of the team behind me.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Who were -- who were

 10  your counterparts at OLRTC?  Who was it that you

 11  were dealing with?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was a man at the

 13  beginning.  I don't remember his name.  And after

 14  that, it was Sharon -- Sharon Oakley.  Yes, Sharon

 15  Oakley.  The first man, I don't remember his name.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And you touched

 17  on --

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was a contract --

 19  for the contract and project aspect.  For the

 20  technical, it was Mr. Bergeron.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Jacques Bergeron?

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Jacques Bergeron, yes.

 23  Yes, for the technical aspect.  Because he was a

 24  technical guy but also a project manager, so I was

 25  dealing with him for most -- for general -- general
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 01  topics in terms of technical.  But it was mainly --

 02  it was mainly -- the main counterpart was Sharon.

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Was Dr. Oakley?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Dr. Oakley, yes.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so turning

 06  then to Jacques Bergeron, was he the individual

 07  that was responsible for systems integration on

 08  OLRTC's end?

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  He was -- yes, he

 10  was -- he was responsible of -- he was responsible

 11  of the integration, and he helped by -- he was

 12  helped by a Mr. Fitzgerald.  Mr. Fitzgerald, who

 13  was -- Mr. Fitzgerald for Thales.  Mr. Bergeron

 14  was, I would say, the lead, and after that, he had

 15  some specific -- specific person dedicated for some

 16  specific system.

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So Mr. Fitzgerald, is

 18  that Frank Fitzgerald?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Frank Fitzgerald, yes.

 20  Yeah.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so -- and I

 22  know that we've spoken a little bit earlier today

 23  about integration, but could you just describe for

 24  me OLRTC's approach to systems integration.  How

 25  did it approach that facet of the project?

�0058

 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I cannot say.  It

 02  was -- honestly, I -- I cannot say it was an

 03  integration.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  What do you mean by

 05  that?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I mean -- I mean, it

 07  was a lot of -- it was clearly a lack of

 08  integration.  It was -- based -- based on my

 09  experience in the past and also present experience,

 10  it was not -- it was clearly a lack of integration

 11  or -- or management.

 12              When you -- when you do an integration,

 13  you -- you take all the responsibility, and you --

 14  you make sure that both parties will communicate

 15  together.  Anything that's -- if it's not the case,

 16  you will bring this guy in the room and say, okay,

 17  now we'll fix the issue.  You don't try to -- you

 18  don't try to -- to work with -- with one of -- one

 19  of the parties and leave the other party in the

 20  dark and come back a couple of months or one year

 21  after that, saying, okay, by the way, you -- you

 22  missed -- you missed some -- some things, so -- no.

 23  It's not like this.

 24              When you do an integration, you --

 25  really, the guy or -- here to link everybody all
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 01  together.  And it's -- honestly, it's key.  And I'm

 02  talking about my past experience, but I'm also

 03  talking about my current experience doing this

 04  integration.  You need to do these things.

 05  (Indiscernible).  It's not -- I'm talking --

 06  honestly, I'm talking very free here.  I'm not

 07  working anymore with Alstom.  I'm at -- honestly,

 08  OLRTC missed this -- this integration, missed this

 09  link of -- this link between -- between both

 10  companies.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so is that a

 12  failure on OLRTC's part to -- to manage that

 13  process?  Is -- is it an issue of collaboration?

 14  Like, what specifically would you have expected to

 15  see happen that didn't happen?

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  For -- for me,

 17  it's the main -- the main subject of this project.

 18  The -- as -- how can I say that?  As a -- as a

 19  customer, you need -- because at the end, you will

 20  use this product, so as a customer, you need to --

 21  to make everything happen.  You need to make the

 22  link between your supplier.  You cannot -- you

 23  cannot say, okay, I will let the supplier do what

 24  they want.  No, the supplier has their own

 25  contract, their own objective.  The integrator or
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 01  the customer, you are here to -- to make the link

 02  and be sure that you will receive something at the

 03  end that you will be able to use.

 04              So you have to do this effort.  You

 05  have to do the -- to do the -- to do these things

 06  happen.  And to do that, you have to communicate,

 07  and you have to understand what your Supplier A is

 08  saying, what your Supplier B is saying, and try to

 09  find -- and trying to match and try to -- to be

 10  able to mitigate everything.

 11              And yes, it's -- it was clearly a --

 12  clearly a -- a lack of collaboration on the -- on

 13  this project, yes.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Did you feel that

 15  those at OLRTC had the necessary experience to

 16  perform the job?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, honestly, I don't

 18  know.  I will not judge their past experience or

 19  their -- if they -- if they have put at this place,

 20  I will say that it was a choice of their

 21  management, so -- the only thing I can say, it's --

 22  that the collaboration was not here.  I will not

 23  judge on their -- no, I will not judge on their

 24  capacity or not to do -- to the job.  I'm not here

 25  to do that.
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 01              Just a contestation, at the end, the

 02  collaboration was clearly not here, between us,

 03  between OLRTC, and between the other third party.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  The other -- are you

 05  speaking primarily about Thales?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes, yes, Thales

 07  was the main -- the main contributor, yes.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so in

 09  terms, then, of dealing with integration, what was

 10  Alstom's understanding, then, of what OLRTC's

 11  integration responsibilities were?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  You -- you -- as an --

 13  because on this -- in this project, Alstom had no

 14  direct contract with -- with Thales.  So you -- we

 15  cannot go -- we cannot go to Thales, saying, okay,

 16  you need to do that, that, or that, because we

 17  don't know their contract.  We don't know at the

 18  end what they signed in terms of contract and in

 19  terms of requirement.

 20              So once again, this role of integration

 21  must be done by OLRTC because OLRTC has a contract

 22  with Alstom and has a contract with -- with Thales.

 23  So we are here to make this integration clearly for

 24  good.  So they are here to facilitate the

 25  discussion and the collaboration between those two

�0062

 01  companies, and they are here to take the decision

 02  and say -- because -- okay -- they know what

 03  exactly is the contract between the two, so they

 04  are here to say -- to take the decision and to

 05  freeze, at the end, the interfaces, saying, okay,

 06  Alstom, you will receive this kind of equipment

 07  from -- from -- from Thales; here is all the

 08  interfaces, so build your train according that.

 09  They have to do this kind of job.

 10              They have to also -- so they have to

 11  follow us in terms of preparation of the train, to

 12  receive -- to receive this equipment, and they have

 13  to follow Thales to respect this integration --

 14  these interfaces and to respect the scope of -- of

 15  the work.  They have to do -- they have to do these

 16  kinds of things.  And when we have an issue, the

 17  integrator is here to -- first to mitigate and, at

 18  the end, to take a decision.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So to make decisions

 20  to deal with issues that arise during the

 21  integration process?

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Exactly, yes.  Yeah.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And then --

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  And an issue can be a

 25  variation order or a technical issue from us, from
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 01  Alstom, but also from Thales.  It's a -- in both --

 02  it's in both directions.  We need to -- we need to

 03  understand and to find a -- and to help to find a

 04  solution for both -- for -- for Alstom and for --

 05  for Thales.

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  How would you describe

 07  the working relationship between Alstom and Thales?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was -- at the

 09  beginning, it was -- it was collaborative, I would

 10  say, because we -- even if it was delayed -- when

 11  I -- when I arrive on the project, we were able

 12  to -- to start -- we were able to start the static

 13  PICO test.  It was in September or October 2016.

 14              After that, it was clearly a

 15  contract -- a contractual relationship because they

 16  understand and we understand that we had no

 17  direct -- direct contract or -- together, so it was

 18  a -- it was a -- purely a contractual -- a

 19  contractual relationship.  At my level, I will say

 20  that.  By -- I would say not by chance, but this

 21  is -- this is something natural:  The guy on the --

 22  onsite, the technical guy, because we were every

 23  day working together, we were able, at the end, to

 24  find some solution.  We were able to try to -- to

 25  mitigate as -- as much as we can some technical
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 01  issues.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Do you feel there was

 03  sufficient information sharing between Thales and

 04  Alstom?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no.  Clearly, no.

 06  No, no.  We discovered -- we tried to freeze an

 07  interface baseline early in the project, and we

 08  discover -- we discover -- I think it was in May,

 09  with LRV 5, it was in April or May 2017 that,

 10  finally, the -- the configuration that -- that was

 11  frozen in 1 year before was not good anymore.

 12              After that, when we start to do some

 13  static PICO test or dynamic PICO tests, we realized

 14  that we -- we needed to do a lot of modification

 15  inside the system.  So clearly it was not -- it was

 16  not transparent.

 17              And again, I'm not blaming -- I'm not

 18  blaming Thales because they have some technical

 19  issue.  It's normal.  It's normal to have technical

 20  issues.  I'm -- I'm -- I'm just pointing here the

 21  fact that the collaboration and the transparency

 22  was not here.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So if it's -- if it's

 24  normal to have some technical issues, then what is

 25  it that gives rise to your comment that there
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 01  wasn't enough transparency?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Because it was too

 03  late.  It was too late.  We -- we should have been

 04  aware of the functionality of the system earlier in

 05  the project and not discover when you do the test

 06  and when you try to integrate that, finally, the

 07  system is not what we have -- what we had in the

 08  specification.

 09              It's -- it's not a -- it's -- for

 10  Thales, it was not a new product.  It was something

 11  that already exists.  So you can -- as I say, it is

 12  normal you have -- it's a technical project.

 13  It's -- we are in the industry.  It's normal to

 14  have issues, but a lot of things should have been

 15  raised a lot of months before.  So -- after that,

 16  it's too late.  You -- first, you create

 17  frustration in the team, and you create retrofit

 18  activities, and this is what we had at the end of

 19  this -- of this project, a lot of retrofit linked

 20  to -- linked to -- to Thales.

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Did the -- does the

 22  fact that Thales and Alstom are competitors in the

 23  train control system market, did that impact the

 24  relationship in any way?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.  No, because
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 01  it's -- honestly, no, because we are rolling stock,

 02  and we are not -- we are not the -- a system team,

 03  so no.

 04              And, again, it's -- it's not something

 05  new for Alstom to work with -- with third parties,

 06  and so we -- we used to -- to -- they used to work

 07  with -- with Bombardier.  At that time, it was a

 08  competitor, but we used to have some contract with

 09  Bombardier, same thing for -- for Thales and for

 10  others.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So in terms of it --

 12  it sounds like -- as if you're saying that the

 13  design kept evolving to a certain extent from what

 14  you're being provided by Thales.  Is that fair?

 15              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yeah.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so -- so how did

 17  that play out in practice, then?  How did Alstom

 18  respond to the evolving design that it was

 19  receiving?

 20              ARNAUD LACAZE:  First -- first, we --

 21  we alert OLRTC first that in terms of -- from a

 22  technical point of view, it was clearly not aligned

 23  with the specification that we agreed, and so we --

 24  we wanted to have some explanation it's -- from

 25  OLRTC about this change and, similarly, a
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 01  confirmation.  And if -- because maybe it was an

 02  error from Thales.  I don't know.  But as soon as

 03  OLRTC confirmed that, effectively, what we tested

 04  affected the new functionality of the new system of

 05  Thales, we request -- we request a variation order,

 06  and we -- we requested an extension of time also

 07  because, at that time, we knew that it would have a

 08  huge impact for -- for the schedule, and we are

 09  talking about more than 300 points of connection.

 10  It's -- it's a huge, complex system, the ATC

 11  system, and the interface is -- yeah, definitely,

 12  we knew that we had to -- to change a lot of things

 13  in our train.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so are those the

 15  retrofit issues that you alluded to earlier in

 16  terms of the integration with Thales's system?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so you had

 19  mentioned that the evolving design wasn't in line

 20  with the specification that you'd agreed upon with

 21  OLRTC, and are you speaking about the contractual

 22  requirement between Alstom and OLRTC to have a

 23  finalized CBTC design early on in the project, or

 24  what are you referring to?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, I'm referring to
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 01  that.  It's -- as I mentioned, it's -- it's key,

 02  during the design phase, to freeze -- to freeze

 03  your interfaces, because you will build your train

 04  according to these interfaces.  I don't know if --

 05  if a system required -- required to have three

 06  inputs, you will -- you will build your train with

 07  maybe four inputs because you still need to have a

 08  spare, but you will build your train with four wire

 09  to -- four, three wire to connect with this system.

 10              If you come back 1 or 2 years later,

 11  saying, oh, by the way, it's not three, it's five,

 12  now, yes, you -- you have a big issue because you

 13  need to -- to rethink your -- your electrical

 14  system and rethink your production to add a wire.

 15              It's just an example, but it's --

 16  that's why you need -- you need to freeze all the

 17  interface earlier in the -- in the design phase.

 18  And I mentioned this number of three or four

 19  because as a rolling stock manufacturer, you know

 20  that, during the tests, or you know that during the

 21  project you will have to do some changes, so you --

 22  you put a small amount of provision, but when you

 23  come back with a system that is completely

 24  different, it's -- it's -- your -- your system is

 25  no more able to support that, so you have to
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 01  rethink everything.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so during your

 03  time at the project, would you have reviewed the

 04  Alstom subcontract with OLRTC?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The -- the what?

 06  The...

 07              ANTHONY IMBESI:  When you were involved

 08  in the project, would you have reviewed Alstom's

 09  subcontract with OLRTC?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  With -- my contract

 11  with OLRTC?

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Yes.

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, of course.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  You were familiar with

 15  the contract at the time?

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yeah, yes.  It's --

 17  it's part of the handover that I -- I met with --

 18  with Nadia at that time.  We do a handover in terms

 19  of the -- the technical aspects, situation of the

 20  project versus the contract to clearly understand

 21  where we are in the contract.  We -- in conformity

 22  to the contract, do we have some pending waiver?

 23  Do we have some risk, difficulties?  Do we have

 24  some variation order?  It's -- it's part of the

 25  package that I am -- that every project manager or
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 01  director need to -- need to do with these

 02  predecessors, so...

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So in terms of the

 04  specific contractual requirement that I had

 05  mentioned, then, it is my understanding that the

 06  contract required Thales to deliver a finalized

 07  CBTC specification by April of 2013.  Do you recall

 08  that?

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Oh, I don't recall the

 10  date, honestly, but I recall because it was -- it

 11  was part of the subcontract that we were supposed

 12  to receive a full -- a full system, validated and

 13  integrated.  When I said "integrated," it's in one

 14  piece.  After that, what was supposed to be done in

 15  2014, honestly, I don't remember, but I remember

 16  that we were supposed to receive this, clearly,

 17  yes, because -- because this -- because it was part

 18  of the dilemma that we -- that we had at that time.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so is it practical

 20  in these types of projects to have a finalized CBTC

 21  specification within the first 2 or 3 months of the

 22  project?

 23              ARNAUD LACAZE:  In terms of interface,

 24  yes.  Yes.  It's -- but it's like -- it's like with

 25  all of our systems.  When I receive a compressor --
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 01  like, for -- from a supplier, for example --

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  A what, I'm sorry?

 03              ARNAUD LACAZE:  I will take an example

 04  from another system, a compressor or -- yes.  So

 05  let's take the example of a compressor.  From this

 06  supplier, I'm receiving an equipment fully

 07  integrated, a compressor, and with this supplier,

 08  and earlier in the project, at the beginning of the

 09  project, they will tell me, okay, I will do my job

 10  inside this box, but I need to communicate with

 11  your train, I don't know, two inputs and two

 12  outputs, so prepare your train to connect to my

 13  system two output and two -- two input, and that's

 14  it.

 15              So this is a deal that we -- we have

 16  with all the supplier.  Of course, as a -- because

 17  as an integrator, we'll -- we'll check with them

 18  what we do inside this box to be sure that, in

 19  terms of functionality, it's in conformity with

 20  what we want.  But in terms of interface and in

 21  terms of production, it's only that.  You -- you

 22  give me a box, I will plug your box in my train,

 23  and after that, relay the software and relay the

 24  validation, be sure that the communication is okay.

 25              And this is clearly what we were
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 01  expecting from Thales.  Of course, Thales is a

 02  little bit more complicated because it's a safety

 03  system.  But we said, okay, give us a box; give us,

 04  effectively, what you need in terms of

 05  connectivity; we'll prepare the train.  When your

 06  box will arrive, we'll put the box in the train,

 07  connect everything, and we'll start the validation.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so what I -- I'm

 09  sorry.  I didn't mean to cut you off there.

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, that's why I said,

 11  yes, you need, absolutely, at the beginning of the

 12  project, to define these interfaces.

 13              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so I guess what

 14  I'm trying to understand, then, is does Thales need

 15  anything from Alstom in terms of design

 16  characteristics of the train in order for it to be

 17  able to prepare a finalized CBTC specification?

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  That's why -- that's

 19  why we did the -- that's why it's mandatory to

 20  do -- to do this meeting, this technical meeting

 21  with them at the beginning.  It's an exchange with

 22  Thales:  I need to install -- I don't know, two

 23  sensors in your -- in your bogie or under the

 24  underframe.  The -- the -- the company present to

 25  us their interfaces, the functionality of their
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 01  system, and we deal with that to design the

 02  interface and say, okay, let's prepare the train

 03  to -- you know, to -- with a number of space, a

 04  number of sensors, a number of cables, wiring and

 05  so on.

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so that's

 07  an interaction that would typically happen at the

 08  very start of a -- a project?

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  But understand

 10  that we need this information to start the

 11  production.  If we need to -- if we need put two

 12  wire, or if we need to dedicate a specific place or

 13  area in the train for -- for one system, we need to

 14  understand that at the beginning, very early on in

 15  the project.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So we've gone a bit

 17  more than halfway here, so perhaps we'll take a

 18  break.  If we could go off the record.

 19              -- RECESS AT 3:36 --

 20              -- UPON RESUMING AT 3:50 --

 21              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So, Mr. Lacaze, just

 22  following a bit more on where we left off, talking

 23  about integration - and specifically I'm speaking

 24  about integration with Alstom and Thales - were

 25  there regular meetings that were held, hosted by
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 01  OLRTC involving OLRTC, Alstom, and Thales?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Was there a regular

 03  meeting?  From what I understood, a regular meeting

 04  was -- until June or July 2016.  After that, when I

 05  was here, we -- we did the static PICO test with

 06  them in September or October 2016 at Hornell, and

 07  following that, we had no regular meeting with

 08  OLRTC.  I don't recall specific -- specific

 09  meeting -- or technical meeting, I mean.

 10              We had some -- some meetings because --

 11  with OLRTC and Thales, but in terms of organization

 12  of the tests.  But in terms of technical meetings,

 13  no, we had no new technical meeting with them, and

 14  requests to redo technical meetings when we

 15  realized in -- with LRV 5 in May 2017 that we had

 16  some issues.  The system was not -- was not the

 17  system -- the system that we received and we tested

 18  on LRV 5 was not aligned with the specification, so

 19  we requested OLRT to -- to redo -- to redo some --

 20  some technical meeting to redefine an interface --

 21  a new interface specification, if you will.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So the

 23  technical meetings that were held at a certain

 24  point in the project, those stopped around June,

 25  July of 2017, before you became involved in the
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 01  project?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes because, in fact,

 03  for us - and for Thales, I guess - the interfaces

 04  was -- were frozen, so we worked and we completed

 05  all the trains based on this interface.  We did --

 06  we did the static PICO test in -- as I mentioned,

 07  in September or October, and after that, we redo --

 08  so when we redo a static PICO test in -- I think in

 09  May, the following year, on LRV 5.  So we didn't

 10  have the -- we didn't have, at that time, a

 11  dedicated technical meeting with them because we

 12  were -- we were working with the interface frozen a

 13  couple of months ago.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So the -- the

 15  interface had been frozen.  Was it that there was

 16  no need for those meetings, or was there another

 17  reason that they were no longer held?

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Interfaces was -- was

 19  frozen before, so -- right -- I don't -- I don't

 20  know if we -- we had some needs, no.  We were

 21  working on this -- we were working on this subject,

 22  on the interface, so -- you know, it's -- we had no

 23  specific reason to do -- to do a technical meeting.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The interface was
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 01  frozen, you did the test; of course, you -- you saw

 02  some issues, but you knew that Thales will advise a

 03  subject, so we had no -- no specific point until --

 04  until the next phase, at that time, which was the

 05  test on LRV 5, of -- of the system.

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so could you just

 07  explain to me, then -- so I think you had said that

 08  was in May of 2017 with respect to LRV 5.  What was

 09  the testing that you were doing, and what was the

 10  issue that you had encountered?

 11              ARNAUD LACAZE:  In fact, if I remember

 12  well, that contract, Thales needed to train Alstom

 13  to do static PICO test, so if you want a static

 14  test on two vehicles, so we -- they did that on LRV

 15  1, and the next, in terms of sequence, was Train 5.

 16  So what we did, in fact, at -- at Ottawa, we start

 17  in May of 2017, we did what was in the contract,

 18  saying, okay, we have a train ready.  The train is

 19  prepared with -- according the interface that we --

 20  that we design, and so we start to integrated

 21  your -- your equipment, we put your equipment

 22  inside our train, so let's start.  Let's restart

 23  the static PICO test.  We'll redo it with you, and

 24  it will be, like, a training for us, to do -- to do

 25  the -- to do this test, because we were supposed to
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 01  do this test with -- on each of the vehicles, to

 02  validate that the connect -- the connection between

 03  the two systems agreed.  The idea isn't to validate

 04  the system of Thales.  The idea is to validate the

 05  interface, that you put a signal in -- I don't

 06  know.  The system is on; then you switch off and

 07  the system is off, for example.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And was that the VOBC

 09  rack in particular?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was a VOBC rack,

 11  yes.  The idea is to put in the VOBC and to

 12  validate and -- the couple of interface that we

 13  define -- we define all together.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.

 15              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The idea is to -- it's

 16  like this for all the systems.  The idea is to

 17  validate that the interface integration between the

 18  rolling stock and System XYZ - so Thales here - is

 19  correct.

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.

 21              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Because we don't

 22  validate the functionality of the system.  We

 23  validate only the interface.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So Thales was

 25  going to do the same two and, at the same time,
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 01  train Alstom and how to do it, and was Alstom then

 02  responsible for doing --

 03              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  -- the static PICO

 05  test for the balance of the fleet?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yes.  But this is

 07  something very classic:  The rolling stock

 08  integrator is responsible to install the equipment

 09  and to relate that the interface is good.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  That's typical in

 11  rolling stock, to do it that way, for the rolling

 12  stock to do it?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  That's typical, yes.

 14  You verify that you have a good connectivity

 15  between your train and the system.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so what was the

 17  issue, then, that was discovered with LRV 5 in May

 18  2017?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  At first, we -- we

 20  realized that we didn't -- we didn't receive a full

 21  rack.  We received several components that we

 22  needed to install, and the -- the deal for us, as

 23  I -- I took the example of the compressor, for

 24  example.  We receive a full system, and the idea

 25  was Thales was to receive a full system and not to

�0079

 01  receive one equipment, another one, and do -- and

 02  request Alstom to -- to make the integration and to

 03  do the connection between the system.  The VOBC is

 04  a system, so we don't know the connectivity, and we

 05  don't know the link between two electronic box, for

 06  example.

 07              So it was a surprise to do that, so

 08  same thing:  I sent a letter to OLRTC saying that

 09  it was not the deal, and we don't -- we are not

 10  Thales, so we don't know the connectivity between

 11  the systems, so it was the first -- the first

 12  contestation.

 13              The second one, we realized that,

 14  finally, we need -- we needed more connectivity, so

 15  we needed more wire to -- to -- to interface with

 16  us because we were -- we didn't receive a full

 17  rack.  We received several electronic box, so we

 18  needed to increase the number of interfaces, the

 19  number of connectivity.  And most of all, we

 20  realized that we need to do some tests inside --

 21  inside the electronic box, which, clearly, is not

 22  possible.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I'm sorry, inside

 24  what?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Inside the system.  We
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 01  need to open the system and to start to validate

 02  inside the electronic, so it clearly was a no-go

 03  for us.  You're not supposed to open or to do

 04  modification or to do some tests inside -- inside a

 05  sub -- the third -- the third supplier system.  We

 06  need -- we need to provide to the integrator -- so

 07  to the rolling stock integrator, we need to provide

 08  a fully validated, fully functional system.  The

 09  static PICO tests were not here to validate the

 10  system or to tune their system.  The static PICO

 11  test was here to be sure that the system is able to

 12  communicate with the train.  That's it.  And it --

 13  it was also a big issue, and we said to OLRTC that

 14  we will not do the test if it's -- if it's like

 15  this.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So -- so Alstom

 17  expected to have a fully assembled VOBC rack that

 18  was sufficiently tested and -- and tuned so that it

 19  could be essentially plugged into the rolling stock

 20  for the static PICO testing to be performed.  Is

 21  that fair?

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  As we do for --

 23  with all -- all vehicles.

 24              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so how was that

 25  issue dealt with?  How was it resolved?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It took a couple of --

 02  honestly, it took a couple of months.  First, in

 03  terms of -- in terms of integration, purely

 04  integration, we -- we redefined with OLRTC an ICD,

 05  an interface specification, which led to the huge

 06  amount of retrofit that we -- that we had in 2018,

 07  because we needed to -- to add more wire, to change

 08  the cabling, to change the routing, the routing of

 09  some cables.  So it was -- at first, it was the

 10  main -- the main physical subject, I would say,

 11  because it was no more a single rack.  It was

 12  several racks.  So at least to the main -- to this

 13  main huge retrofit.

 14              And concerning the tests, we refused to

 15  do the tests.  We accept to do some tests, but --

 16  some tests linked to the new interface, in fact,

 17  because they changed the interface, but we refused

 18  to do -- to do -- to do all the tests inside their

 19  equipment.  And so we said to OLRTC, we will not go

 20  in that way.  It's -- it's a safety system.  We

 21  don't know the system.  And finally, the deal

 22  with -- to -- we deal with Thales to do it, and I

 23  know that Thales sent a variation order to OLRTC to

 24  do that.

 25              So, finally, Thales did these static
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 01  PICO tests, but you will understand that, at the

 02  beginning, the static PICO test was supposed to

 03  have maybe taken, I don't know, half a day, because

 04  it was just a matter of maybe two or three

 05  connections.  At the end, I don't know -- I don't

 06  know, today, what is it.  But at the end, we spent

 07  more than 1 week per train to do the static PICO

 08  because we were not talking anymore about one full

 09  integrated validated system.  We were talking about

 10  several systems to -- to communicate, all of them,

 11  all between them -- between them.

 12              So it changed also the time needed per

 13  train to do -- to do -- to do the tests.  That's

 14  why I request, again, variation order and an

 15  extension of time to OLRTC to explain that, first,

 16  we need to change the configuration of the train,

 17  but we also need more time to do the tests, so

 18  which will delay the acceptance of the -- of the

 19  train.

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And I'm sorry, did you

 21  say that it -- it increased the time required to do

 22  the -- the test per train from half a day per train

 23  to 1 week per train?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  From what I

 25  remember -- and maybe -- I might be -- you know,
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 01  you can check that with Yang or -- I don't know,

 02  the technical guy for Siemens -- or from Alstom,

 03  sorry, but from what I remember, yes, it was half a

 04  day, maybe 1 day at the beginning, and at the end,

 05  I remember to have spent -- to have spent 5 days on

 06  this subject, yes.  Because we are talking about I

 07  think 11, possibly, test procedures to be done.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so you were -- and

 09  you had indicated, then, that that impacted the

 10  acceptance of the trains.

 11              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yes.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And that was the

 13  acceptance of the trains by OLRTC?

 14              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 15              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so --

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  And that's -- with that

 17  additional time, you have -- you need to add that

 18  to your schedule.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so was that the

 20  reason that Milestone 9 of Alstom's deliverables

 21  was revised to account for a provisional acceptance

 22  of the vehicles, or was that for another reason?

 23              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, it was for another

 24  reason.

 25              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Could you
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 01  explain to me what the reasoning for that was,

 02  then.

 03              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Milestone 9,

 04  yeah, it was a provisional acceptance, but we

 05  realized also, with OLRTC, that Thales needed this

 06  train to do the dynamic PICO test.  So it was

 07  something -- something -- okay -- we -- we didn't

 08  know that, but at least it's a contract between --

 09  between OLRTC and Thales.  But they realized, at a

 10  certain point, that we needed the train to do

 11  the -- to do the dynamic PICO, so to do some tests

 12  after the delivery of the train by Alstom.

 13              But in the contract, the contract was

 14  clear:  It was qualification from -- qualification

 15  tests, some milestone - I don't remember the name -

 16  and at the end, an acceptance of the train, which

 17  means that even if the train is ready, I cannot

 18  give this train to OLRTC to do what they want

 19  because this train is still under the

 20  responsibility of Alstom.

 21              So OLRTC came back to us saying that we

 22  need this train to do -- to do some tests with

 23  Thales, and I told them that you can't.  To do

 24  that, you -- you need to accept the train, and to

 25  accept the train, you need the 32 trains to be
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 01  accepted, so you will not do anything before --

 02  before -- I don't know, May 2018, at the end of the

 03  contract.

 04              And so that's why we -- we arrived

 05  to -- at this middle point, saying, Okay, let's

 06  accept this -- let's do a provisional acceptance

 07  train-per-train.  So you will receive -- you will

 08  receive a provisional acceptance from OLRTC,

 09  Alstom.  The train will be now under the

 10  responsibility of -- of OLRTC.  You will start the

 11  warranty, and you will be able to use the train to

 12  do some activities linked to OLRTC - so training,

 13  so dynamic PICO from Thales, and so on.  So it was

 14  a mechanism put in place to allow OLRTC to do their

 15  activities.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So -- and -- okay.  So

 17  to make sure I understand that, then, so this

 18  dynamic testing that -- that Thales needed to do,

 19  that was not accounted for under Alstom's

 20  subcontract.  There was nothing that provided for

 21  that --

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  -- to your knowledge?

 24              ARNAUD LACAZE:  That is not something

 25  that -- even after -- even after we deliver the
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 01  train, they do their dynamic PICO, and -- and

 02  that's it.  So it's -- it's something under the

 03  scope of work of Alstom.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And in order to

 05  have the vehicles accepted by OLRTC, they had to

 06  all be accepted at the same time initially.

 07              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Initially, yes.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  If I remember,

 10  Milestone 9 was something like this, final

 11  acceptance or acceptance of the 32 trains.

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So at the time,

 13  then -- so after you had agreed to this modified

 14  milestone, for the trains that did receive

 15  provisional acceptance, were those, for all intents

 16  and purposes, completed by Alstom, or was there

 17  anything remaining for Alstom to do on those trains

 18  once it got them back =from OLRTC?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no, it was -- it

 20  was -- that's why it's also a provisional

 21  acceptance because, if you remember -- if you

 22  remember, at the beginning of our discussion, we

 23  said that some aspect of the light maintenance bay,

 24  some item of -- the MSF was not completed, so we

 25  continued the production, but some of the train
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 01  will have come back inside -- inside Alstom

 02  jurisdiction to be completed, so it -- it was well

 03  known by OLRTC that it's a provisional acceptance.

 04              The train is under the control of

 05  OLRTC, but these trains still need to come back to

 06  Alstom at a certain point to do the retrofit

 07  activity or to complete what we were not able to do

 08  that because this provisional acceptance was made

 09  early in the -- in the -- in the project, early for

 10  me, when -- when I arrived.  And so I think the

 11  first one to be provisionally accepted was train

 12  set 5, and so we are talking maybe -- I don't know,

 13  maybe June, July 2017.

 14              So yes, they knew that this train will

 15  have to go back at a certain point to Alstom to be

 16  completed: first in terms of a test and in terms of

 17  retrofit.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So what testing, then,

 19  would Alstom then need to do for those

 20  provisionally accepted vehicles?

 21              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, for some of them,

 22  it was the testing, for example.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Oh, it was the testing

 24  that you weren't able to do because of a lack of

 25  the availability of the MSF?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, exactly.  Yeah.

 02  Some water test, some open point -- because we were

 03  not able to complete the -- the LMB test, this kind

 04  of -- this kind of subject.

 05              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in doing it in

 06  terms of the provisional acceptance and the trains

 07  having to come back to Alstom to finish the testing

 08  and the retrofitting, did that impact Alstom's

 09  schedule in any way?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yes, because we

 11  realized soon that we would have some conflict

 12  because Thales needs the train to do the dynamic

 13  PICO; the City needs the train to do their test, I

 14  guess; and we need to get this train back to

 15  complete the -- to complete the train.

 16              So -- like I say, at certain points,

 17  you -- you accumulate some -- some delays, and you

 18  have to -- you have to give priority to one of --

 19  one of the -- of the player.  So...

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so before you

 21  had -- before Alstom and OLRTC had agreed to this

 22  provisional acceptance framework, how was it

 23  supposed to work for the City of Ottawa training

 24  the operators?  Were they to do their training

 25  after OLRTC had done final acceptance of the
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 01  vehicles, or was that ever contemplated to be done

 02  prior to that period of time?

 03              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Honestly, it was not

 04  something communicated to Alstom at that time.  So

 05  what we understood based on the contract is,

 06  effectively, you deliver the 32 trains, and

 07  everybody will start what we have to do.  So you do

 08  the -- at 9 milestone -- I don't remember -- yes, I

 09  think it's Milestone 9, so we do that.  And after

 10  that, the City needs to train the guys.  Thales

 11  need to do their tests and maybe -- maybe something

 12  else, I don't know, but it was the original -- the

 13  original contract was based on this.

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  The original contract

 15  was Alstom finishes it, where it delivers all the

 16  trains and everyone else does what they need to do

 17  in respect of testing and training?

 18              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Exactly.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Did that have

 20  any impact on the vehicles, doing it that way?  You

 21  know, did it lead to more extensive retrofit work

 22  after they came back to Alstom?

 23              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, because -- yes,

 24  because we had some issues in terms of -- the train

 25  provisionally accepted was no more under the
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 01  management of Alstom.  And so we realize quickly

 02  that doing the dynamic PICO test, Siemens also did

 03  some changes, again, in the interface.  They did

 04  some changes in the static PICO test.

 05              If you remember, the static PICO test

 06  is under the responsibility of Alstom.  So if you

 07  change the static PICO test, what does it mean for

 08  Alstom?  Because we did the static PICO test at a

 09  certain point, so Thales did some modification like

 10  this.

 11              And we -- so we had a lot of issues in

 12  terms of configuration.  We delivered -- we

 13  delivered the train at a certain configuration -

 14  Configuration X, for example - and when we received

 15  back the train, we -- we realized that sometimes

 16  the configuration had changed from Thales, because

 17  it was the main system used by -- used for the

 18  train, and it was -- it was also a subject of

 19  discussion with OLRT because we realized that we

 20  start to change equipment inside the train with --

 21  we start to change some cabling inside their

 22  system, so the configuration changed a lot.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so just during the

 24  evidence that you've just given, I just want to

 25  clarify for the record, you had mentioned Siemens
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 01  at one point, but was that a reference to Thales?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Excuse me, yes.  Excuse

 03  me, yes.  So Thales, sorry.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  No, that's

 05  certainly fine.

 06              And so in making those certain changes

 07  that you just had indicated that Thales made, did

 08  that require Alstom to redo any of the testing that

 09  it had already done previously?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yeah.  Yes, yes, for

 11  sure, yes.  Yeah.  We did, again, some static PICO

 12  test because the configuration changed, so -- and

 13  we did again some of the tests, to be sure that the

 14  system was still working properly.

 15              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So that would have had

 16  a further impact, then, on Alstom's schedule?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Again, impact on

 18  the -- on schedule.  And, again, we sent letters to

 19  OLRTC to inform them officially that, first, for

 20  us, it was not possible to change the configuration

 21  like this, because it's a provisional acceptance.

 22  At a certain point, we'll have to do a final

 23  acceptance.  And to do a final acceptance, we need

 24  to have a clear understanding of the configuration

 25  of -- of the train, in -- configuration and also
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 01  the serial number of each equipment and the

 02  revision of each equipment.

 03              So we sent them a letter for that,

 04  and -- to stop, in fact, to do this change of if

 05  you do some change, inform -- inform us, inform

 06  Alstom.  And the second point was the

 07  (indiscernible), again, yes, because we needed --

 08  we needed more time to redo some of the tests.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so turning back,

 10  then, to something that I believe you touched on

 11  earlier, was Alstom's work delayed in any way by

 12  decisionmaking on the part of the City?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Before I came, it was

 14  linked -- mostly linked to the design.  And when I

 15  was -- when I was here, it was mostly linked to the

 16  radio and, again, the interface.  The interface was

 17  not frozen on the radio, so we -- we start --

 18  again, because we needed to -- to start the

 19  production, so we start with the radio that they

 20  were thinking, at that time, to use.  And finally

 21  they changed their mind, they changed the radio,

 22  and they changed the interfaces of the radio.

 23              And so it's -- it's created, again,

 24  some retrofits because we needed to change the

 25  interface again, the cabling and so on.  And we ask
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 01  for that also variation order to OLRTC.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And did the fact that

 03  Alstom, in this case, didn't have a direct

 04  contractual relationship with the owner as you had

 05  you would have, for example, in the Montreal

 06  project that you were talking about, did that have

 07  an impact on the City's deliverables of these

 08  design decisions that it had to make?

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Well, for me, yes.

 10  Yes.  Clearly.  Because when you have direct

 11  contact, you know the priority, so you will push

 12  your -- you will push your supplier, because you

 13  know that it's a huge impact.  Going through OLRTC,

 14  I don't know, as a contractor for OLRTC with the

 15  City, but I'm pretty sure that we had a lot of

 16  other issues with the City.

 17              And maybe -- and I say "maybe," but

 18  maybe the radio was not a priority for them, and

 19  they prefer at that time -- and this is normal.

 20  I'm not saying that it's not normal.  But in terms

 21  of priority for them, it was maybe more important

 22  to focus on other aspects than focus on the radio,

 23  because for them, their contract delivers a radio,

 24  it's maybe something smaller.  But for us, it was

 25  not -- again, it was an interface, so it was not so
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 01  small.  That's why sometimes it's obvious better

 02  for us to deal directly with the subsupplier,

 03  especially when you have direct impacts like this.

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Because that allows

 05  you to focus the issues on things that you require

 06  as opposed to having to deal with OLRTC as the

 07  integrator trying to manage those requests?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  In fact, they should

 09  have someone focussing on this -- on this subject,

 10  on this integration.

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Oh, OLRTC should have

 12  someone focussed on this question?

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Focussed on this

 14  question, yes.  On these interfaces clearly with

 15  us, yeah.

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And as we talked about

 17  before, you didn't feel that that was there or that

 18  was sufficient?

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, for -- without a

 20  person with enough experience, no, it was not

 21  sufficient.  It was not sufficient because we -- we

 22  were facing to this issue in the end with -- again,

 23  it was a huge -- a huge retrofit on this -- on this

 24  subject.

 25              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So in terms, then,
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 01  of -- of Alstom's scheduling, I know that you had

 02  spoken about the Version 5, V5 schedule that was in

 03  place just prior to your arrival at the project;

 04  correct?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yeah.

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so following your

 07  involvement, were you dealing with OLRTC in respect

 08  of -- of scheduling issues?

 09              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Oh, yes, yes.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And --

 11              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, it was -- it was

 12  one of -- yes, it's part of the activity of the

 13  project director to -- to inform -- to inform the

 14  customer of delays or potential delays, of issues,

 15  how we can mitigate them, and when -- if it's not

 16  possible, to -- to clearly tell them, okay, we have

 17  an issue; here is a re -- is a reschedule, so let's

 18  work together with -- to solve it.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so during your

 20  time on the project, were there schedule disputes?

 21  Were there circumstances where, for example,

 22  refusals to the extensions where the position of

 23  OLRTC or other issues that led to disputes with

 24  respect to scheduling?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Every month.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  I'm sorry?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Every month.  Every

 03  month, they -- they never recognize -- they never

 04  recognized at all that -- the fact that we were

 05  facing some issues.  And, again, some issues linked

 06  to Alstom.  And I will be honest, we -- we were

 07  facing some issues, but we were also facing some

 08  issues with other subsupplier.  So if -- if you do

 09  inventory of all these issues, every month, we -- I

 10  advised them that we had some issues that we

 11  needed -- we needed to have access to the track,

 12  for example; we needed to have a -- to have access

 13  to some parts of the LMB, that we needed some

 14  information, and yes, they always refused to

 15  discuss about any impact or any delays.  So...

 16              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in terms of the

 17  delay, so you had just mentioned that there were

 18  some issues with some of your sub-subsuppliers.  I

 19  take it that there were delays in obtaining parts

 20  and materials and things of that nature?

 21              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yeah.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So those -- those

 23  would have been delays that were Alstom's

 24  responsibility, then; right?

 25              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes, yeah.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And then you're

 02  also telling me that, through everything you were

 03  telling me today, you were also facing delays that

 04  Alstom believed were the responsibility of OLRTC?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.

 06              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And that in dealing

 07  with OLRTC and these ongoing scheduling

 08  discussions, you were never granted any further

 09  extensions beyond that finalized V5 schedule?

 10              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, I -- I -- I suggest

 11  them of -- I don't remember, V7, V9 schedule, but

 12  based on the reality of -- on -- of the project,

 13  and the reality is delays from Alstom and delays

 14  from OLRTC or Thales or -- or the other one.

 15              We were -- I did -- we did what we are

 16  supposed to do, so to explain to our customer, This

 17  is the situation of the project; this is where we

 18  can mitigate; this is what we can do, and sometimes

 19  this is where we will not be able to -- to

 20  mitigate.  So at the end, we will have X weeks,

 21  months of delay.

 22              So this is what we did every month with

 23  them.  Sometimes dedicated meeting -- I requested a

 24  dedicating meeting on the schedule with them to

 25  inform them of the situation and to also -- to also
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 01  receive from them -- try to receive from them also

 02  the reality of the infrastructure, because you

 03  cannot have 32 trains in March of 2018 if the

 04  infrastructure is not here, so it make no sense.

 05              So that's why you need this

 06  collaboration.  You need this discussion.  Of

 07  course you will have some contractual --

 08  contractual dispute, okay, at a certain point, but

 09  at least you need to have this transparency and

 10  collaboration when -- with your suppliers, you need

 11  to clearly indicate all the input of the equation

 12  if you -- if you want to have something realistic.

 13  Otherwise, you will continue to push the date,

 14  saying, okay, you need to keep that date, but if

 15  you cannot -- if your supplier is not able to reach

 16  these dates, it makes no sense.  And at a

 17  certain -- at a certain point, we arrived at this

 18  contradiction with them.

 19              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Sorry, a contradiction

 20  in when you were talking about delayed

 21  infrastructure?

 22              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Contradiction, yes.

 23  Contradiction where we knew that the infrastructure

 24  was not here, it was not ready, and the fact that

 25  they still wanted to -- to have all the 32
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 01  trains -- I don't remember.  I think it was in

 02  February or March 2018, around these dates.  Around

 03  the original -- the V5 schedule.  So...

 04              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And was there a

 05  certain point, then, when Alstom would have come to

 06  understand that the original revenue service

 07  availability date of May of 2018 wouldn't be met?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  Yes.

 09              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And how did that

 10  factor into the discussions with OLRTC on

 11  scheduling?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It was -- it was a

 13  start for us.  It's -- we are -- we are -- in the

 14  industry, we know the business, so we know -- we

 15  know what is needed to make infrastructure, to make

 16  a system, train operational.  So at a certain

 17  point, we tried -- it's -- it was our customer

 18  also, so you cannot -- you cannot go like this in

 19  front of them, but we tried to make them realize

 20  that we knew -- we knew the reality of the

 21  situation.

 22              ANTHONY IMBESI:  During your time on

 23  the project, did you or anyone at Alstom have any

 24  knowledge about any scheduling extensions that were

 25  granted to Thales?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  To Thales, no, no, no.

 02              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So I'd just like to

 03  turn back to speaking about the MSF, the

 04  maintenance and storage facility in particular.

 05  Leaving aside the issues with access that we'd

 06  already talked about, how did you view the

 07  suitability of the MSF for the assembly of LRVs?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Suitability, you mean

 09  effective -- the -- the fact that it was well --

 10  well-built for -- for that?

 11              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Well, I guess what I'm

 12  driving at is, so leaving aside all the issues with

 13  the fact that you didn't have access to certain

 14  areas that you say were necessary, was it a

 15  suitable place to be assembling LRVs, and how does

 16  it compare to Alstom's other facilities?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no, no, it was --

 18  honestly, I was impressed when I arrived in

 19  September to -- of this facility.  It -- it was --

 20  I don't like to use this terminology, but it's --

 21  because it's a software terminology, the agility,

 22  but it was very well think [sic] in terms of flow,

 23  in terms of production.

 24              With -- with the time, with my

 25  industrial manager, we -- the flow of production
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 01  was good except to do the water test, we needed to

 02  go outside the production line and to go back.

 03  Because the water test was outside the production

 04  line, so it was -- it was a way of thinking of

 05  improvement for future -- a future contract, for

 06  example, to rethink the localization of the water

 07  bay, the water test in the production line.

 08              Otherwise, it's -- honestly, it's a --

 09  it's a very good -- very good footprint.  It's --

 10  everything is -- is well organized, and it's

 11  sufficient.  So...

 12              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.

 13              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Except this improvement

 14  that -- I don't know what they did with the new

 15  contract, but yes, it was something that we were

 16  thinking.

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Was there sufficient

 18  space or capacity at the MSF to perform both the

 19  retrofit work and the serial production?

 20              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, no, no, no.

 21  It's -- in terms of -- in terms of flow of

 22  production, it was good.  If you have to add -- if

 23  you have to add a retrofit line, it was -- it was

 24  not fit to have -- to have the retrofit line.  So

 25  yes, it was -- it was very -- it was very difficult
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 01  to find -- to find a place to be able to do

 02  retrofit.  That's why we ask OLRTC to use the

 03  storage bay outside to effectively park some of the

 04  trains here, to be able to do some retrofit.

 05              So we received the authorization of

 06  OLRTC to use one or two line - I don't remember -

 07  and went -- a scaffold, we put some infrastructure

 08  outside, to be able to do the retrofit outside --

 09  outside the production line inside.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so with the MSF

 11  and the project being in Ottawa, did Alstom have

 12  any staffing challenges?  Was it difficult to -- to

 13  obtain the sufficient number of employees or

 14  sufficient number of qualified employees for the

 15  project?

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, we had -- we had

 17  people coming from different -- different sites all

 18  over the world in terms of expertise.  And locally,

 19  we -- we were -- we worked with a company -- I

 20  don't remember the name of this company, but this

 21  company was able to provide us -- we had a contract

 22  with them, and they were able to provide manpower

 23  to us in terms of production, in terms of quality

 24  and testing.  So no, it -- it has never been an

 25  issue in terms of staffing.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And in terms of the

 02  Canadian content requirements or the vehicles which

 03  you touched on at the start of the interview today,

 04  did those requirements pose any challenges to

 05  Alstom?

 06              ARNAUD LACAZE:  It's at -- yes.  It's

 07  mainly -- I would say mainly at the beginning,

 08  mainly, I guess, before I came on this project

 09  because, at that time, you were -- it was mandatory

 10  to build -- to build our supply chain and to build

 11  our new supplier, but we had a -- we had a team, a

 12  sourcing team and an industrial team to build -- to

 13  build -- to build this local frame with us, so...

 14              ANTHONY IMBESI:  So did you feel that

 15  those --

 16              ARNAUD LACAZE:  When I was here, it was

 17  not something -- it was behind me.  It was most --

 18  during my time, it was most -- some production

 19  issues, but it's -- I would say it's normal.  It's

 20  normal.  Normal that -- it's not because the

 21  company was in Canada, if you understand what I

 22  mean.  It's -- it was more -- it was more a

 23  production issue of maybe some of the supplier.

 24  The way -- the fact to develop a local supplier, it

 25  was -- it was before me.
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 01              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So you didn't

 02  see any real impacts, then, on the project as a

 03  result of the Canadian content requirement?

 04              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, because -- when I

 05  arrived, the footprint was already here, so all the

 06  supplier was -- were already identified, and -- and

 07  they -- they started the production when I arrived.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so when you left

 09  the -- the project, then, in or around October of

 10  2018, what was the status of the retrofit campaign

 11  that was ongoing?

 12              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The retrofit, like, was

 13  ongoing.  We -- I remember, at that time, we had --

 14  we had a daily standup meeting with OLRTC, Thales,

 15  everybody.  We have -- every day at 4, we had some

 16  standup meeting to explain the situation, but also

 17  to explain the -- the global situation of the

 18  project.

 19              And after that, we had weekly detailed

 20  meeting in terms of schedule with OLRTC.  So we

 21  developed effectively -- train by train, we

 22  developed all of the retrofit activities to be

 23  performed with a detailed schedule, and we

 24  follow -- we follow that on a regular basis with

 25  OLRTC.  And then we had an agreement in terms of
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 01  time frame, in terms of implementation, and in

 02  terms of priority.

 03              Because, once again, the train was --

 04  most of the train were already provisionally

 05  accepted, and so these trains were used by Thales

 06  or they were used by the City, so we had a schedule

 07  with OLRTC, saying, Okay, we can use this train, I

 08  don't know, 2 days this week to do the retrofit.

 09  So we planned everything like this.

 10              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so in terms of the

 11  agreement that you just mentioned for the timeline

 12  and the priority to perform some of this work, at

 13  the time that you left, was Alstom on schedule as

 14  agreed upon?

 15              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Honestly, I think so,

 16  yes.  I -- I didn't -- I didn't remember a big new

 17  negotiation on this one.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And --

 19              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Honestly, I don't

 20  remember.  I remember that we -- we set some

 21  priorities; we set the schedule.  I don't -- I

 22  don't remember any big issues.

 23              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And then in terms of

 24  the testing and commissioning of the system overall

 25  and the LRVs, what was the status of that when you
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 01  left in October of 2018?

 02              ARNAUD LACAZE:  For me, it was -- we

 03  say just the beginning because when I left, I think

 04  we had access just a couple of months or weeks

 05  before to the full main line, to the full line.  So

 06  yes, during -- during my period, we were able to do

 07  some tests on the 2 kilometres of tracks.  We were

 08  able, step by step, to have access to the tunnel,

 09  for example.

 10              But, really, I think when I left it was

 11  only the beginning of the test on the full line,

 12  with the full Thales system operational, with the

 13  full system operational in terms of catenary, in

 14  terms of radios, so it was really the beginning

 15  of -- I would say the full integrated system at

 16  that time.  So...

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  So by October

 18  '18, then, the full integration of everything

 19  coming together on the full line, that was sort of

 20  just beginning?

 21              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  From my point of

 22  view, it was really the beginning.  Before that, it

 23  was some sporadic validation -- again, I'm talking

 24  here -- I'm not talking anymore about the rolling

 25  stock alone.  I'm talking about the full system,
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 01  rolling stock and everything around the rolling

 02  stock.

 03              Before that, we were able to do some

 04  touch point, but yes, at -- from what I remember,

 05  at that time, in fall 2018, it was really the

 06  beginning of, okay, let's validate now the full

 07  system.

 08              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  And so as part

 09  of the Commission's mandate, we are tasked with

 10  investigating the commercial and technical

 11  circumstances that led to the breakdowns and

 12  derailments that ultimately occurred on the system.

 13              Besides everything that we've gone over

 14  today, is there anything else that you feel we

 15  haven't touched upon that's relevant to that

 16  mandate?

 17              ARNAUD LACAZE:  No, I think -- I think

 18  I've -- I think we spoke about everything I did

 19  during my mandate at that time, yeah.

 20              ANTHONY IMBESI:  And so also as part of

 21  the Commissioner's role, he's tasked with making

 22  recommendations in furtherance of that mandate.  Is

 23  there anything that comes to mind in terms of

 24  recommendations that you would propose in terms of

 25  addressing these types of situations?
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 01              ARNAUD LACAZE:  The derailment, you

 02  mean, or?

 03              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Yeah, the

 04  circumstances that led to the breakdowns and

 05  derailments.  Is there anything that comes to mind

 06  in terms of recommendations on how to change things

 07  or to do anything going forward?

 08              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Honestly, no.  I

 09  don't -- I -- and honestly, I don't know this --

 10  this subject.  I'm not -- I'm not living in Ottawa,

 11  so...  I cannot -- I cannot speak about that or

 12  give any recommendation on this subject, honestly.

 13              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Thank you.

 14              Ms. Boghasian, did you have any

 15  follow-up questions for -- for Mr. Lacaze?

 16              TARA BOGHOSIAN:  I don't.

 17              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Mr. Valo, did

 18  you have any questions for Mr. Lacaze?

 19              MICHAEL VALO:  I have just one -- one

 20  question, if I could.

 21              Mr. Lacaze, you were explaining earlier

 22  to Mr. Imbesi the consequences of changes to, for

 23  example, the P25 radio or Thales changes that

 24  required -- I think you had said an addition of a

 25  cable or changes to cabling in the vehicles.  I'm
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 01  wondering if you could just explain, for the

 02  record, what that involves.  What's the work

 03  involved, the extent of the work involved in making

 04  a change to the cabling in the cars?

 05              ARNAUD LACAZE:  Yes.  In fact, when you

 06  have these kind of -- of changes, you need to --

 07  first, to bring, again, your technical team to

 08  rethink -- to see, effectively, what Thales's new

 09  interface is.  So the technical team need to

 10  reestablish, to rethink about the interfaces, to

 11  understand, effectively, what are the new

 12  interfaces first.

 13              Following that -- so we need to have an

 14  agreement with the subsupplier about these new

 15  interfaces, freeze these new interfaces, and

 16  following that go back to the industrial team and

 17  to the production team to clearly understand how

 18  these changes would be able to be implemented in

 19  terms of production and in terms of the sequence in

 20  the production.

 21              So you would understand that it's --

 22  it's like a new product, in fact, that you have to

 23  restart.  You have to -- you have to redo this V

 24  cycle that I was explaining at the beginning.  You

 25  need to redo the design, the implementation of this
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 01  design, and revalidate this design.  So you need to

 02  redo this V cycle.

 03              And when it's at the beginning of the

 04  project, we do understand that, okay, it's not a

 05  big deal, but when you have a production line, we

 06  have everybody focussing on the suppliers, the

 07  production, and so on, it's a huge impact.

 08              If you need to add some cable, for

 09  example, it means you need to add some connectors,

 10  so you have to change your bill of material.  You

 11  have to reestablish a new purchase order.  You have

 12  to find some supplier.  So it's a huge -- it's

 13  huge, huge new project or new tasks that you have

 14  to do, or to redo most of the time.

 15              MICHAEL VALO:  Okay.  Thank you,

 16  Mr. Lacaze.  I appreciate that.  No other

 17  questions.

 18              ANTHONY IMBESI:  Okay.  Thank you,

 19  Mr. Lacaze.  We can go off record.

 20  -- Concluded at 4:40 p.m.

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  
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